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DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
RESIDENTIAL AND COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
NOTICE OF FUNDING AVAILABILITY 

NEIGHBORHOOD-BASED ACTIVITIES: 
Comprehensive Housing Counseling Services 

Community Development Block Grant 

The Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD) is soliciting applications 
under the federal Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program for Conlprehensive 
Housing Counseling Services in designated neighborhoods of the District. Funding under this 
notice will be available for FY 2005 (October 1,2004, to September 30,2005), consistent with 
the Department's Consolidated Plan FY 2005 Action Plan, submission to the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 

The general scope of activities to be funded will be described in the Request for Applications. 

The Request for Applications (RFA) will be released on or before May 21,2004, and 
deadline for submission is June 22,2004, at 4:00 p.m. Applications can be obtained from 801 
North Capitol Street, NE, 6" Floor Reception Desk, Washington, DC 20002. For additional 
information, please contact the Department of Housing and Community Development, 
Residential and Community Services Division at (202) 442-7161. The RFA will be available 
from the DHCD website, located at www.dhcd.dc.gov, on or about May 28, 2004. 

A Pre-A~~lication Conference will be held at the Department of Housing and Community 
Development on June 2,2004, at 10:OO a.m., 801 N. Capitol Street, NE, 9th Floor. Attendance at 
the conference is encouraged for all potential applicants. 
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Two Rivers Public Charter School 
Temporary Administrative Office 

622 6th Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20002 
Phone: 202-546-4477 

Fax: 408-790-0496 

NOTICE: REQUEST FOR PROVIDING FOOD PREPARATION SERVICES 

Two kvers  Public Charter School, in accordance with section 2204(c)(IX) (A) of the District of Columbia 
School Reform Act of 1995, hereby solicits proposals to provide meals for breakfast (approximately 88 
elementary school students) and lunch (approximately 165 elementary school students). The meals must 
meet or exceed federal nutrition requirements and all compliance standards of the USDA School Breakfast 
Program and the National School Lunch Program (NSLP). Vendors will be required to deliver meals to the 
scl~ool at 1150 5th Street, SE, Washington, DC 20003. 

Interested bidders will state their credentials, provide appropriate licenses and sample menus made in 
accordance with federal nutritional and serving requirements. All proposals must include a cost estimate. 

Additional information can be obtained by calling 202-234-7796 or e-mailing wendy@,~oldstarnetwork.org 
and referencing Food Services. Full proposals are due at the above address by Friday, May 2gth, 2004 at 5 
PM. 

NOTICE: REQUEST FOR PROVIDNG CLEANING SERVICES 

Two Rivers Public Charter School, in accordance with section 2204(c)(XX)(A) of the District of Columbia 
School Reform Act of 1995 hereby solicits proposals to provide janitorial services, including minor rcpiiirs, 
for its facility located at 1150 5th Street, SE, Washington, DC 20003. Performance of services includes 
maintaining a neat, clean work environment for staff and students. Additional information can be obtained 
by calling 202-234-7796 or e-rnailing wendv~,~oldstarnehvork.org and referencing Janitorial Services. Full 
proposals are due at the above address or via the above fax number by Friday, May 28', 2004 at 5 PM. 

NOTICE: REQUST FOR BUSINESS SERVICES 

Two Rivers Public Charter School; in accordance with section 2204(c)(IX)(A) of the District of Columbia 
School Reform Act of 1995 hereby solicits proposals to provide business services in the areas of book 
keeping, accounting, budgeting, and internal financial control. Additional information can be obtained by 
calling 202-234-7796 or e-mailing wendv@,~oldstarnetwork.org and referencing Business Services. Full 
proposals are due at the above address or via flle above fax number by Friday, May 2gth, 2004 at 5 PM. 

NOTICE: REQUEST FOR FURNITURE PURCHASE 

Two Rivers Public Charter School, in accordance with section 2204(c)(IX)(A) of the District of Columbia 
School Reform Act of 1995 hereby solicits proposals for the purchase of school and office furfuture. 
Additional information can be obtained by calling 202-234-7796 or e-nlailing wendv~,~oldstarnetwork.org 
and referencing Furniture. Full proposals are due at the above address or via the above fax number by 
Friday, May 28&, 2004 at 5 PM. 
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NOTICE: REQUST FOR BUSINESS INSURANCE 

Two Rivers Public Charter School, in accordance with section 2204(c)(IX)(A) of the District of Columbia 
School Reform Act of 1995 hereby solicits proposals to provide business insurance. Additional information 
can be obtained by calling 202-234-7796 or e-mailing wend~@,ir,goldstarnetwork.org and referencing 
Insurance. Full proposals are due at the above address or via the above fax number by Friday, May 28", 
2004 at 5 PM. 
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OFFICE OF DOCUMENTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE ISSUANCES 
PUBLICATIONS PRICE LIST 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA MUNICIPAL REGULATIONS (DCMR) 

TITLE SUBJECT PRICE 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 DCMR MAYOR AND EXECUTIVE AGENCIES (JUNE 200 1) $16.00 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 DCMR ELECTIONS & ETHICS (JUNE 1998) $20.00 

4 DCMR HIJMAN RIGHTS (MARCH 1995) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $13 . 00 
5 DCMR BOARD OF EDUCATION (JUNE 1997) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  A DCMR POLICE PERSONNEL (MAY 1988) $8.00 
7 DCMR EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (JANUARY 1986) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $8.00 

. . . . . . . . . . . . .  8 DCMR UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRLCT OF COLUMBLA (J-UNE 1988) $8.00 
9 DCMR TAXATION & ASSESSMENTS (AFRJL 1998) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 

. . . . . . . .  10 DCMR DISTRICT'S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (PART 1, FEBRUARY 1999) $33.00 
10 DCMR PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT (PART 2, MARCH 1994) 

w/1996SUPPLEMENT* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 
1 1 DCMR ZONING (FEBRUARY 2003) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $35 . 00 
12 DCMR CONSTRUCTION CODES SUPPLEMENT (2003) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $25.00 
13 DCMR ELECTRICAL & MECHANICAL CODE (MARCH 1987) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $10.00 
13B DCMR BOILEK & PRESSURE VESSEL CODE (MAY 1984) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $7.00 
14 DCMR HOUSING (JULY 1991) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
15 DCMR PUBLICUTILITIES&CABLETELEVISION(.KJNE1998) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
16 DCMR CONSUMERS, COMMERCIAL PRACTICES & crva  FRACTIONS 

(JULY 1998) WDECEMBER 1998 SUPPLEMENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
17 DCMR BUSINESS, OCCUPATIONS & PROFESSIONS (MAY 1990) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 
18 DCMR VEHICLES & TRAFFIC (APlUL 1995) ~ 1 1 9 9 7  SUPPLEMENT* . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 
19 DCMR AMUSEMENTS, PARKS & RECREATION (JUNE 200 1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 
20 DCMR ENVIRONMENT - C W T E R S  1-39 (FEBRUARY 1997) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
20 DCMR ENVIRONMENT - CHAPTERS 40-70 (FEBRUARY 1997) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 
21 DCMR WATER & SANITATION (FEBRUARY 1998) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
22 DCMR PUBLIC HEALTH & MEDICINE (AUGUST 1986) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $26.00 
22 DCMK HEAJ.,TH CARE & COMhIUNITY RESIDENCE FACILITIES 

SUPPLEMENT (AUGUST 1986 - FEBRUARY 1995) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $13.00 
23 DCMR ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AND FOOD (JUNE 1997) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
24 DCMR PUBLIC SPACE & SAFETY (DECEMBER 1996) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
25 DCMR FOOD AND FOOD OPERATIONS (AUGUST 2003) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
26 DCMR INSURANCE (FEBRUARY 1985) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $9.00 
27 DCMR CONTRACTS AND PROCUREMENT (JULY 1988) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $22.00 
28 DCMR CORRECTIONS, COURTS & CRIMINAL JUSTICE W A Y  1987) . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
29 DCMR PUBLIC WELFA.RE (MAY 1987) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $8.00 
30 DCMR LOTTERY AND CHAFWABLE GAMES (MARCH 1997) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $20.00 
31 DCMR TAXICABS & PUBLIC VEHICLES FOR HIRE (DECEMBER 1998) . . . . . . . . .  $16.00 
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OTJ3ER PUBLICATIONS 
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1994 - 1996 Indices . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $52.00 + $5.50 postage 
1997 - 1998 Indices . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $52.00 + $5.50 postage 
Complete Set of D.C. Municipal Regulations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $627.00 
D.C. Register yearly subscription . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $195.00 
Rulemaking Handbook & Publications Style Manual (1983) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $5.00 
*Supplements to D.C. Municipal Regulations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $4.00 

MAIL ORDERS: Send exact amount in check or money order made payable to the D.C. Treasurer. Specify 
title and subject. Send to: D.C. Office ofDocuments and Administrative Issuances, Room 520, One Judiciary 
Square, 441 - 4th St., N.W., Washington, D.C. 20001. Phone: 727-5090 

OVER THE COUNTER SALES: Come to Rrn. 520, One Judiciary Sq., Bring cash, chcck or money order. 

All sales final. A charge of $65.00 will be added for any dishonored check (D,C. Law 4-16) 
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I DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

I INTRODUCTION 

The District of Columbia Board of Appeals and Review was created in 1955 by 
Executive Order 1-12 of the Board of Commissioners in order to provide appellate 
review, and in certain circumstances to act as a trial court, for a variety of municipal 
administrative law matters. Its organization and jurisdiction has been amended several 
times 

Executive Order 96-27, dated March 5, 1996, stands as the current authorization. 
Members of the Board are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the City Council. 
The authorized composition of the Board consists of 16 members: five legal members 
who preside at hearings and normally draft decisions, six members from the public sector 
and five employees of the D.C. government grade 13 or higher. Members serve without 
compensation. 

The Board's jurisdiction extends to appellate review of final decisions by administrative 
law judges in contested cases arising under the Civil Infractions Act of 1985 and under 
the District's littering laws. The addition of civil infraction penalties in the District has 
been motivated by the need to find alternative approaches to enforcing laws and 
regulations other than filing criminal charges and prosecuting law violators. Financial 
penalties can be quick, direct and effective. Littering laws are designed to promote the 
health and safety of District residents, visitors and those who have business in the city. 

The Board also has appellate jurisdiction of final administrative agency decisions in 
certain building permit cases. Additionally, the Board has jurisdiction of appeals of 
decisions awarding or denying certificates of need, which are required before any new 
institutional health service in the District may be provided. The Board is authorized to 
take evidence in building permit and certificate of need cases. 

Finally, the Board's jurisdiction extends to (I) appeals filed by persons denied security 
guard and detective licenses by the Metropolitan Police Department; and (2) appeals by 
health care providers who seek reimbursement of expenditures for services provided 
under the District's Medicaid program under contracts with the D.C. Department of 
Health. These two types of cases necessitate fact-finding hearings complying with the 
provisions of the D.C. Administrative Procedures Act. 

The Board is scheduled to cease operations on March 22,2004 when its jurisdiction will 
be transferred to the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH), D.C. Code 4 2-1 83 1.0 1, 
et seq. Its decision will be maintained by O m .  

David H. Marlin, Board Chairperson 
Phyllis D. Thompson, Vice Chairperson 
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SELECTED DECISIONS 

Board decisions provide the most recent interpretations of District statutes and 
regulations in matters within the Board's jurisdiction. We have included decisions which 
contain sigmficant rulings on recurring issues, decisions in which the Board has ruled on 
matters of first impression and decisions where there is broad public interest in the 
subject matter. 

All the Board's decisions at least from January 2000 to March 22,2004 have been 
separated by jurisdictional issue and placed in notebooks. They are available for review 
in the offices of OAH. 

CIVIL INFRACTIONS 

Case Caption DocketNo. 

Thornell K Page II 00-5591-CI 01-30-01 
(substantial evidence test requires presentation of government records to verify 
infraction) 

1336 14th Street, NW LLC 01-571 1-CI 04-16-01 
(owners of commercial property jointly liable with tenant for failure to 
secure building permit) 

James G. Davis Construction Corp. 00-5456-CI 05-31-01 
(Federal asbestos regulations incorporated into District law) 

Providence Hospital 00-5613-CI 06-25-01 
(hospital cafeteria must be licensed by District) 

Victor and Eleanor Gaetan 00-552941 09-19-01 
(testimonial evidence may satisfy burden of proof that construction 
exceeded building permit) 

David Gilmore, Receiver, D.C. Housing Authority 99-5329-CI 11-07-01 
(public housing must be in compliance nria fire regulations) 
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Avis Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc. 99-5420-CI 01-08-02 
(car rental agencies must be licensed to dispense gasoline) 

James Taylor Trash Removal Contractors, Inc. 01-5656-CI 01-22-02 
(recycling operation must be licensed under Solid Waste Facility Permit Act) 

Gold Line, Inc. 01-5676-CI 02-06-02 
(Federal law does not preempt District engine idling standards) 

L&M Contracting, Iac. 01-5702-CI 04-03-02 
(purpose of business solicitation law is to protect prospective consumers from 
fraud and misrepresentation) 

Waste Management of Maryland, Iac. 99-5374-CI 06-28-02 
(detection of air pollution not solely dependent on use of scientific equipment) 

LITTERING 

The Fund for Public Interest Research 99-5407-LC 05-10100 
(non-profit groups recruiting summer workers must comply with sign-posting 
regulations) 

Dorothy Barksdale 99-5390-LC 03-07-01 
(government must prove identify of litterer by substantial evidence) 

William Grote 00-5459-LC 11-08-01 
(trash receptacles must meet requirements of size, weight, composition, strength 
and be capable of being properly secured) 

Farokh Puladian 03-5976-LC 05-0503 
(District policy of strict liability for littering violations that create a nuisance or 
fire hazard remove obligation to provide a warning or opportunity to abate) 

Roger Gerstenfeld 03-5924-LC 06-05-03 
(service of Notice of Violation is valid if sent to name and mailing address as 
listed on District's tax role) 

Paul Strauss 03-5975-LC 10-28-03 
(improper posting of campaign signs by campaign committee may be imputed to 
the candidate) 

919 E Street Associates 03-5941-LC 10-29-03 
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(owner of leased property jointly liable with lessee for storing and containerizing 
solid waste that would be a breeding ground for insects and rodents) 

David Altermaa 03-6030-LC 1.1-07-03 
(lien on property for unpaid fines is not valid against a bona fide purchaser at tax 
sale unless lien had been filed with Recorder of Deeds) 

International A.N.S.W.E,R 02-5859-LC 03-08-04 
(organization distributing signs may be held liable for posting by implied 
authority) 

James Bubar 02-5892-LC 03-10-04 
(finding of improper site protection for excavation of drivewaylsidewalk 

not supported by substantial evidence) 

BUILDING PERMITS 

J.C. & Associates 98-5456-BP 01-3&99 
(denial of a raze permit because structure covered by Historic Landmark and 
Historic District Protection Act was not "imminently dangerous") 

J. Brendan Herron, Jr. 02-5863-BP 05-22-03 
(challenge to issuance of raze and construction permits may not trigger 
evidentiary hearing absent need to establish material facts; discussion of 
Construction Code requirements; need for environmental impact statement; and 
ANC status) 

Laura Elkins, et ux. 03-5961-BP 07-09-03 
(requirements for issuing valid stop work order) 

Nebraska Avenue Neighborhood Asso. 02-5872-BP 12-30-03 
(time to appeal issuance of building permits may not be extended because of later 
claims that construction is unlawful or poses safety risks) 

CERTIFICATES OF NEED 

Bio Medical Applications of D.C. 01-5609-CON 11-30-01 
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(determination of need for new out-patient hemodialysis facility not bound by 
District Comprehensive Health Plan) 

Columbia Hospital for Women 01-5725-CON 03-14-03 
(appeal is moot because hospital closed; discussion of citywide needs for new 
services and effect on institutional competition) 

Good Hope Institute 02-5783-CON 12-23-03 
(approval of freestanding outpatient methadone treatment facility affmed based 
on need, accessibility and financial feasibility despite community opposition) 

PROVIDER AGREEMENTS 

Brice Warren Corporation, Inc. et al. 98-5358-PA 08-15-01 
(contract of provider of services for mentally retarded may be cancelled for cause) 

MEDICAID REIMBURSEMENT 

Children's National Medical Center 95-51 13-NPR 04-05-01 
(reimbursement for inpatient hospital services must be based on correct date for 
calculating disproportionate share payment) 

WNDING LICENSES 

In the Matter of Xin X. Zhu 99-5394-LR 05-14-99 
(vending license may be revoked for selling counterfeit goods) 

SECURXTY GUARD LICENSING 
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Since 2000, the board has scheduled more than 300 appeals filed by persons who applied 
to the Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) for security guard and detective licenses 
and whose appIications were denied. Most denials either were for "material 
misstatements" on the application, i.e., that the applicant's arrest record was not 
accurately disclosed, or that the applicant lacked good moral character. The Board has 
reversed and remanded nearly 60 MPD decisions just in 2003 on various grounds, chiefly 
because the administrative decisions by the Security Oficers Management Branch were 
arbitrary, failed to follow MPD regulations or failed to conform to the guidelines 
established in BAR decisions. 

Amlicant Bar Docket Decision 

Willie Reeves 01-5704-LR 06-13-00 
("material misstatement" on application although only arrest was in 1964 during 
civil rights demonstration in Mississippi) 

Walter S. Leach 00-5556-LR 12-24-00 
(MPD entitled to substantial discretion in determining whether license should 
issue but policy of automatically disqualifying any applicant with multiple arrests 
on grounds of lacking" moral character" not permitted) 

Deangela Batie 01-5741-LR 08-03-01 
(material misstatement defined to exclude charges more than 10-years old) 

Travis Wood 01-5765-LR 10-26-01 
(test of materiality is whether information withheld would reasonably have 
influenced decision or reflect on honesty or integrity of applicant) 

Kimberly N. Shuford 02-5766-LR 12-19-01 
(conviction for misdemeanor assault not an absolute bar to licensing if applicant 
demonstrates not a significant safety risk to community) 

Keith Davis 02-5771-LR 12-20-01 
(MPD may not deny license based on internal policies never promulgated publicly 
in rules or regulations) 

MacDonald Parsons 02-5768-LR 12-20-01 
(failure to list arrest by immigration authorities no bar to licenswe when asylum 
granted) 

Daren Antonio Dorsey 02-5770-LR 01-23-02 
(mitigating factors listed for waiver of six-month waiting period to reapply) 

Omar A. Omar 02-5789-LR 02-25-02 
(detention by INS of immigrant seeking asylum need not be listed as arrest an 
application nor serve as a basis of denial) 



James D. Hunt 02-5832-LR 05-29-02 
(charges based on domestic disputes require special consideration) 

William Barnes 03-6008-LR 05-06-03 
(MIPD must supply applicant with official record of criminal charges in certain 
circumstances) 

Reginald Jackson 03-5854-LR 02-1.9-03 
(MPD must consider employment experience, character references, military 
records and other relevant information when determining "moral character") 

Gary L. Alston 03-6054-LR 0&01-03 
(evidence of rehabilitation of applicant relevant to determining "moral character") 

Yolaada Clark 03-6071-LR 10-29-03 
(MPD must inform applicant if it will not check character references so that 
applicant may solicit letters) 

Latasha M. Diggs 04-6136-LR 02-06-04 
("probation before judgment" is not a conviction that can be grounds for license 
denial) 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND JWVIEW 

DAVID GILMORE, Receiver, 1 
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA HOUSING ) 
AUTHORITY, 1 

) 
Appellant, 1 

1 
) . BAR Docket No. 99-5329-CI 

v. ) 

1 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND ) 
REGULATORY AFFAIRS, 1 

1 
Appellee ) 

1)ECISION AND ORnER 

Appellant District of Columbia Housing Authority ("DCHA") appeals 
from a. May 12, 1998 decision and order of the Department of Consumer and Regulatory 
Affairs ("DCRA") Office of Adjudication ("OAD"), finding that DCWA failed to 
maintai.n an operable fire protection. system in four public housing conzplexes on dates 
cited i.n Fire Department Notices of Infraction ("NOIS"), an.d upholding fines totaling 
$1 1,700. OAD hdin.inistralive Law Judge ("ALJ") Lennox Simon issued the decision 
and order after an administrative hearing conducted on March 30- April 1, 1998. 

Oral argument in this matter was held before a panel of the Board, 
Antoinette Barksdale and James Thorne, om July 20,2000: Leslie Jackson, Esq., a1d;ued 
th.e ca.se for appellant DCHA. Arthur Parker, Esq., of the Office of Corporation Counsel, 
argued the case for appellee DCRA. 

The Hoa.rd, members origimlly assigned to this case are unavailable to 
render a decision. In accord.ancc with the Administrative Procedure Act, the panel 
identified at the end of this Decision and Order has reviewed the record, including notices 
of infraction issued to DCHA., hearing transcripts and exhibits, briefs of' both parties, and 
the transcript of oral argument. The Board now rules as follows. 
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Whether the OAD Order must be reversed because the OAD was 
predisposed to rule aminst DCHA: DCHA argues that the OAD order should be 
reversed because ALJ Simon was predisposed to rule against DCHA. DCHA cites a 
December 29, 1997 letter sent by DCRA Director W. David Watts to'the Honorable 
Judge Stephen Graae of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, in which Director 
Watts advised Judge Graae that the D.C. Fire Marshal had issued several NOIs to the 
receiver of DCHA for failure to maintain fire protection equipment at various public 
housing locations and that "DCRA believes that no abatement of these violations has 
occmred and that serious violations of the Fire Prevention Code continue to exist at these 
various public housing locations."' Director Watts stated that DCRA sought Judge 
Graae's guidance in "resolving these and any future violations of the Fire Prevention 
Code by DCHA" and advised Judge Graee that if he had any questions, he could contact 
Director Watts or OAD Chief ALJ Belva Newsome. 

111 a written motion submitted to the OAD prior to the administrative 
hearing, DCHA argued that Director Watts' letter showed that the OAD was biased 
against and would be predisposed to rule against DCHA and should therefore recuse 
itself from hearing the case. Chief ALJ Newsome denied DCI-{A's written tnotiion, and 
ALJ Simon subsequently denied DCHA's oral motion for reconsideration. DCHA now 
renews its argument and. further contends that ALJ Simon's conduct of the administrative 
hearing d.ernonstrated Ids personal bias against DCHA. 

The Board finds no basis to conclude that the OAD or ALJ Simon wa.s 
biased against DCHA. As to DCI-IA's complaint about DCRA performing both 
enforcement and adjudicatory functions, the Board notes that the U S .  Supreme Court has 
repeatedly rejected claims that the combination of enforcement and adjudicative 
functions in the same agency creates a risk of bias or prejudgment that violates the 
guarantee of due process. See Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 47-41) (1975), and cases 
cited therein. The Supreme Court has so ruled even in cases where the same individuals 
within an agency werc involved in investigating and reporting akgedly illegal conduct 
and in adjudicating the legality of the conduct. See FTC v. Cement Inslitute, 333 U.S. 
683 (1948) (noting that the respondents in an FTC hearing were free to point out by 
testimony, cross-examination and arguments why their business activities were legal). 
The Supreme Court recognized that invalidating the combination of enforcement and 
adjudicatory functions, which is found in many goverixnent agencies, "would bring 
down too many procedu.res designed, and working well, for a governmental structure of 
great and growing complexity." Richardson v. Perales, 402 U.S. 389, 410 (1971). Like 
the Suprenzc Court, this Board callnot coilclude "that the mere fact that a tribunal has had 
contact with a particular factual complex in a prior hearing, or indeed has taken a public 
position on the facts, is enough lo place that tribunal under a constitutional inhibition to 

' Judge Graae oversaw the receitrership for DCHA as a result of his judgment in Pearson 
v. Kelly, 92-CA-14030 (Sup. Ct. D.C., May 19, 1995)' which charged the receiver with 
administering the District's public housing authority so as to provide housing in 
compliance with applicable housing codes and laws. 
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pass upon the facts in a subsequent hearing." Withrow, 421 U.S. at 50, quoting Pangburn 
v. CAB, 3 11 F.2d 349, 358 (1st Cir. 1962). 

P 

The Supreme Court's reasoning applies with particular force in this case, 
because ALJ Simon stated on the record that, prior to the hearing, he had not seen 
Director Watts' letter to Judge Graae. ( OAD Hearing Transcript ("Tr.") at 10, 167-68 ). 
In addition, the Board sees nothing in the record of the hearing before ALJ Simon that 
discloses "an appearance of bias or prejudice sufficient to permit the average citizen 
reasonably to question the judge's impartiality." Anderson v United Slates, 754 A.2d 
920,923 (D.C. 2000). 

As DCHA complains, ALJ Simon did question UCHA counsel about the 
testimony she sought to elicit, but we do not perceive this as evidence of bias. DCHA 
had denied the existence of violations cited in the NOIs and ALJ Simon -- reasonably, in 
our view -- sougl-rt to clarify how testimony by DCHA witnesses would address the issue 
of whether violations existed, to narrow the testimony so that it addressed that issue, and 
to avoid duplicative testimony. ( Tr. 15, 97, 18G ). Nothwithstanding, ALJ Simon 
allowed DCHA counsel to proceed with her questioning in each instance, and gave her an 
opportunity to present her case over three days (during which she elicited testimony 
about the problems of recurrent vandalism that DCHA faced; DCHA's repeated repairs 
aid substantial repair expenditures; DCHA's efforts to install and to obtain Fire 
Department approval for new, state-of-the-art fire alarm systems; and the Fire 
Department's general policy of issuing wmings before fines and its practices in dealing 
with private businesses). 

The record shows that, as DClHA complains, ALJ Simon sometimes 
interrupted DCIiA counsel. But he likewise sometimes interrupted Fire Departmenl 
witnesses. The record further shows that ALJ Simon sometimes allowed Fire 
Department witnesses to interrupt testimony, and that he asked questions about the 
foundation for testimony by DCHA witnesses. These examples appear to us to reflect 
nothing more than reasonable accommodatioiis to the situation of representatives of the 
Fire Department, who were appearing without counsel. During the hearing, ALJ Simon 
issued a number of rulings adverse to DCI-IA, but, as our Court of Appeals has 
recognized, "[aldverse rulings, without more, certainly do not establish that a judge 
lacked the impartiality necessary to give the accused a fair trial." Gregory v. United 
States, 393 A.2d 132, 143 (D.C. 1978). 

ALJ Simon did not rely on the statement by Director Watts that no 
abatement of fire safety violations had occurred, but specifically asked DCHA witn.esses 
whether fire protection  system.^ were operative on the dates in question ( Tr. 285, 
288,328) and questioned Fire Department witnesses about the then-current status of fire 
safety systems at DCHA public housing sites. ( Tr. 50-5 1 ). In his order, ALJ ~ i m o n  
reduced the assessed fines, on the basis of evidence that DCHA had attenipted to abate 
the violations cited in the Fire Department NOIs. 
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In sum, upon a careful review of the record, the Board finds no appearance 
of bias and no basis for questioning ALJ Simon's impartiality. 

Was thc OAD Decision and Order arbitrary and capricious, 
unsupported by a preponderance of substantial evidence in the record, or contrary 
to law? As h e  factual basis for sustaining fines in the amount of $11,700 ($1,000 per 
violation for each of 13 violations, less $100 per violation, on the basis of DCHA's 
attempts to abate the violations after being cited), ALJ Simon cited the following: Fire 
Inspector Duane Parker's testimony that he observed that there was no operating fire 

system a ten buildings at the East Capitol public housing c o ~ p l e x  on March 
26, 1997, and that upon reinspection on March 27, 1997, there had been no abatement of 
the violations; Fire Inspector Parker's testimony that he observed that there was no 
operating fire protection system at the Benning Heights public housing complex on May 
6, 1997; Fire Inspector Parker's testimony that he observed that there was no operating 
fire protection system at the Arthur Capper public housing complex on April 4, 1997; 
Fire Inspector Parker's testimony that he observed that there was no operating fire 
protection system at the Hoplcins public housing complex on April 4, 1997;' and issuance 
of NOIs with respect to each of the thirteen violations that Fire Inspector Parker 
described. 

DCHA argues that the ALJ Simon's Decision and Order was arbitrary and 
capricious, unsupported by substantial evidence in the record, and contrary to applicable 
law. Specifically, DCHA contends that the Fire Department was required under 
applicable regulations and by its established policy to issue violation notices or notices- 
to-abate before issuing NOls (and thereby imposing fines), but failed to do so for two of 
the properties in question; that the Fire Department did not afford DCHA a reasonable 
time within which to abate violations before issuing NOIs; that the Fire Department 
unreasoiiably assessed fines even though it was aware that DCHA was in the process of 
installing new fire alarm systems; that the Fire Department unreasonably withheld 
approval of fire watches as adequate fire protection alternatives while the new systems 
were being installed; and that DCHA was the target of disparate treatment by the-Fire 
Department, which worked with private businesses to help them avoid fines for fire 
prevention code violations. 

As to 12 of the 13 NOIs , th.e Board finds it unnecessary to address the 
issues DCHA raises. We explain our ruling as to these 12 NOIs in section 1I.A below. 
As to NO1 03605 1 (Hoplcins), DCHA's arguments raise difficult issues of regulatory 
comtruction, which we address in Section 11.B below. 

ALJ Simon's decision erroneously refers to April 4, 1998. 
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A. 

The Fire Department issued the NOIs in question pursuant to Title 16 of 
the District of Columbia Municipal Regulations, which implements D.C. Law 6-42, -the 
Department of Consumer and Reguhtory Affairs Civil Infractions Act of 1985, D.C. 
Code Ann, 5 6-2701 et seq. See 16 DCMR 5 3 100.1 (note). Section 6-27 1 1 establishes 
specific requirements for NOIs. Each NO1 must contain, inter alia, the name and address 
of the respondent; a citation of the law or regulations alleged to have been violated; the 
nature, time and place of the infraction, and the amount of the fine applicable to the 
infraction. D.C. Code Ann. $ 6-271 l(b)(l), (2), (3), and (5). 

Section 6-27 1 l.(c) states: 

If an administrative law judge or attorney examiner 
determines that a notice of infraction is defective on its 
face, the administrative law judge or attorney examiner 
shall enter an order dismissing the notice of infraction and 
shall promptly notify the respondent. 

The Board has reviewed the record copies of the NOIs at issue in this 
matter and finds that seven of the NOIs are defective on their faces and should have been 
dismisscd. NOIs 036031, 036020,036028,036033, 036034,036035 (all relati.ng to the 
East Capitol complex) all contain no description of the nature of the infraction. The Firc 
Department did not fill in the line labeled "Nature of Infraction." NO1 036036 (relating 
to the Benning Heights complex) contains no indication of the time of the infraction. The 
Board holds that, under D.C. Code Ann. 5 6-271 l(c), these seven NOIs must be 
dismissed as defective on theii- faces. We tlzerefore reverse that portion of the OAD 
Order relating to the fines and costs (totaling $6,580) based on these ~ 0 1 s . ~  

' h e  Board upholds the OAT) Order as to NOIs 036026,036027,036030, 
and 036032 (relating to the East Capitol complex) and NO1 036052 (relating to the 

The Board notes that all 13 of the NOls cite 16 DCMR 5 3235.1 (c) as the "law or 
regulation alleged to have been violated." This is an erroneow citation. Section ' 
3235.1(c) states that a violation of 12 DCMR 5 F-501.1 (requiring that fire protection 
systems be maintained in operative condition at all times) is a Class I violation (for which 
a fine of $1,000 may be imposed). The violations th.at Fire hspector Parker observed 
were violations of 12 DCMR 8 F-501.1, no1 violations of 16 DCMR § 3235.1(c). 
Because of these erroneous citations to section 3235.l(c), all 13 NOIs have a defect on 
their faces. Nonetheless, the Board is constrained to conclude that dismissal is not 
warranted on this basis. Although 16 DCMR 5 3235.1(c) is an erroneous citation, its title 
("BOCA National Fire Prevention Code 8 F-501.1") does refer to section F-501 .l. We 
therefore deem the erroneous citation to be a harmless error. See F. W Woolworth Co. v. 
Board ofAppeals and Review, 579 A. 2d 713, 716 (D.C. 1990) (incorrect citation not 
cause for dismissal where it did not deprive respondent of notice of the charge); 1 DCMR 
5 5 1 1.1. (Board shall apply the rule of harmless error). 



Arthur Capper complex). Testimony at the OAD hearing established that each of these 
five NOIs was preceded by the notice of violation or notice of abatement that DCHA 
alleges was required. Further, under 16 DCMR 5 3 101.2, each NO1 is "prima facie 
evidence of the validity of the issuan.ce and the truth of the facts alleged in the NOI," and 
DCHA witnesses did not deny that the fire protection systems at these properties were 
inoperable on the dates in question. 

The Board sees merit in DCHA's argu.ment that the Fire Department 
allowed inadequ.ate time for abatement of the violations (24 hours at East Capitol and 
only a few hours at Arthur Capper), and that it was unreasonable for the Fire Department 
to issue NOIs when it h e w  of (and had Fire Department representatives had several 
times met with DCHA representatives to discuss) DCHA's work toward installation of 
new fire safety systems. However, we will not substitute our judgment for that of Fire 
Department personnel, who testified that the absence of operable fire alarm systems and 
of an approvable fire watch created life-tlmatening conditions and imninent danger; that 
DCHA had progressed too slowly in putting the necessary protections in place; and that 
fines were necessary to achieve the remedial purposes of the fire prevention code. 

As to DCHA's claim of disparate treatment, the Board finds that the 
record falls short of the showing that is necessary to sustain such a claim. A claim of 
disparate treatment requires a showing that those whose treatment is being compared arc 
similarly situated. See Metropolitan Washington Board of Trade v. PSC of the District of 
Columbia, 432 A.2d 343, 361 (D.C. 198 1). DCHA presented testimony that the Fire 
Department was more lenient and "business friendly" with and "worked private 
entities such as the MCI Center, Safeway and Heclzinger's. However, DCHA did not 
show that its public housing complexes were similarly situated to these entities. To the 
contrary, there was testimony that fire prevention code violations at public housing 
developments had been a problem prior to the receivership and had continued to be a 
problem since the receiver was appointed in 1995; there was no comparable testimony 
about continuous or repeated violations by private entities. Furthermore, Fire 
Department witnesses testified that inoperable fire protection systems pose an imminent 
danger in residential bu.ildings and building where there are many elderly or non- 
ambulatory indivjdua1.s. There also was testimony that the D.C. Public Schools, wh.ere 
large iluinbers of children may be present, were fined on many occasions for fire code 
violations. All these factors weigh in favor of a conclusion that DCHA public housing 
complexes and the private entities about which DCHA witnesses testified were not 
similarly situated. Thus, the Board concludes that even if DCHA was fined while private 
businesses were not, the record provides no basis for disturbing NOIs 036026, 036027, 
036030,036032 and 036052. 

The Board may not substitute its judgment for that of the ALJ as to the 
amount of the fines if they are within the ran$e permitted by law. See D.C. Code Ann. 5 
6-2723; 1 DCMR 5 512.4. Under DCMR 5 3235.1(c), it is a Class 1 infraction to have 
an inoperable fire safety system in violation of section F-501.1. 'flie fine for a Class 1 
infraction is $1,000 per day, the,amount imposed by the Fire Department and reduced by 
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. ALJ Simon.. DCMR 3201.l(a). The Board therefore sustains fines and costs totaling 
$4,700. 

NO1 03605 1 (relating to the Hopkins complex) raises more difficult 
questions. DCHA witnesses did not deny that the fire protection system was inoperative 
on the date in question, and DCHA elicited testimony that the Fire Department did not 
follow its practice of issuing a notice of violation or notice to abate before issuing the 
NOI. NO1 03605 1 thus raises the issue of whether the Fire Department may issue a fine 
for a violation of the fire prevention code without first issuing a warning or notice of 
violation and, where appropriate, affording the respondent an opportunity to abate the fire 
code violation before a fine is imposed. 

To resolve this issue, we must resolve the apparent conflict between 
several provisions of law. The relevant provisions are found in 16 DCMR and in 12 
DCMR 5 3 100 et seq., the D.C. Fire Prevention Code Supplement of 1992, which 
expressly incorporates the Building Officials & Code Administrators international, Inc. 
("BOCA") Fire Prevention Code except where amended by the Code Supplement. See 
12 DCMR $ 6  F-100.3 and F-100.3.1. 

16 DCMK 8 3 1.01.6 states: 

Unless otherwise prescribed by law, an NO1 shall be issued 
by the Director upon observance of an infraction. When 
applicable provisions of law require that a respondent be 
given a certain period of time to abate a violation, an NO1 
shall not be issued until that period of time has elapsed. 
[Emphasis added.] 

DCRA contends that this provision~governs, and that it was appropriate for the Fire 
Department to issue NOIs without prior warning notices because no law requires that 
owners be given any "certain period of time" to abate fire code violations. 

12 DCMR ij F- 1 1 1.1, entitled 'Wotice of violation," states in relevant part 
that: 

Whenever the code official observes an apparent or actual 
violation of a provision of this code . . . the code official 
shall prepare a written notice of violation citing the relevant 
code section, describing the conditions deemed unsafe and 
specifying time limits for the reinspection of same to insure 
that the required repairs or improvements have been made 
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to render the buildings, structures, or premises safe and 
secure. 

siction F- 11 1.2, entitled "Failure to correct violations," states in relevant part that: 

If the notice of violation is not complied with as specified 
by the code official, the code official shall, first, issue a 
collateral citation, then if violations are not corrected as 
specified, request the Corporation Counsel to institute the 
appropriate legal proceedings to restrain, correct or abate 
such violation . . .. 

Section F-111.3, entitled "Penalty for violations," states that: 

Any person, firm or corporation violating my of the 
provisions of this code or failing to comply with any order 
issued pursuant to any section thereof, upon conviction 
shall be punished by a fine of not more than $1,000 or 
imprisonment for not more than 90 days, or both. Each day 
that a violation continues, after service of a notice as 
provided in this code, shall be deemed a separate offense. 

DCHA argues that section F-11 I .  1 of the Fire Prevention Code 
Supplement required the Fire Department to issue a notice of violation or notice to abate 
before issuing an NOI. DCRA contends, however, that section 3 101.6 is a part of a 
"concurrent" remedial scheme that authorizes enforcement action without the procedures 
specified in the Fire Prevention Code Supplement, and that trumps any fire code 
provision that can be read to require issuance of a notice of violation before an NOI. 
DCRA relies on 12 DCMR F-101.4 (the current citation is F-101.5.1), which states that 
"[wlhen any provision. of this code is found to be in conflict with any other provision of 
this code, the provision which established the higher standard for the promotion and 
protection of the safety and welfare of the public, shall prevail." 

The Board rejects DCRA's approach toward resolving conflicts between 
the relevant provisions of 12 DCMR and 16 DCMR. Section F-101-4 establishes a rule 
for resolving conflicts between conflicting Fire Prevention Code provisions, not a rule for 
resolving conflicts between provisions of different Titles of the DCMR. See 12 UCMR 
5 F-101.1 (use of terrn "this code"). We believe that any conflicts between 12 DCMR 
and 16 DCMR must instead be resolved by attempting to harmonize the provisions to the 
extent possible. See School Street Associates Lirnted Purinership v. Dis~rict of Culurnbia, 
764 A.2d 798, 806 (D.C. 2001). 

We believe that 16 DCMR 9 3 10 1.6 and the Fire Prevention Code 
provisions of 12 DCMR can best be harmonized by regarding the NO1 described in 
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section 3 101.6 as imposing the penalty described in section F-111.3. We read section F- 
1 1 1.3 to authorize the imposition of fines beginning with the first day of a violation, ie., 
immediately after the fire inspector's observation of an infraction. Thus we do not agree 
with DCHA that it was contrary to law for DCRA to issue NOIs immediately or without 
affording DCHA a reasonable time within which to abate violations. We do agree with 
DCHA, however, that section F-111.3 requires a two-step process, since it authorizes 
penalties for any violation that continues "after a service of notice as provided in this 
code" -- which we read to mean the notice of violation referred to in section F- 1 11.1. 
We think, that the Fire Department is required to issue a notice of violation before 
imposing a penalty through issuance of an NO1 (although we see nothing in the Fire 
Prevention Code that would bar the Fire Department from issuing both on the same day 
where, in its judgment, iinmediate abatement of a violation is required. Any other 
reading would be inconsistent with the remedial objectives of the Fire Prevention Code 
Supplement. The code "shall be construed to secure its expressed intent, which is to 
insure public safety . . . and to secure safety to life and property . . .." D.C. Fire 
Prevention Code Supplement § F-100.6). 

We note that our reading appears to be consistent with the Fire 
~ e p r t k e n t ' s  general policy, although the terminology that the Fire ~bp r t rnen t  uses 
suggest that it derives its policy from section F-1 1 1.2. Section. F-1 1.2 refers to issuance 
of a "collateral citation." Fire Department representatives testified at the administrative 
hearing that Fire Department procedure is to issue first a warning or a notice of violation 
(sometimes referred to in the testimony as a "notice of abatement"), and then to issue a 
"collateral," which is the same as a fine, if a violation is not abated.. , (It is not clear to the 
Board that the "collateral citation" to which section F-11.2 refers is to be issued to 
impose the penalty referred to in section F-111.3, but it is not necessary for us to resolve 
that issue here.) Even if our attempt to harmonize the regulatory language misses the 
mark, we think the Fire Department night well be estopped from insisting on any other 
reading to the detriment of DCHA in this case. 

Accordingly, because the Fire Department did not issue a notice of 
violation or notice to abate in conjunction with issuing NO1 03605 1, we rule that this 
NO1 must be dismissed. 

--- 

T11e Board notes with some frustration, however, that during the administrative hearing, 
counsel and witnesses used various terms interchangeably, making it difficult to 
determine precisely what Fire Department procedure is. See Tr. 64, 106, 11 6, 130. 



ORDER 

Now therefore, it is ORDERED this 7th day of November, 2001, that the 
decision of the OAD with respect to NOIs 03603 1, 036020, 036028, 036033, 036034, 
036035,036036, and 03605 1 is hereby REVERSED and the NOIs are hereby dismissed; 
the decisioli of the OAD with respect to NOIs 036026,036027,036030,036032 and 
036052 is AFFIRMED; and DCHA is ordered to pay fines and costs in the amount of 

residing 
~avidMarlin, Legal ~ e d h b e r  
Gary Ivens, Legal Member 
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GOVERNMXNT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

Thornell K, Page II 
Appllmt 

D,C. Department of Consumer and 
. Regdrttory A f k h  

Appellee 

) 
) Violdon No. A208753 
1 

-. * 

This case came before s single legal member of the Board, David H. Marlla, at a duly scheduled 
hearing on Wednesday , January 24,200 1. The Appellgtlt Thomll K. Page II appeatad p o  se. 
Matthew 3. Gram, Jr., Esq., Attofacy, Enforcemernt Division, Dqarlment of Consumer and 
Regulatory Affairs (D€!RA) repimmted the District of Columbia government as A p l l e e .  

The appeal was h m  a decision by DCRA Attoraqr Emminer Hemy W. McCoy issued on JW 
7,2000 where M. Page was W $1,OS0.00 and $40 costs for o p d n g  an dimmed housing 
business at 165-35th Street, W for the years 1994,1995 and 1996. Housing business licenses 
arc mandated by D.C. C& 47-2828 and regulated under 14 DCMR 200.1, et ~ q .  

According to Examiner McCoy's decision, this matter began an June 15,1999 when bousa  
inspector Debra Ryan visited the propty. Whm she could not find a posted housing business 
license, hpector Ryan returned to her ofice, searched officid recoda but found notbing to 
establish that housing business licenses for the yam 1994 through 1999 ever had k e n  issued for 
this address. The violation notice referenced above, therefore, was srvtd on the Alppelbt 

At the DCRA hearing in this casc c a n h t d  on April 27,2000, ~ccordiag to Examiner McCoy's 
decision (the Boards review of the m r d  is hdicapped kausc neither party produced a 
m c r i p t  of the DCRA hearing), Appellant testified that he purchssed the proprty in 1994 and 
had paid the licensing fee and obtained a license for dl the y a m  in question He did, in fact, 
prdw copies of officid liceosea covering the period from Nov&r 1,1997 though M t  
31,1998 and frQm May 24,1999 through O c t o k  3 1,1999. Additionally, Appellant pduced a 
canded check accepted by Examiner McCoy as proof of payment for fiscal year 1997, The 
record was kept opexl until May 5 ,  about a week, to -it Aplletnt to provide proof that he had 
obtained licenses for fiscal y m  1994,1995 and 1996. 
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The first issue before the B o d  is whether DCRA mct its burden of proviq by a prepndemnce 
of the evidence that appllant bacl not obtained the necwsouy licenses for the years in question. I If it did not, its h i s ion  may be considered arbitrary and not mpportod by substantial wideme. 

At the pre-h&g telephone conference call conducted in this case on Jmwy 17, tfid Board 
imtmckd the pads to present oral aqpmtslts relating to "(1) the wuracy of DCRA howing 
business license rmrds  and (2) whether financial and other bwincss records may pm,perly 
dammmt and establish that licenses wrt issuedn Neither party mspoadcd to ow order at ow 
hearing. The Bard's request for di~htenment rcsdted from the obvious inmcmcy, or perhaps 
non&stence, of liceosing records maintained by DCRA. If  a housing iasrpxd6'r Consults 
official dqxrtment records ~oncezning a specific building and comes up with a blank, and the 
owner then prdwes copies of liccnscs issued by & kptmmt, the ownw has h o x W f & d  
that the department's records are errondous, Any psumption of regularity attaining to 
government recod keeping has been dmtted. Under t k ~  circumstances, b it proper to shift 
the burden of dcmcmsmding compliance over a multi-year M o d  to the liccnsc bolder, md then 
to min-c the licensee if bis records are no better'? We think not 

At our Janu~fy 24 hearin& Appellant mpresented l h t  he p v i d d  evidence to E h e r  McCoy 
before the May 5 deadline in the form of bank statements which d o c u d  that he provided the 
proper license fees for 1996 atld 1995. He proffered this dcsumentaiion to the Board rsad also 
a r g d  that proof for 1994 should be waived on the grounds that evidence of complimcc far five 
of six ywa demonstrates a pa&m of compliance. DCRA attorney U r e a  argued that bank 

, statemeats are umwqbble, stating that only cancelled checks or DCRA receipts could be 
g considered as proof of payment. DCFU1s policy of proof m y  be too limitd. h any wat, the 

Board docs not fmd facts when a mtested case is heard an the mod.  

DCRA did not disclose to the Board, or previously ta this AppeUmt, its word keqhg  system, 
e.g., whether duplicate copies of license fee receipts, or admn copies of li-, or lodgers of 
fee p a y m e  are mrcinbhcd either by paper documentation or elocttonically. Evidence of this 
nature m y  be essential for the government to establish at a contested hearing, where cross- 
examination is f>crmitted, that there has been neither an applications for or the ksuanm of a 
busing business license in a situation where DCRA's records do not comborate its position. 

I . THEREFORE, it is ORDERED this 30 t h day of Jmwy 2001 that the decision of Fmmher 
Henry W. McCoy dated June 7,2000 is REVERSED and the case is REMANDED to thE 
*ke for action nvt hconsisteat with this Order. 

David W. Marlin 
Legal Member 

ii 
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G O a R N M E N T  OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

PROVIDENCE HOSPITAL, 

A-1 

v. ) BAR Docket No. 00-5613--CI 
1 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND 
REGULATORY AFFAIRS, 1 

Appellee. 1 

ORDER 

This matter came up before a panel of the Board, at a duly 
scheduled hearing set for 10:OO a.m., Monday, June 25, 2001. 

Appellant was represented by Thomas E. Neary, Esq. Appellee 
was represented by Brenda Walls, Esq., Assistant Corporation 
Counsel. 

I 
; . ,  

1 Pre-hearing b r i e f s  were filed by the parties. 

P r i o r  proceedinqs 

Appel lant  appealed from the Decision and Order of Attorney 
Examiner Henry W. McCoy, dated August 18, 2000, in which he found 
t h e  Appellant operated a restaurant without having a license and 
imposed a fine of $500. 

The Notice of Infraction was issued on January 13, 2000, by 
Inspector William Moseby of the Department of Consumer and 
Regulatory Affairs ("DCRA"), who appeared at the hearing before 
At to rney  Examiner McCoy on May 9,  2000. Among other things, 
Inspector Moseby testified that the cafeteria operatgd by 
Appellant was open to the public in that no signage limited 
access to the cafeteria to the Hospital's employees or to 
visitors to the Hospital's patients. Eviden.ce adduced at the 
May 9 hearing also showed that the cafeteria prepared food for 
consumption on the premises and that the dining area in the 
cafeteria could accomodate approximately 50 patrons. 

Deborah M. Gayle, Assistant Vice President for Quality 
Management, Medical Affairs, who testified on behalf of 
Appellant, did not dispute Inspector Moseby's testimony. While 
Ms. Gayle testified that the primary purpose of the cafeteria was 



I 
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i to feed Appellantfs employees, Ms. Gayle acknowledged that she 
would not be amazed if she were told that "members of the 

/ community eat there far lunch." 

Appellant contended that Inspector Robin Marlin of the 
Department of Health, the agency -responsible for inspecting the 
Appellant's cafeteria for -compliance with the food handling 
services regulations, advised the Appellant that no license was 
required. 

Amlicable law 

Pursuant to D.C. Code 51-1509, Appellant bears the burden to 
prove that the findings of the Attorney Examiner were unsupported 
by substantial evidence and that his conclusions were arbitrary 
and capricious and not in accordance with the law. % King v. 
g, 560 A.2d 1067, 1072 (D.C. 
1989). In determining whether Appellant has met its burden, the 
panel is guided by two well established principles. First, the 
findings of fact of the hearing officer are entitled to great 
weight, In re Dwva, 399 A.2d 1, 12 (D.C. 1 9 7 9 ) .  Viewed in 
isolation, the evidence introduced on behalf of the Appellee on 
the accessability of Appellant's cafeteria to the public may not 
be weighty; however, the evidence offered by Appellant in 
refutation was of no greater substance. Accordingly, the panel 
concludes that the Appellant has failed to establish that the ' findings of the Attorney Examiner were unsupported by substantial 
evidence. 

The second principle that guides the panel is that, when an 
agency's decision is based on an interpretation of the statute it 
administers, that interpretation will be sustained unless shown 
to be unreasonable or in contravention of the language or the 
legislative history of the statute. See, Reneau v. District of 
Columbiq, 676 A2d 913, 917 (D.C.  1996) ; Kalorarna Heiqhts Limited 
Partnership v, Dewartrnent of Consumer and Regulatorv Affairs, 655 
A.2d 865, 8 6 8  (D.C. 1995). The relevant statutory provision in 
this matter is D.C. Code 547-2827, which declares a license to be 
required of any private club or restaurant and def ines  
"restaurant" as "any place where food or refreshments are served 
to transient customers to be eaten on the premises were sold." 
Appellant posits that the term "transient customers" is ambiguous 
and contends for a narrow reading. Appellee, however, has 
construed the term "transient customers" as including visitors to 
hospitalized patients, contractors working in the building and 
such persons as may come in off the street to eat in Appellant's 
cafeteria. 

Finally, contrary to Appellant's estoppel assertion, an 
inspector of the Department of Health cannot commit the Appellee 

i 
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: as to whether a license was required for the operation of 
Appellant's cafeteria, and Appellant could not reasonably rely on 

) the health inspector's suggestion that one might not be required. 
&e, e . g . ,  Office of Personnel Manaaement v. Richmond, 496 U.S. 
414 ( 1 9 9 0 ) .  

Conclusion 

The panel  deems t h e  Appellee's interpretation of the statute 
not to be erroneous or inconsistent with its wording. We further 
find that the Appellant has failed to establish that the . ~ t t o r n e ~  
Examiner's conclusion that Appellant was operating a restaurant 
without a license was arbitrary and capricious or contrary to the 
law. 

Wherefore it is 

ORDERED that the appeal be, and hereby is, denied, 

Dated: June 25, 2001 
Ga y L .  Ivens f 
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GOVERNMENT OF TEE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEAU AND REVIEW 

1336 14th Street, NW LLC BAR Docket NO: 0 1-57 1 l -CI 
Appellant ) 

1 Notice of TnfEaGtion No. 043883 
VS. 

1 0 1 - O m  1462E 
Bprmcnt  of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs ) 

Appellee ) 

DECISION AND ORDER 

This ,apptal p a t s  the issue of whether the owner of a commacid building in the District is 
liable for mt obtaining a conshdon permit prior to the commencdnent of a cmlrwiion 
projwt men ifmnov~~tiona h a v e h n  iaiWd, s w i s e d  and paid fof by a tenant., all without 
the owner's knowled5e. We believe the District may hold the owaer legally responsible and 
deny the apped. 

W e  held oral argument on A@ 5,2002. AppeUmt, 1336 14th S- NW LLC, was 
represented by Matlagement Memkr Charles V. Mona; Assistant CwpoWon Coungcl Doris A. 
Parkm-Woolridgo represented appellee. The fads are not in disputE. Appllomt has owed since 
1998 a building at that address rented for business purposes. Renovation of the building was 
observed in April 2000 by Toni Cherry, a District housing inspecEof, who investigated, 
discovered the lack of a building permit and issued a stop work ordm to someone working at the 
site who identified himself as an owner and a contractor, Although the tenants eventually 
obtained a building pernit, that p d t  did not authorize the replacement of windows at the r m  
of the property. After re-iasptdons wn€lrmed the lack of a permit to replace the windows, 
Inspector C h q  issued the ahvarefemced violation notiw on May 25,2000. The owner was 
ch~ged with violating P.C, Code 5 66.41.09 (2001), which states, in pertinent part: 

It shall be unlawful to mct, construct, wlustruct, convert, ar dm my 
Building or structure or part thereof with the District of Columbia without 
obtaining a building permit from the Inspector of Buildings.. . 

The District &st served the infraction notice on the previous owner of the 14th Str@ property. 
When the e m  m discover4 t?x inhction was served on January 3 1,200 1 upan agpellant, 
the correct owner, at its register4 address. A contested heariflg was conducted on April 4,2001. 
Oe April 23,2001, Adminisbtive Law Judge James C. Harmon found that the eviden~e 
produced at the hearing established that appellant was tbe owner of the property at d~ time of 
the renovation and that the renovation was conducted without a building permit He concluded a 
property ownex has a legal duty to ensure compliance with the constmtim wde, He fomd 

\ 
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/ appsllud in violation and fined it $500 and mats. 

Appellant maintains that the responsibility for obtlinirg n building permit rested with its 
commercial mmt who authorized the work, was entitled to possession of the premises and vrtas 
the bencfiaiy of the improvements. Citing an owna who may be unawm of matiions. 
based wlely on ownership, rnismnshues the Districts constrdotl oodq appeht WgWs, since 
thG statub caanot ba said to apply only to a p p t y  owner. That argument is c o m t  d y  as fsr 
as it gota One nebdam~uata theD.C. MUN. REGS. Tit. 12A, $107.1 d $107.1.2 (1999) 
which places the legd obligation ta secure a buiding pernit s q d y  w t h ~  owner, wm Wfitn 
that responsibility is not exolurive. Section 107.1, entitled "Owner's Reqmnsiblility,. ~~B~ 
"The owner, bdder, or authorized msentativc shall b responsible for securing dl the 
reglrircd permits.. . Work started without a p d t  where a pefmit is determined to be r e q u i d  
dull be r violation of the C o n s d o n  ccdes." Section 107.1.2, entitled "By Whom Apphtion 
i s  Made," states: "Application for a permit shall b6 made by the owner or lawe of the building 
or structrxte, or by thc agerat of e i th  . . . " 
These comction regulations, therefore, @t others to appb for permits, e,g., an authorized 
representative, lessee, and an agmt of the owner or lessee. There is no question, however, that 
the DCRA is autharized to place liability on an owner if no permit bas been issued, even if a 
tenant, for example, also is vulnerable. There are m y  justifidom far holding the owner of 
m r d  mpnsMe, e.g,, the District g0v-en.t may seek tcr sanction the one entity exclusively 
e~ltitld to control the p r o m ,  that possegses atl equity interest and should be motivated to 

I 
Appellant further alleges a due ]process deprivation because it wasn't served with the notice of 
violation until seven months afta the notice was writbm. We find this argwncnt invalid. We 
have already noted that the &lay in service was quickly corrected The D.C. Administrative 
Procedures Act permits a w r ~ n a b l e "  time for service, D.C. W e  8 2-509(a) (2001). h o e  
the curred owner was detmnined, service was timely. Secondly, a p p c h ~ t  avail& itwlf of the 
opportunity to p e n t  a defense in a contested hearing. Finally, the violation occurred as a 
mwer of law o n e  construction commenced without a permit We find W appellant was not 
prejudiced by the delay. 

Appellant has not met its burden of establishing that the d-ision was not supported by 
substantial evidence; nor is there merit in appellants contention that this infrtu:tion was invalid 
because a certificate of occupanoy was subsequently issued. An omupancy certificate is 
itre1evmt because its issuance cmnot a p t  fact0 cure a violation of D.C. Code g 6641.09. 

Maureen A. young. hblic  Member 
Joan E. Schafher, Public M n n k  
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GOVERNMENT OF TEIE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOAIID OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

James G. Davis Construction Corp. 1 BAR Docket No: 00-545641 
Appellant 1 

1 Violation No. 045555 
v. ) 

1 
Department of Consumer and 
Regulatory Affairs 

1 
1 

Appellee 1 

OPINION AND ORDER 

On February 8,2001, the Board denied appellant's Motion for Summary Reversal based on 
collateral estoppel and ordered the parties to fiSe briefs examining whether the decision by 
Hearing Examiner Lennox Sitnon, issued on January 7,2000, was supported by substantial 
evidence. After careful consideration of the briefs and the entire record, we find error in the trial 
decision. We reverse Examiner Simon's decision and grant the appeal. 

We summarized many of the facts of this case in our February 8 Order that need not be repeated. 
In its appeal, Davis argued that the basement tiles and second floor insulation, that form the basis 
of the violation notice served on Davis, were not tested to determine whether they contained 
regulated asbestos. Further, Davis argues there was no evidence offered to prove that Davis 
mishandled any materials that might have contained regulated asbestos. Overall, Davis 
contends, DCRA did not meet its burden of proving by substantial evidence in the record that the 
alleged violations occurred 

We agree. We note, first, that 20 DCMR 800 incorporates into District law Federal regulations 
defining and regulating asbestos control, eg.,  40 CFR Sec. 61 et seq. The Federal regulations 
provide a road map for analyzing, for instance, whether certain materials contain asbestos; 
whether the percentage of asbestos present, or the composition of the asbestos, is suficient to 
invoke Federal or local protections; and whether any asbestos fibers were released into the 
environment. All these considerations, and more, are essential components of proving that a 
violation of asbestos regulations occurred. Appellant cited Jefferson State Rock Products, Inc. v. 
Land Regional Air Pollution Authority, 986 P. 2d 1224 (Ct.App.Ore. 1999) and In the Matter of 
Enviro-Probe. Inc. v, New York Citv Department of Environmental Protection et al., 635 
N.Y.S.2d 635 (1995), as two cases in point that describe the regulatory burdens to be met in 
establishing asbestos-related violations. 

In short, proof of asbestos-related violations requires proper testing and technical fmdings. The 
only evidence the government offered in this case was anecdotal. The DCRA inspector 
acknowledged he never tested the materials found on the second floor to determine whether 
asbestos was present; nor did he test any floor tiles. 
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The record, in addition, contains no government exhibits. DCRA seems to rely on a 1998 survey 
) of this building conducted by Applied Environmental Inc. of Reston, Virginia, to establish that 

the building contained asbestos-regulated materials (Tr. 37-38) that would justify issuing the 
violation notices but did not introduce it into evidence. The survey, however, was placed into 
evidence by Davis to disprove the government's case. DCRA certainly failed to establish that the 
survey contained evidence needed to prove that appellant's job performance violated 20 DCMR 
Sec. 800.1. 

Examiner Simon disregarded basic elements of proof and the decision cannot stmd for lack of 
substantial evidence. Santos v. DeDartment of Emdovment Services, 536 A2d 1085,1089 @.C. 
1988). An agency's findings must be supported by reliable, probative and substantial evidence 
and its conclusions of law must flow rationally from these fmdings. Eilers v. Bureau of Motor 
Vehicle Services, 583 A. 2d 677 @,C. 1990). 

d-- THEWORE, it is ORDERED thisy day May 2001 that the appeal is GRANTED and the 
decision appealed from is REVERSED. 

David H. Marlin 
Legal Member 
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. ,  , . . GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

i BOARD OF APPEALS AND MVIEW 

VICTOR AND ELEANOR GAETAN, ) 
1 

Appellants, 1 
1 

BAR Docket No. 00-552941 

v. 1 ( O N )  Case Numbers 1246-E, 
1 1247-E, 1248-E, 2616-E, 2617-E 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND ) 2618-E) @ O h  # 18930,18991, 
REGULATORY AFFAIRS, 1 18992,18993,18994 and 18995) 

1 
Appellee 1 

DECISION AND ORDER 

Appellants Victor and Eleanor Gaetan appeal from decisions of the 
Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs ("DCRA") Office of Adjudication 
("OAD"), sustaining a total of $3,000 in fines imposed for violation 0fD.C. Code 35-426 
in connection with construction at appellants' residence and art gallery. OAD 
Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") Lennox Simon held a hearing on March 8,2000 on 
Notices of Infraction ("NOIs") #I8990 (infraction date 7/16/99), #I8991 (infraction date 
7/23/99), #I8992 (infraction date 7/3,0/99), #I8993 (infiaction date 8/6/99), and #I8994 
(infraction date 811 3/99), each of which cited appellants for constructing without a 
permit. ALJ Simon found that construction at appellants7 site exceeded the scope of their 
building permit and, in a decision dated April 6,2000, upheld fines totaling $2,500 (five 
fines of $500 each) and imposed court costs of $200. OAD Attorney Examiner Henry 
McCoy held a hearing on April 19,20 and 26,2000 on NO1 #I8995 (infraction date 
8/20/99), which cited appellants with constructing without a permit. Attorney Examiner 
McCoy found that appellants had constructed balconies at their residence in a manner 
beyond the scope of their building permit and, in a decision dated August 15,2000, 
upheld a fine of $500 and ordered appellants to pay costs of $40. 

Board members Phyllis Thompson, Gary Ivens and Joan Schaffner heard 
oral argument in this matter on August 17,2001. Steven Skalet, Esq., argued the case for 
appellants. William Bennett, Esq., of the Ofice of Corporation Counsel, argued the case 
for appellee DCRA. 



The Board has reviewed the record, including the transcripts of both 
hearings, and has considered the arguments presented in the parties' briefs and at oral 
argument. We how rule as follows on the issues presented. 

The evidence and the OAD findings related to the infraction charged 
on the NOIs, and appellants had adequate notice of the charged infraction. ALJ 
Simon and Attorney Examiner McCoy upheld the fines in issue on the ground that 
appellants' construction exceeded the scope of their building permit. Appellants contend 
that the decisions must be reversed because 0AD7s findings and DCRA's evidence did 
not relate to or support the infraction charged on each of the six NOIs, i. e . ,  constructing 
without a permit. 

We find appellants' -argument unpersuasive. DCRA presented testimony 
that several elements of the construction at the rear of appellants' property went beyond 
the elements shown on appellants7 approved plans and thus beyond the scope of the 
building permit issued on the basis of the approved plans. We think that construction of 
elements not covered by an existing building permit can fairly be described as 
constructing without a permit applicable to those elements. Thus, we find that the 
evidence presented and the OAD findings were pertinent 'to the infraction charged. 

Moreover, even if, as appellants contend, the NO1 descriptions of the 
nature of the infraction were "defective," no basis exists for reversing the OADYs 
decisions. The transcripts of the hearings before AL,J Simon and Attorney Examiner 
McCoy show that at each hearing, there was a clear articulation that the issue being 
adjudicated was whether the construction at appellants' site exceeded the scope of the 
approved plans and permit. (Simon Tr. 28-29,3 1'32; McCoy Tr. 22,37,9.) Appellants 
had ample notice of the charged infraction and an ample opportunity to defend against it. 
See I? W. Woolworth Co v. Board ofAppeals and Review, 579 A.2d 713,716 (D.C. 
1990) (incorrect citation was not cause for dismissal where respondent was not deprived 
of notice of the charge against it). 

There was no error as to assignment of the burden of proof. 
Appellants answered the six NOIs by denying the alleged infractions. As appellants note, 
16 DCMR $ 3  109.4 states that if a respondent denies an infraction, "the Director [of 
DCRA] shall have the burden of proving the infraction by a preponderance of the 
evidence." See also D.C. Code Ann. $6-271 3(a). Appellants contend that ALJ Simon 
improperly shifted the burden of proof to the them, such that the "whole tenor of the 
hearing was that the citations were presumptively valid and the Gaetans had to rebut the 
presumed violation." Appellants' Brief at 5. They likewise contend that Attorney 
Examiner McCoy erred by imposing on them "the burden of proof of disproving the 
unsupported allegations in the NOI." Appellants' Brief at 9. 

The Board finds no error with respect to assignment of the burden of 
proof. Under 16 DCMR 9 3 109.4, DCRA had the initial burden of going forward with 
evidence of an infraction on the dates in question, and DCRA would not have been 
entitled to prevail if, by the end of the hearing, it had failed to prove that it was more 

1 
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likely than not that an infraction existed on the dates in question. But once DCRA 
presented some competent evidence of an infraction (as it did through the testimony of 
Chief Building Inspector Vincent Ford), it fell to the respondents to rebut DCRA's 
evidence with evidence of their own.' Such a shifting of the burden is fully consistent 
with the applicable preponderance-of-the-evidence standard, See Warner Fruehauf 
Trailer Co., Inc. v. Boston, 654 A.2d 1272, 1277 n. 11 (D.C. 1995) (under the 
preponderance of evidence standard, "[alfter the plaintiff satisfies the prima facie burden 
of production, the burden then shifts to the defendant"); Spencer v. District of Columbia, 
615 A.2d 586,588 (D.C. 1992) (government's burden of proving its case by a 
preponderance of the evidence means that once the government has made an initial, 
prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the opposing party); Gilles v. Ware, 615 A.2d 
533 (D.C. 1992) (same). 

Appellants also appear to argue that, as a matter of law, DCRA could not 
have met its burden of proof because it did not introduce the approved plans at either 
hearing. The Board agrees that inclusion of the plans in the record and examination of 
the plans by the trier-of-fact may be desirable and useful and perhaps are typical in cases 
such as these. However, we cannot conclude that the absence of such documentary 
evidence was fatal to DCRA's case. There is no general rule of law requiring 
documentary evidence. See Slaughter v. District of Columbia, 134 A. 2d 338 (D.C. 
1957) (no rule of law requires documentary evidence of age). The Board is not aware of, 
and appellants have not identified, any rule of law that requires the submission of 
documentary evidence to prove a building permit infraction. A court may uphold a fine 

t 
for exceeding the scope of a building permit even when the permit has not been 
introduced into evidence. See City of iIulowell v. Morais, 629 A.2d 55,57 (Me. 1993). 
Where no documentary evidence is presented, resolution of factual issues must turn on 
the credibility of witnesses. See Martin v. Brown, 410 A.2d 205,209 @.C. 1979). Thc 
fact that no documents are introduced to support testimony does not nullify the 
testimony's evidentiary worth. See Mark Keshishian & Sons, Inc v Washington Square, 
Inc ,414 A.2d 834,842 (D.C. 1980). 

The OAD Decisions were supported by a preponderance of evidence 
in the record. Appellants argue that DCRA failed to prove its case by a preponderance 
of the evidence and that the deciiions by ALJ ~irnok and Attorney Examiner McCoy 
therefore cannot be sustained. The Board disagrees. 

The preponderance-of-the-evidence standard "requires the court to merely 
determine who has the most competent evidence." In re E. D. R., 772 A.2d 1 156, 1 160 
(D.C. 2001), quoting In re J.S. R., 374 A.2d 860,864 (D.C. 1977). A preponderance of 
the evidence is "evidence which is of greater weight or more convincing than the 
evidence presented in opposition to it; that is, evidence which as a whole shows that the 
fact sought to be proved is more probable than not." In re E. D. R., 772 A.2d at 1 160, 

' DCRA did not introduce the actual NOIs into evidence at either hearing. Had DCRA 
done so, the NOIs themselves would have beenprimafacie evidence of the alleged 

I infraction. See 16 DCMR 6 3 10 1.2. 



,,. , quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY.. Thus, the preponderance of evidence standard does 

1 not demand "absolute certainty as a standard of proof." In re E. D. R., 72 A.2d at 1 159. 

Although neither party introduced appellants' approved building plans into 
evidence, DCRA presented at both hearings the testimony of Chief Building Inspector 
Ford, who explained that he was familiar with the approved plans, had observed the work 
on site on the dates in question, and had found that the construction deviated from the 
approved plans (Simon Tr. 29'30; McCoy Tr. 36.) Inspector Ford also testified that 
respondents had promised to submit new plans and to obtain proper permits for the work 
done. (Simon Tr. 5,  19; McCoy Tr. 35.) Both ALJ Simon and Attorney Examiner 
McCoy found Inspector Ford's testimony to be "very credible." The Board finds no basis 
to disturb their findings that the construction at appellants' site deviated from their 
approved plans. See City of Halowell, 629 A.2d at 56 ("what a pennit holder applied for 
and what was approved is a factual determination to be upheld on appeal unless clearly 
erroneous"). 

Appellants deride Inspector Ford's testimony as mere hearsay that did not 
suffice to enable DCRA to meet its burden of proof. Without determining whether all or 
any portion of Inspector Ford's testimony was hearsay, we reject this argument. In 
administrative hearings such as the hearings before the OAD, hearsay testimony is 
admissible and, when other factors suggest its reliability, it need not be supported by 
corroborating non-hearsay evidence. See Martin v. District ofColumbia Firefighters 

. . 
Retirement and ReliefBoard, 532 ~ . 2 d  102 (D.C. 1987). 

>! 
The record supports Attorney Examiner McCoy's finding that appellants 

"offered no evidence to rebut the testimony of Mr. Ford." Appellants not only failed in 
both hearings to rebut DCRA's evidence as to the charged infractions, but, through, the 
testimony of Mr. Gaetan, undermined their own defense. Attorney Examiner McCoy 
observed that Mr. Gaetan's answers to questions about what the approved architectural 
plans called for (McCoy Tr. 97-98) were evasive and not credible. Moreover, although 
photographs of the non-compliant construction proffered by DCRA were not admitted 
into evidence because of appellants' foundational objections, Mr. Gaetan testified that the 
photographs accurately depicted the nature of the construction at the rear of his property. 
(McCoy Tr. 99-100.) That testimony, alongside the testimony of Mr. Ford that the . , 

construction shown in the photographs was not consistent with the approved plans, was 
sufficient for DCRA to meet the preponderance of evidence burden as to the infraction 
charged in NO1 #I 8995. There is no basis to disturb the Attorney Examiner's fully 
supported findings. 

In the hearing before Judge Simon on the other five NOIs, Mr. Gaetan and 
his counsel stressed that what appellants "denied" in their answer was that construciion 
was ongoing at the time District inspectors issued a Stop Work order. (Simon Tr. 9,46.) 
Appellants did not deny that the construction already completed on the infraction dates 
deviated from the approved plans and pe~mit. 
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We hold that the decisions of ALJ Simon and Attorney Examiner McCoy, 

1 that the construction at appellants' site exceeded the scope of their building permit, are 
supported by a preponderance of evidence in the record. 

Appellants were not deprived of due process. Appellants complain that 
they received multiple NOIs for the same conduct and that successive NOIs were written 
before they had been served with the notice(s) relating to the infraction charged on prior 
dates. They note, for example, that the first service date of any of the NOIs in issue was 
August 3, 1999, but that NOIs #18990, #18991, and #I8992 were all written before that 
date. They argue that "numerous Notices of Infraction were written without Respondents 
being notified of any infraction, much less, being given an opportunity to respond," 
Appellants Brief at 6, and that "assessing repetitive fines for the same conduct while, 
simultaneously, failing to hold a hearing is erroneous and violates fundamental due 
process rights." Id. at 7. 

The Board agrees with appellants that it is desirable that NOIs be timely 
served. If a different type of infraction were in issue? or upon a different factual record, 
dismissal of one or more successive NOIs might be warranted. For the reasons discussed 
below, however, the Board finds no violation of due process and no basis for dismissal of 
the NOIs in this case. 

16 DCMR $ 3  101.6 states: 

Unless otherwise prescribed by law, an NO1 shall be issued 
by the Director upon observance of an infraction. When 
applicable provisions of law require that a respondent be 
given a certain period of time to abate a violation, an NO1 
shall. not be issued until that period of time has elapsed. 
[Emphasis added.] 

Appellants have not cited any law and the Board has not identified any law that required 
the District's building inspector to afford a building permit holder an opportunity to abate 
before issuing an NO1 upon observation of construction performed without a permit. 

Further, 12A DCMR 9 116.4 states in pertinent part: 

Any person who shall . . . alter . . . a building or structure in 
violation of an approved plan . . . shall be . . . punishable by 

2 For example, under tire safety code rules, a respondent must be given a notice of 
violation specifying the time allowed for abatement before an NO1 may be issued. See 12 
DCMR 5 F-111.3. 



a fine . . .. Each day a violation continues shall be deemed 
a separate o f fen~e .~  

Since the law did not entitle appellants to a notice to abate their building permit infraction 
before an NO1 could be issued, and because an NO1 could lawfully be issued for each day 
the violation continued, we cannot conclude that the issuance of successive NOIs, before 
appellants had actual notice of the first, was unlawful. Further, because the record 
discloses that appellants knew, from an earlier experience of receiving an NO1 for 
construction beyond the scope of a permit at their property, that non-conforming 
construction presents the risk of a substantial fine (Simon Tx. 14; McCoy Tr. 64); because 
everyone is presumed to know that the law authorizes a fine for each day that a building 
permit violation  continue^;^ and because appellants knew of the building inspector's 
issuance of a Stop Work order at their property that preceded the issuance of the six NOIs 
in question, we perceive no unfair surprise. 

Nor were appellants prejudiced by the delay in service of the NOIs, 
because the time for answering each of the NOIs did not begin to run until the NO1 was 
served. See D.C. Code Am. 6-2712(e). The delay in service did not deprive appellants 
of their opportunity to deny each NO1 and to request a hearing as  to each. 

As to appellants' contention that no additional NOT should have been 
issued before a hearing was held on the first of the six NOIs, we think it was enough that 
appellants had an opportunity to challenge each of the NOIs before being required to pay 
any fine. As one cou~ t  noted in rejecting a similar argument, it is not unfair to 
accumulate civil fines during the time awaiting trial, because the presumption of 
innocence (as to the first cited infraction) does not apply in civil matters. See Vzlluge of 
Sister Bay v. Hockers, 317 N.W. 2d 505, 508 (Wis. Ct. App. 1982). Courts have upheld 
fines imposed daily for a period of years. See id., 3 17 N.W. 2d at 507 (upholding fines 
for each day from the date of the infraction notice until the time of trial, a period of 778 
days); see also People v. Djekich, 280 Cal. Rptr. 824, 829 (Ct. App. Cal. 1991) ("courts 
have long sustained a pyramiding of penalties as a valid means of control"). More 
pertinent to this appeal, District regulations specifically contemplate that multiple fines 
for a civil infractions may be imposed before a hearing is completed on the first fine. See 
16 DCMR 3101.5 c[t]he Director may issue and serve an amended NO1 for a repeat 
infraction at any time prior to the decision of the administrative law judge (ALJ) on the 
infraction"'). 

We find that appellants were not deprived of procedural due process. 
What due process required was that they have an opportunity to be heard before being 

. required to pay any fine. See In re Balsamo, 2001 D.C. App. LEXIS 190 (D.C. 2001) 

-- 

' 12A DCMR 11 6.3 provides that, in the discretion of the Director, the criminal violations 
and penalties described in section 116 may be adjudicated under the Civil Infractions Act 
of 1985 rather than under criminal provisions. 

See Dodson v. Scheve, 339 A. 2d 39,42 (D.C. 1975), cert. denied, 424 U S .  909 (1976). 
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(what is constitutionally required is an opportunity to be heard before deprivation of a 

1 significant property interest). Appellants were heard, as to each of the six infractions. 
Although they complain that the sixth NO1 was tried separately from the others, this 
appears to us to have represented a second chance (to revise their hearing strategy to 
avoid an additional penalty) that went beyond what due process required. 

None of the other grounds for reversal that appellants cite has merit. 
Appellants contend that because Attorney Examiner McCoy did not render his decision 
within 90 days after the hearing as required by 16 DCMR f~ 3 1 13.2 ("a decision in 
writing must be issued within ninety (90) days of the date the hearing is concluded"), his 
decision upholding NO1 #I8995 should be reversed. This argument is without merit. 

Our Court of Appeals has stated many times that agency time deadlines 
such as the 90-day requirement of section 3 1 13.2 are directory, not mandatory. See, e.g., 
Nelson v. District ofColumbiu, 772 A.2d 1154, 1156 (D.C. 2001), and cases cited 
therein. Attorney Examiner McCoy's failure to issue his decision within 90 days does 
not entitle appellants to relief. 

Appellants also argue that Attorney Examiner McCoy erred by failing to 
dismiss NO1 # 18995 when DCRA, on two scheduled hearing dates, appeared without its 
witness and was unable to proceed. We find that this was not a reversible error. 
Attorney Examiner McCoy's decision was akin to a determination to vacate a default 
judgment, which decision is committed to the "sound discretion of the trial court." Clark 

E v. Moler, 418 A. 2d 1039, 1041 (D.C. 1980). Moreover, District law favors adjudications 
on the merits. See Mewborn v. US. Life Credit Corp., 473 A. 2d 389,391 (D.C. 1984). 
Attorney Examiner McCoy's decision states that appellants themselves \yere absent on a 
scheduled date and that Attorney Examiner McCoy subsequently vacated the default 
judgment that he had entered against them. The similar accommodation he made to 
DCRA does not strike us as unfair. 

Now therefore, it is ORDERED this 19th day of September, 2001, that 
the decisions of the OAD with respect to NOIs -#l899O, #18991, #18992, #18993, 
#l8994, and # l 8 9 9 ~  are hereby AFFIRMED; and Appellants are ordered to pay fines 
and costs in the amount of $3,240. 

Phyllis fhornpso~, ~ & a l  ~ i r n b e r ,  Presiding 
Gary hens, Legal  ember 
Joan Schaffner, Public Member 
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BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

AVIS RENT-A-CAR SYSTEMS, INC., 

Appellant, 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND 
REGULATORY AFFAIRS, 

BAR Docket No. 99-5420-CI 
OAD NO. 99-1079-H 
Notice of Infraction No. 31835 

AMENDED FINAL DECISION 
AND ORDER 

This appeal came before Board members Antoinette Barksdale, who presided, and 
James Thorne for oral argument on September 27,2000. Edward Statland, Esq., represented 
Avis Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc. ("Avis"), and Arthur Parker, Esq., of the Office of 
Corporation Counsel represented the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs 
("DCRA"). Board member Barksdale, having resigned from the Board, is unable to render 
a decision. In accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, the panel identified at 
the end of tllis Decision and Order has reviewed the entire record, including the notice of 
infraction, the decision below, all exhibits, and t l~e transcript of the oral argument. The 
parties had 30 days from the date of service of this Proposed Decision and Order to note 
exceptions and 45 days from the date of service of this Proposed Decision and Order to 
respond to any exceptions. On October 29,2001, Avis filed exceptions to the Proposed 
Decision and 0rder.l The DCRA filed no exceptions and no response to the Avis 
exceptions. The Board issued a Final Order and Decision on December 11,2001, which 
contained errors relating to the timeliness of thc Avis exceptions. This Amended Final 
Order and Decision corrects those errors. 

At issue in the appeal is whether Avis is obliged to have a license for the sale of 
gasoline at its rental car operation located at 1722 M Street, Northwest, in the District of 
Columbia pursuant to D.C. Code 5 47-2814(a), and whether Avis had an accurate Certificate 
of Occupancy ("C of 0") for that business operation pursuant to 11.D.C.M.R. 5 3203.1. 

Because of a mailing error, Avis did not promptly receive the December 1 1 t h  Order. 
Accordingly, the Avis exceptions were timely on the date filed. The Board took into 
account the argu.menk set fo rh  111 the Avis exceptions and found them without merit. In 
its filing, Avis requested reconsideration of the proposed decision issued on September 10, 
2001, and additional argument. These requests are hereby denicd. 
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Prior Proceedings 
,' 

1 The Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ"), Rohulamin Quander, Esq., who heard the 
initial appeal on February 9,1999, ruled against the Appellant on both points in an Opinion 
and Order dated July 8,1999. In his Opinion and Order, the ALJ made specific findings of 
facts and conclusions of law, and he lowered the amount of the fine to be paid from $500 
for each violation to $350 for each violation and assessed costs at $40. 

The Notice of Infraction was issued on December 14,1998, by Inspector Ronald 
Johnson of the DCRA, who appeared at the hearing before the ALJ on February 9,1999. 
The notice of infraction had two charges, failure to have a license for selling gasoline and 
failure to have a C of 0. Among other things, Inspector Johnson testified that Avis 
dispensed gasoline from the 1722 M Street location as part of the rental car business and 
that he saw a sign noting that each rental car customer would pay more than two dollars 
per gallon for gasoline that Avis would put into the rental car which the customer returned. 
He also testified that he asked for a valid C of 0 when he made his initial inspection, ,and 
that none could be produced. At the February 9,1999 hearing, counsel for the Appellant 
produced to the ALJ a copy of the C of 0 for the Avis operation at 1722 M Street. That C of 
0 did not include gasohw sales. During the February 9,1999 hearing, the ALJ mentioned 
on the record that he knew that Avis used the second floor of the building as part of its 
business. The Avis C of 0 produced by Appellant mentions only an operation on tlw firs1 
floor of the building. 

Richard LeGrand, district manager for Avis, who testified on behalf of Appel.lmt, 1 did not dispute Inspector J'olmson's testimony with respect to the presence of a C of 0 on 
the date of the inspection. Mr. LeGrand's testimony regarding gasoline indicates that each 
customer can opt to pay a "service fee" for refueling the rented Avis automobiles, either 
before the customer receives the automobile with a full. gas tank or when the automobile is 
returned with less than. a full gas tank. 

Conclusions of law 

Pursuant to D.C. Code 91-1509, Appellant bears the burden to prove that the 
findings of the Attorney Examiner were unsupported by substantial evidence and that his 
conclusions were arbitrary and capricious and not in accordance with the law. See King v. 
Depart-mnf of Ernploymerit Services, 560 A.2d 3.067,1072 (D.C. 1989). In determining whether 
Appellant has met its burden, the panel is guided by two well established principles. First, 
the findings of face of the hearing officer are entitled to great weight. See Iiz re Dwyer, 399 
A.2d 1,12 (D.C. 1979). Tlw evidence introduced at  the hearing before the ALJ regarding the 
payment for gasoline as part of each customer's autom.obile rental is compelling. Clearly, 
customers pay for gasoline at  the Avis rental location on M Skeet. The evidence offered by 
Appellant in refutation, qualiiing the payment as a "service fee," does not effectively 
counter l he  finding of t l~e  ALJ that Avis "offers gasoline for purchase, even if on an 
occasional, low volume, and limited client-directed basis." Accordingly, the panel 
concludes that the Appellant has failed to establish that the findings of the ALJ were 
unsupported by substantial evidence on this point. 
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Inspector Johnson cited Avis for failure to have a C of 0, in violation of 11 D.C.M.R. 
/ 5 3203.1. Based on Inspector Johnson's factual testimony that gasoline sales were taking 

place at the Appellant's operation, the ALJ found that Appellant did not have a C of 0 for 
that activity. Thus, the ALJ's finding was supported by substantial evidence and will not 
be disturbed. 

The second principle that guides the panel is that, when an agency's decision is 
based on an interpretation of the statute it administers, that interpretation will be sustained 
unless shown to be unreasonable or in contravention of the language or the legislative 
lustory of the statute. See Reneau u. District of Columbia, 676 A.2d 913,917 (D.C. 1996); 
Kalorama Heights Limited Partnership u. Department of Consumer and Regulatory Aficiirs, 655 
A.2d 865,868 (D.C. 1995). The relevant statutory provision regarding gasoline sales is D.C. 
Code $47-2814(a), which declares a license to be required of any establishment where 
gasoline is sold. DCRA's interpretation of that statute is not unreasonable or in 
contravention of its language. Accordingly, the Board will not disturb the ALJ's finding 
that the statute does, indeed, apply to Avis. 

Pursuant to 11 D.C.M.R. 9 3203.1, the DCRA has determined that each C of 0 is 
supposed to capture the operation(s) of the business at the premise that the C of 0 covers. 
Inspector Johnson cited Avis for its failure to have a C of 0 that covers all of its operations 
at 1722 M Street. That the ALJ mentioned his personal knowledge of the Appellant's 
operations on the second floor is of no moment- since it is the DCRA's interpretation that 

\ governs. At its worst, it was a harmless error fox the ALJ to include in his opinion a paralld 
fact that did not come from the Inspector through the adjudicative process. Because the 
DCRA's interpretation of the C of 0 regulations is not unreasonable, the Board will not 
disturb the ALJ's finding that Appellant lacked a proper C of 0. 

Conclusion 

The panel deems the Appellee's interpretation of the relevant statute and regulation 
not to be erroneous or inconsistent. We further find that the Appellant has failed to 

The Board notes, however, that certah facts are fair game for judicial notice. See, e.g., Fed. R. 
Evid. 201(b): "A judicially n.oticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is 
either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of 
accurate and ready detertnknation by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be 

: questioned." 
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establish that the ALJ's conclusions that Appellant (1) was selling gasoline without a license 
,/ - 

and (2) lacked a proper C of 0 were arbitrary and capricious or contrary to the law. 
1 

Wherefore it is 

ORDERED that Che appeal be, and hereby is, denied. 

David Marlin 
Phyllis Thompson 

Da.ted: January 8,2002 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

JAMES TAYLOR T U S H  REMOVAL 1 
CONTRACTORS, INC. 1 

apellant , 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AND 
REGULATORY AFFAIRS, 

Appellee. 

) BAR Docket No. 01-5656-CI 
) 

ORDER 

This matter came up before a panel of the Board, at a duly 
scheduled hearing set for 10:OO a.m., Tuesday, January 8, 2002. 

Appellant was represented by Paul L. Pascal, Esq., of Pascal 
& Weiss, P.C. Appellee was represented by Arthur J. Parker, 
Esq., of the Office bf the Corporation Counsel and Laura G i s o l f i  
Gilbert, Esq., of the Appellee's Office of Compliance. 

1 Pre-hearing br iefs  were filed by the parties. 

Statement of the case 

Appellant appeals from the Decision and Order of Attorney 
Examiner Henry W. McCoy, dated January 5, 2001, in which he 
concluded that the Notice of Infraction, dated December 15, 1999, 
and served December 20, 1999, citing Appellant with having 
violated DC Code 556-3452 and 6 - 3 4 5 3 ( a )  and 21 DCMR §§733.1(h) 
and 733.1(a) had been properly issued by the Appellee and that 
Appellant had violated the cited District Code and Municipal 
Regulations provisions and should be fined accordingly. 

By letter dated December 20, 1999, Appellant requested a 
hearing on the De'cember 15, 1999, Notice of Infraction. A 
hearing was held before Attorney Examiner McCoy on March 9, 2000 ,  
and Appellant and Appellee offered witnesses and inrxoduced 
evidence. 

Attorney Examiner McCoy found that Appellant had been 
engaged in the recycling business at 5201 Hayes Street, NE, since 
1989. At the time Appellant occupied the site, no Certificates 
of Occupancy were being issued by Appellee's Zoning Division 
specifically authorizing the conduct of a recycling business, 
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and, upon its application, Appellant, on December 29, 1989, was 
issued a Certificate of Occupancy as a "Warehouse - General 

) Merchandise. " 

Subsequently, on Februaxy 8, 1993, the District's Zoning 
Regulations were amended to require recycling facilities to 
obtain Certificates of Occupancy for recycling. See, 11 DCMR 
53203.1. On November 8, 1993, Appellant was issued a Notice of 
Infraction by Appellee for operating a recycling facility without 
having obtained the requisite Certificate of Occupancy. 
Appellant requested a hearing, and on December 15, 1993, a 
hearing was held before Attorney Examiner Rohulamin Quander. 
Attorney Examiner Quander rendered his Decision and Order on 
December 27, 1993, finding that Appellant was in technical 
violation of 22 DCMR 53203.1, but imposed no fine and waived 
costs. 

Appellant appealed from the Decision and Order of Attorney 
Examiner Quander, and by its Decision and Order, dated March 19, 
1998, in BZA No. 94-0001, m e s  L. Taylor v. DCRA, the Board of 
Zoning Adjustment overturned Attorney Examiner Quander's Decision 
and Order. The Board of Zoning Adjustment held that an 
established undefined and regulated business, such as 
Appellant's, did not become illegal by virtue of the change in 
the District's Zoning ~egulations. Appellant's recycling 
business qualified as a nonconforming use, as defined at 11 DCMR 
S199.1. 

Meanwhile, the Solid-Waste Facility Permit Act of 1995 and 
the Solid Waste Facility Permit Amendment Act of 1998 were 
enacted. &, DC Code 558-1052 and 8-1053 (formerly DC Code 556- 
3452 and 6 - 3 4 5 3 ) .  The implementing regulations appear at 21 DCMR 
5 7 3 3 .  DC Code 58-1052 prohibits the operation of an open waste 
facility in the District. DC Code 58-1053(a) prohibits the 
operation of a solid waste facility without a solid waste 
facility permit. 21 DCMR §733.1(h) requires that at the 
conclusion of a solid waste facility's approved hours of 
operation all solid waste shall be removed from the facility or 
stored inside the facility in enclosed and leak-proof containers 
or cargo areas of vehicles. 21 DCMR §733.1(a) requires 
unenclosed areas of the solid waste facility to be free of solid 
waste and litter. 

Attorney Examiner McCoy found that Investigator Shirley 
Washington of Appellee's Office of Compliance, who testified at 
the hearing before him, had visited Appellant's facility on 
December 15, 1999, inspected the premises and took photographs of 
Appellant's exterior construction and demolition operations. She 
observed that.within the exterior fenced-in yard of Appellant's 
facility there were piles of construction and demolition debris 
and Lhat the trucks which brought construction and demolition 
debris for dumping at the facility imbedded such debris in the 
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ground. She also noted waste and litter in and about Appellant's 
site. Investigator Washington returned to Appellant's facility 

j on March 7 , 2000, and observed generally the same conditions. 

Issues raised on appeal 

Appellant does not deny, as Attorney Examiner McCoy had 
found in his Decision and Order, that Appellant conducts a 
recycling operation inside the building at the 5201 Hayes Street, 
NE, address and a construction and demolition operation outside 
in a fenced-in yard. Appellant does not dispute that 
construction and demolition debris is brought to its faciliLy by 
trucks which dump it in the fenced-in yard, where it remains in 
piles awaiting processing. Appellant does contest that 
construction and demolition debris is solid waste or that 
Appellant does not have a permit authorizing the operation of a 
solid waste facility. 

It is Appellant's contention that the provisions of the 
Solid Waste Facility Permit Act, as amended, are inapplicable to 
it and that Appellant's construction and demolition operation 
comes within the nonconforming use allowed it under its 1989 
Certificate of Occupancy. 

We have reviewed the transcript of the testimony of 
Appellant's President, Mr. James L. Taylor, at the hearing on 
December 15, 1993, before Attorney Examiner Quander, Attorney 
Examiner Quander's Decision and Order, dated December 2 7 ,  1993, 

) and the Decision and Order of the Board of Zoning Adjustment in 
' BZA No. 94-0001, James L. Taylor v. DCRA, dated March 19, 1998, 

and we are unable to find anything in these indicating that 
Appellant was conducting a ,construction and demotion operation 
prior to 1993 or suggesting that Appellant's construction and 
demolition operation was recognized as a nonconforming use of its 
1989 Certificate of Occupancy. To the contrary, these refer to 
Appellant's recycling operation, and the nonconforming use which 
was deemed lawful by the Board of Zoning Adjustment was 
Appellant's recycling operation. 

Appellant notes that Mr. Willie Goode of Goode' Trash 
Removal, Inc., and Mr. Clarence Miller of Palmetto Refuse, Inc., 
testified on its behalf at the hearing before Attorney Examiner 
McCoy, stating that they had begun bringing construction and 
demolition debris to Appellant's facility as early as 1989. 
Appellant's Recycling and Tonnage Reports for the years 1991 and 
1992, introduced by Appellee, however, show that Appellant 
processed no construction or demotion materials at the time. 

Even assuming arguendo.that Appellant's 1989 Certificate of 
Occupancy enabled it to conduct construction and demolition 
operations at the 5201 Hayes Street, NE, address, that would not 
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absolve Appellant of the need for complying with the provisions 
of the Solid Waste Facility Permit Act, as amended. DC Code 56- 
641.11 and 11 DCMR §I01 permit of no doubt that the District's 
Zoning Regulations do not foreclose the application of 
subsequently enacted laws or adopted regulations which impose 
higher standards. The 1989 Certificate of Occupancy, even when 
read in a light most favorable to Appellant, would not absolve 
it, for example, from the after-hours storage of construction and 
demolition debris in enclosed and leak-proof containers or cargo 
areas of vehicles. 

Appellant refers to the Solid Waste Facility Permit Act, as 
amended, as simply an indirect means of imposing a zoning 
requirement. We, however, view the Solid Waste Facility Permit 
Act, as amended, as a regulatory enactment, in the view of the 
Appellee adopted in the exercise of the District's police powers, 
and note that the legislation is codified in Chapter 8 of the DC 
Code, Environmental and Animal Control and Protection, whereas 
the District's Zoning Regulations are set out in Chapter 6 of the 
DC Code, Zoning and Height of Buildings. Appellant further 
contends that the Solid Waste Facility Permit Act, as amended, 
imposes requirements which cannot be met, as, for example, its 
set back requirements. Appellant has not been cited for having 
violated those provisions of the Act, and they are not involved 
in the instant appeal. We note, however, that, at the time of 
the hearing before us, counsel for Appellant acknowledged that 
Appellant has not asked for a variance or otherwise sought relief 
from those provisions of the Act, 

Finally, Appellant maintains that the 1998 amendment of the 
Solid Waste Facility permit Act, clarifying what constituted 
solid waste, was enacted after the June 30, 1995, date by which 
as an existing solid waste facility, it would have had to apply 
for a solid waste facility permit. The provisions of 8 DC Code 
§1053(e), however, enable one to apply for a solid waste facility 
permit at any time. 

We have considered Appellant's other arguments on appeal but 
deem them to be unpersuasive. 

Conclusions 

There is a presumption of correctness of an agency's 
decision, and the burden of demonstrating error is upon the party 
appealing therefrom. Cooper v. Department of Employment 
Services, 588 A . 2 d  1172, 1174 (D.C. 1991). Our task is limited 
to determining whether the findings and conclusion in the 
Decision and Order of Attorney Examiner McCoy are supported by 
substantial evidence and are in accordance with the law. Kins v. 

nt Services, 560 A . 2 d  1067, 1 0 7 2 ,  1967  
(D.C. 1989). 
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The fact findings of a hearing officer are'entitled to great 
weight; for he is in the best position to observe the demeanor of 
the witnesses. Santos v. Deaartment of Emgloynent S~rvices, 536 
A.2d 1085, 1089 (D.C. 1988). His findings of fact, however, must 
be supported by substantial evidence, which is more than a mere 
scintilla. Substantial evidence means such relevant evidence as 
a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a 
conclusion. Kina v. Denarbent of Employment Services, supra, 
560 A . 2 d  at 1072. 

A hearing officer's conclusions of law must flow rationally 
from his findings. w e a u  v. District of Columbia, 676 A . 2 d  913, 
917 ( D ,  C. 1996). His interpretation of the statute of the 
agency which administers it must be upheld by us as long as that 
interpretation is reasonable and not plainly wrong or 
inconsistent with its legislative purpose. D.C* Preservation 
0 f 'r , 711 A.2d 
1273, 1275 (D.C. 1998); Coumaris v. Alcoholic Beverase Control 
Board, 660 A.2d 896, 899 (D.C. 1995). 

Applying these standards governing the scope of our review, 
we hold that the findings and conclusions in the Decision and 
Order of Attorney Examiner McCoy were supported by substantial 
evidence and were in accordance with the law. Wherefore, 

IT IS ORDERED That the appeal be, and it is hereby, denied. 

D a t e d :  January 2 2 ,  2002  
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DECISION AlVD ORDER 

Appellant Gold Line, hc. ("Gold Line") challenges a Jannaty 3 1,2001 decision 
by the  D e p m e n t  of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs C'DCRA") Office of 
Adjudication ("OAZ)"), upholding a fine imposed on Gold Line for violation of the 
engine idling regulation found at 20 DcMR 3 900.1. Board members David H. Marlin, 
Brian K. Flowers, and Phyllis D. Thompson heard oral argument in this matter on 
December 10,2001. Scott M. Zimmeman, Esq., argued the case for appellant. Leslie H. 
Nelson, Esq., of the Office of Corporation Counsel, argued the case for appellee. 

The Board has reviewed the record and considered the arguments presented in the 

parties' briefs and at oral argument. We conclude, contrary to Gold Line" contention, 
that federal law did not preempt the application of 20 DCMR Q 900.1 at ishe in tbis case- 
We dso candude, however, that the factual record does not support tbe finding of an 
inhctioxl. We therefore reverse the OAD decision and dismiss Notice of Infraction 
("VOI") No. 19373. 

Factual and Regulatory Background 

The record establishes that D.C, Department of Health Islspe~tor Abraham T. 
~ a g o s  issued NO1 19373, assessing a fine of $500 against Gold Line for an alleged 
violation that occurred on June 2,1999. At a hearing bdore OAD Attorney Examiner E, 
Savannah Little on September 13,1999, Insqector Hagos testXed that he observed a 
Gold Line bus idling its engine while parked at 400 Constitution Avenue, N.W. for a 
period of ten minutes. Inspector Hagos testified that he visually inspected the bus and 
found tlm no passengers were on it. He cited the driver for a violation of 20 DCMR 5 
9OO.l .  



. . 
Prior to its rivision that basme effective October 7, 1999: section 900.1 

provided as foll~ws: 
. . .  

900.1. The engine of a gasoline or diesel powered motor 
vehicle, including private passenger vehicles, on public or 
private apace shall not idle for more than three (3) miriutes 
while h e  motor vehicle is parked, stopped or .standing, 
except as follows: 

(a) TO operate power takeoff equipment such as, but not 
Limited, to, dumping, cement mixers, refrigeration systems, 
content delivery, winches, or shraddexsj 

@) To operate for fifieen (1 5) minutes air wT.lditioning 
equipment on buses with an occupancy of twelve (12) or 
more persons; and 

(c) To operate heating equipment when the local 
temperatwe is thidy-two degrees Fahrenheit (32 [degmes] 
F.) or balow. 

I 
The driver of the Gold Line bus did not appear at the OAD hearing but Gold Line 

submitted his notarized statemen\ in which he asserted that, at the time of the alleged 
hfractioq, he was stopped at a red light near the intersection of Fourth Street and 
Constitution Avenue, N.W., while en route to apalcing garage- He denied idling. 

Gold Line presented testimony at the hearing to the effect that its buses must idla 
for at least four or five minutes after their engines are started for proper air brake 
opmtion, and for an even longer period for the bus air conditioning system to reach a 
comfortable temperatme dwing hot weather, such as occurred on June 2,1999, Gold 
Line argued that application of section 900.1 to penalize Gold L ~ G  because its bus idled 
for more than three minutes is inconsistent with a federal regulation (49 C.F.R $ 393.52) 
thnt requires motor carriers to rnhtaitl properly operating brakes anda federal statute 
(49 U-S.C. 4 141. OX (a)) that requires motor carriers to provide safe and adequate 
equipment and facilities for passengers. Gold Line asked the OAD to rule that 
application of the idling regulation therefore was preempted by federal law. 

OAD Attorney Examiner E. Savannah Little ruled that the OAD had no authority 
to consider Gold Line's preemption claim. She reasoned that the "adjudication of the 
comtit~tiondity o f a  statute or rizgul&ion" is cLbsyand the Surisdiction of OAD." 
Attorney Examiner Little farther noted that 16 DCMR 5 3 10 1.2 provides that a "properly 
completed NO1 signed by the issuing agent shall be prima facie evidcnce of the validity 

' See the Motor Vehicle Ex~arsive Idling Fine Increase Amendment Act of 1999, 
effective October 7, 1999 (D.C. Law 13-35; 46 DCR 6017). 
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, . 

of tho issuaace &d the truth of the facts alleged in the NOI." She found that the evidence, 
offered by Odd Line was not suffi~ient to rebut the govemm~nt's prima facie case of a 
violation of 20 DCMR 900.1 established throughNOI19373. She upheld the fure of 
$500 and imposed on Gold Line costs of  $40. 

On appeal, Gold Line again argues that as applied in this case,'20 DCMR $ g&.l-. 
was preempted by federal law. 

Analysis 

The OAD dechod .to rule on thc preemption issue on the gomd that such a 
ruling would amount to a mling on the constitutionality of 20 DCMR 9 9W.1. The ~ o a r d  
disdgrccs. A dctefmiuation that application of a regulation is preempted by federal law is 
nor equivalent to a d i n g  that the regulation is unconstitutional- See N3@? v. Wickham, 
3 82 U,S. 11 1 ,, 120 (1965) (in cases in which it is alleged that a state regulation, conflicts 
wid and thus is pe-empted by a federal statute or regulation, the basic question involved 
is not one of interpketing the federal constitution, but one of comparing two statutes). 
The OAD correctly recognized that it is without authority to declare a Council regulation 
invalid- See Archer v. District of Columbia Dep't of Human Resources, 375 A.2d 523, 
526 (D.C. 1977). However, as counsel for Gold Line acbowledged at oral argument, 
Gold L i e  does not seek a ruling that section 900.1 was invalid, but instead a ruling tha& 
on the facts of this case, application of section 900.1 ~ & ~ r e e r n ~ * d b ~  federal-law. 
Given the facts of this case, we need not mle on the qmstion of whether the OAD could 
refuse to enforce a regulation on preemption grounds, because we condude that as 
,applied in this case, 20 DCMR 9 900.1 was not preempted. 

Where there is a con£lict between State law and preeminent federal law, State law 
i s  nullified only "to the. extent it actually conflicts with federal law-" Goudreau v. 
Standard Federal Savings d Loan Association, 5 1 1 A-2d 3 86,3 89 (D.C. 19 86). 
Testimony by Gold Line witnesses at the hearing before the OAD was to the effect that 
idling a bus engine for up to five minutes before driving may be necessary for operation 
of the air braking system at a level of functionality that complies with federal law. Gold 
Lime's experts also testified that a longer period of idling (perhaps 20 to 30 mimtes) may 
be necessary to achieve an air temperature for passengers that meets federal standards of 
"s&e and adequate" motor canier operation. h light of such testimony, a finding of 
preemption might be appropriate had the evidence also established fhat Gold Line was 
fined for idling i t s  bus engine for more than three or four minutes at a t h e  when the bus 
was about to be placed in operation. Likewise, a kd;ng of preemption at least =@ably 
would be appropriate if the evidence had established in addition that the fine was 
imposed for engine idling that took place within 20 to 30 minutes of the time that the 
Gold Line bus was scheduled to pick up passengers, whosc safety necessitated a habitable 
temperature inside the bus, The problem with Gold Line's preemption argument is that 
there was no such additional evidence presented in this case. 
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For purposes of appeal, Gold Line docs not take issue with the testimony of. , 
lns$e~tor Hagos that the bus was parked and was fined after it had idled for ten minutes. 

it is mdi3puted.that the applica60n of section 900.1 in this case did not entail a fine . . , , 

for idling for mom than three or four minutes, but instead a frae for idling for more than 1 .. . , 
. . 

ten minutee -- much more time than apparently was needed to comply \rith federal brdce- . . 

sa6e:ty requirements. In short., this appzication of section 900.1 was not inconsidtent with , , 

the federal regulation on which Odd Line relies. Nor did Gold Lint establish tk$ . . 
I 

lnspec>or Hagos's application of section 900.1 was inconsistcm with what was at least . 

. 

arguably a requirement, arising under federal statuk, for the bus engine to idle for 20 to 
30 minutes in order for the bus to cool sufficiently bafore admi~in.g passengers. No . , 

testimony or other evidence astablished that the Gold Line bus driver intended to accept 
passengers within 20 to 30 minutes of the time that Inspector Hagos first noticed that the 
bus was idling. 

I . . . -  

In sum, there was no evidence that section 900.1 was applied in such a manner 
that Gold Line was fined for activity in which its bus was required to be engaged at the 

. . time Inspector Hagos observed it, in order to comply with federal: law. Accordingly, we . 

rule that that the application of 20 DCMR 9 900.1. at issue in this case was not preempted 
by federal law. 

I We neverthcloss conclude, on two gounds, that the NO1 must be dismissed. 

First, although 20 DCMR § 900.1 generally prohibits a gasoline-powered motor 
vehicle h m  idling from more than three minutes, the version of the regulation that was 
in effect in June, 1999 contained a number of exceptions, including the exception, 
described in paragraph 900.1@), Yo operate for fifteen (15) minutes air conditioning 
equipment on buses with an occupancy of twelve (12) or more persons.'' hpector 
Hngos's testinmny before the OAD appears to indicate that the inspector sought to 
ascertain whether the paragraph 900.l(b) exception was applicable. He testified that the 
outside temperature on the date in question was more than 90 degrees, suggesting that the 
bus would have needed ait conditioning for passenger comfort- OAD Hearing Transcript 
at 44, He testified W e r  to his understanding that buses "are allowed to idle mom than 
15 minutes if they have 12 or more passengem in the bus? Id at 26. He also tetdifid 
that he. got out of his car and '%vent around the bus to get t he  information" about the 
number of passengers on the bus. Id. at 31-32. Inspector Hagos apparently assumed, or 
was satisfied, that the "to operate air conditioning" criterion of paragraph 900.1 @) was 
met, It appears that he wrote NO1 19373 upon determining that the 12-or-more-persons 
criterion was not met because there were no pasengers on the bus. 

However, as the Board reads the version of paragraph 900.1@) that was in effect 
at the relevant time, the exception to the threeminute idling limit that it established 
applied to buses that had a passenger capacity of 12 or more persons. That is, w e  read the 
term "occupancy" as used in paragraph 900.1 (b) to mean "passenger capacity" rather 
than "passenger load," so that thc exception permitted a bus with a passenger capacity o f  
12 or more to idle for 15 minutes to operate its air conditioning (irrespective of the 
number of passengers actually on the bus). We believe this i s  the more logical reading, 
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) because aa exception that would have pemitkd idling fa; 15 minutes to operate sir. , 

. . . , 

co*ditioning only if 12 ormore passengers are. on a bus wodd -- mewonably we 
believe -,have precluded a bus operator from idling the bus engine to achieve a , , , 

. con~orbblle air temperature for psssengers about to board the bus? 
, , 

amendment that the Council of tho Distdd of CdUmbia made to section 
900.1 in ~uly  1999, which becgmc effective on Ootober 7,1999, supports th Board's 
inteqreta.ti.~n. The Council repealed the exception fomaly contained in paragraph 
900.l(b) and amended section 900.1 to state that, subjwt to a number of exceptions, 
*[t$he enginB of a gasoline or diovel powered motor vehicle, . . . including buses with a 
searing capaciw of twelve (12) or morepersom, - . . shall not idle for more than three (3) 
minutes while the mator vehicle is parked, stopped, or stmding, including for the purpose 
of operating air conditioning equipnrent in those vehicles . . .. " 46 DCR at 6018 (italics 
added). The italicized language appears to reflect the spec;ific intent of the C~u11.d to 
repeal the exception to the three-minute idling limit described in fomm paragraph 
900.1(b)- If that is correct, lken the italicized language means that the Council 
understood the reference in former paragraph 900.l(b) to "buses with an occupancy of 
twelve (12) or more persons'' to mean buses with a saathg capacity of 12 or more. Also, 
at the hearing held by the Council on this legislation, the administrator of the agency 
vested with the authority to enforce the regulatiom stated that the regulations provide 
exemptions fox " . . the operation of air conditioning equipment on buses with a 
capacity of 12 pexsons or more . . _." Thus, the subsequent legislative history p~ovides 
additional support far the Board's reading. 

I 
1 

If our reading is the correct readbig of former paragraph ?OO.l(b), Inspector 
Hagos was not entitled to find a violation by Gold Line upon observing that there were no 
passepgers actually on the bus in question. It appears that a violation would have 
accutred if tbe bus had idled its engine for more than 15 d u f e s ,  but Inspector Hagos did 
not testify that he observed the Gold Lie  bus idling for more than 15 minutes. We find, 
therefore, that the evidence in the record i s  not sufficient to sustain a finding that Gotd 

- Line violated the engine idling regulation. 

Moreover, contrary to the OADqs statement that NO1 19373 was prima facie 
evidence: of the infraction alleged, the Boqd notes that the line that the inspector was to- 
fill in to describe the ''Nature of 1nfraction'"as left blank. This omission was 
. ~p - 

AS discus9ed in the text that follows, the Board i s  awak that the Council now has 
eliminated the "to operate air conditioning" exception in its entirety because of cdncem . 
about air pollution. But that does not undermine the Board's analysis of the reasonable 
meaning that must be attributed to the exception as it existed at the time NO1 No. 19873 
was issued. 

3 See testimony of Ted Gordon;Deputy Director of Health for Environmental He&, for 
the Department of Health, on Bill 13-38; the Motor Vehicle Excessive Idling Fine 
Increase Amendment Act of 1999, at 8. R 9 0 a  o f  the Committee on Public Works and 
the Environment on Bill 13-58, the Motor Velicle Excessive Idling Fine Increase Act of 
1999 (Council of the District of Columbia March 16, 1999). 



inconsistent with the requirements of the Department of Consumer and Regulatory 
Affairs Civil Infractios Act of lBXS, D.C. Code Ann. 9 6-2701 et seq., which establishes 
specif~c: requirements for NOIs. Inter alh, each NO1 must contain the name and address 
of the respondent; a citation of the law or regulations alleged to have been violated; the 
nature, time and place of the infraction, and the amount of the hne applicable to the 
inhction. See D.C. Code Ana §§ 6-271 1 @)(I), (2), (3), and (5). Furthermore, section 
6-271 1 (c) states: 

If an administrative law judge or attorney examiner 
determines that a notioc of f i c t i o n  is defective on its 
face, the administrative law judge or attorney examher 
shaU enter an order dismissing the notice of infraction and 
shall promptly notify the respondent. 

As an alternative basis for our ruling kt this case, the Board finds that NO1 No. 19373 
was defective on its face because the nature of the Mmction was not stated For that 
reason, the NO1 should havebeen dismissed by the Attorney-Examiner- 

ORDER 

Now therefore, it is OIRDEKED this 6th day of February, 2022, that the 
OAD decision on NO1 19373 is REVEIRSED and NO1 19373 hereby is dismissed. 

David H. ~ a r l &  Legal Member 
Brian K. Flowers, District Member 
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DECISION AND ORDER 

This appeal requires tbo Boards fim intapmation of the District% bwimss saliaitaEion law, as 
well ar a determitllltian ofwheh the decision of Administrative Law Judge Larmx 3. Simon is 
nrppatod by subsWaZ evidmoe. We held onl argument on February 20,2002. Appellant ma 
mprescnted by Man! S. Mosbwitz, Esq; the govammnt's repmmtative Assistant 
Cotporntion Camel Brenda Walls. 

At issue is tho propriety of an cnforccmetrt Mion mmmenced by the Depatment o f f  onsmer 
and Regulatov Affairs @CRA), appellee, afla a homeowner comp1ained in August 1999 h u t  
the performance of  a roo@ contractor she bad engaged. DCRA investigated in July 2000 and 
the Notice ofhihction refem~ed above was sewed on Novemlm 6,2000. Appellant was cited 
for four separate i M o n s ,  each cdling for a finc of $500, as follows: 

(1) the solicitation by L&M Contracting, h c  (LtSM), appellant, of a mntadt to perform mf 
repah at the home of Ruth E. Arzonetti, 244-1 Ith Street, NE., without L&M possessing a valid 
home hproverxlent business solicitors' license, a violation of47 D. C. Code 8 2835; 

(2) the solicitmrtion of the same conhact by L W S  president Drrvid B. Lindeman although he 
did not possess a home imptovmcnt salamatlls license at the time, a violation also of 47 D. C ,  
Code 8 2835; 

(3) the performance of toof repairs st the 1 Ith Street address without a cowtnrction pMmit, a 
violation of D. C. Code g 5426 ; aad 

(4) the failure of L&M to have a certificate of occupw (C of 0) for the location of the 
office at which it conducted its business, a violation of 1 1 DCMR 8 3203.1. 

' 

Judge Simon held a mtesttd h w i g  on January 16,2001. Mr, Lhdeman represeated L&M; 
Vicki Whitmire, Eq., an investigator, appaared far DCRA. Jud e Simon held on hhwh 12, 
'2001, that L&M was licensed to conduct business in D.C. at 192 % -9th Stre& N.W. but was not 
licensed to solicit or to eonduct a home improvement businera at 7559 Alaska Aveme, N.W.; 
that Mr. Lindeman, acting for L&M, solicited a home improvement contract without a vdid 
salesman's license; that. L&M had begun roofing rqxtirs at Ms. Arzonetti's house without a 
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, . wnhwtion -it; and b i t  LBM did not possess the requircd C af 0 for tbe offiw at 7559 
Alaska Avenue it used 0 solicit business. Appellrnt was held, 1Ulc on dl fow aitatIm~ md 
fined $500 fa aoh. We wnscoutinly analyze eaoh holding of liability, all of which wars. 
appded on April 16,2001, 

l)Soliaiting by L&M. Solicitation of business in tho~istrid is governed by D. C. Ccds 8 47- 
2835, wbich ~~ my " p e m "  (a busineg~ tinn or an individual) who offbs to perforin 
rep in  a prwide ~rtnin annmaoid servioer to apply for and ndivo r solicitds licmrc. 
Liocmae applioants must pwide their address and supply a perfonmame bond LBM doas not 
dispute that it submitted a written pmposll to repair hb. Arzonettils mf and tbet its owuring 
1ettM and the proposal itself, dated August 10,1999, listed 7559 Alaska Avenue, N.W. as L W s  
business aldres. Fwther, appllant oonoeda it did not have vb bmhess licca~e issued by the 
Diaria for the Alaska Anrms address at the time of the solicitation. LBM msintnins, bowlever, 
that licensing waa unneeded ai Alaska Avmuo became its busin-8 office wap loaded at 1923- 
9th Sireet, N. W., B 1-tioa used to stmc room muai4 for which purpose it had bees issued a 
cmt.ii3cate of owupa~y (C of 0) by E R 4 .  

The noad makes a lar  that Mr. L i n d e m  resides at 7559 A l h  Avmue, N.W. and used 
his home as anoffice and its address on LQM's 1- in order to rolioit business. In short, 
L M s  business &hiss, for potmtial customers such as Ms. Anmetti, was 7559 Alaska 
Avenue, N. W, 

L a  w e ,  at trial on appwd, misinterprets the intent of the Disaids salicitation law. Its 
p- is to protect pmpztivt consumers o f  services, is., pfsom who are app~wbd md 
solicited BP cwtomar, from fraud ancl misrepmsatatioa. Solicitors ats required to vovide thdr 
busisers addruss to IXM in order to obtain a license. This registration policy pr~vi&s 
regulatog officials the details needed to contact soliciton if necessary in order to enfbm 
I>istrict law. As important, it ptrmiits comumers to a-h govment  official with the nemc 
of a solicitor if the sddtess is unknown or is misrepresented. The evidence adduced at the 
hearing proves that L&M did not possess a solicibfs license for the Alrrska Avenue address thak 
was us4 to solicit Ms. Amnetti's business. was a vidation of D.C. Code 47-2835 and the 
$500 a e  levied by Judge Simon is upheld. We note the m1katablished princip1e that a 
reviewing body "must give weight to any reasonable c o n s d o n  af a regubry s t a m  that has 
been adopted by the ageacy charged with its enfoment" aad "unless the agency's 
intmptation is plrrinly wrong or inconsistmt with the statute," the intapretation d l  be 
sustained "even if b r e  are other wnstructions which may be equally re~onable." National 
-Mc Sw. w. ~f wd~yment  Scrvim, 509 A 2d 618,620 @.C. 1998). 

(2) Saliciting by LBtM President David B. Lindmm. Mr. L i n m  stated at the contested 
hearing on January 16,2001 that he did not possess a home improwznent salesman's license on 
A u p t  10,1999, as required by law, aad did not contest this ~harge. He did place into evidence 
a c q y  of a DCRA license for calendar year 2000 issued to him as a home improvment 
salesman for L8tM (Go* Ex. 13). On appeaZ he now challengss lhe $500 fiae by maintaining 
he was mistaken and was in fad licensed on that date. His counseb Mr. Moskowitz, submitted in 
appellants brid(Ex.3) a printout purporting to be a horn impn,vcment license for Mr. 
Lindman covering 1999 and mgwd this is p f  Mr. Meman was licensed at that t h e .  
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: \  Pitst, we note tht  the W o n  mticc wss savsd on November 6,2000, more than two months 
bcfom the contested hearing was held on January 16,2001. Mr. L- themfm, had m p k  
aotioe: before thc date of the haring ttut fhem was a need to poduoo evidence mlFuting this 
dlcged violation or he could be held liable. Secondly, the Bow& in dewing  the p a l  ofa 
contested case, may not hold an evidentiary hearing but must oondu~t i& review on the record 
submitted 1 E M R  8 510efseq. WecanaotjudgethecredibfiQ orreliability ofthc 
evidtncc now offered on appeal but note, on the surface, it fds below the buden of p f  
appeUatlt must meet 'Ihat evidence should b e  been submithi to DCRA's OfEcc of 
A@~dic~cticm at the tima of the amtested hearing, or should have been the subject of a d o n  for 
ft~alclsidmtiofi We dfum thfs violation. 

(3) C.mstructing without a permit- A contractor is required to have obtained a consbudon 
permit priof to the time work begins, as mandated by D.C. Codt $5426. Judge Simon 
ooncluded as a matter of hw tbat LBtM pcrhmd roof repaits "without obtsbhg a consttrudion 
mf * but failed to make s dirccrt detailed fmding of fact of w b  the roofing work at Ms. 
Aru,mttlls house actually l q a a  Our examhadm of the record abw that L&M was issued 
Building Permit I3424944 to rspair Ms. Arzonetti"s roof an Fdmmy 28,2000 (Appellant's Ex+ 
6). Ms. Atzonetti's complaint 1- (Wt Ex. I), the source of DCWs invdgatioq states 
scaffolding ww erected in Pebrvary and the "project started t h e  weeks latar." The conttact 
with MEc. Armnetti called for the work to begin on or before F&fuary 15 (Gov't. Ex. 9). The 
most dirtct evidence in the record is L W s  invoice dated April 29,2000; which listed 
'Carpentry on built-in gutters," priced at $4,820.00, occunhg m e e n  February 15-24 (Gov't 
Ex. 4). We believe these flrtcts prods by DCRA M U  the qrrircments of the D.C. 
Administrative Procedures Act, D.C. Arm. 4 1-1501 et s q ,  

(4) Failure to use a business office witbout a d a t e  of o c ~ u p c y ,  11 DCMR 53203.1 
forbids the use of a stttlcaue for "any purpose other than a one-fdly d d i n g "  without a C of 
0. It is undisputed that appellant hsd not obtained a C of 0 for 7559 Alaska Avenue, N,W. 
Obtaining a C of 0 for the 9th Slreet storage fsrcility is not relevant to the issue of L W s  legal 
responsibility to obtain a certificate for Alaska Avenue, We afhrm. 

I Pisally, appellant argue the fines imposed are excessive and seeks their reductioa The Bod's  
rcguhtiois, howcvm, (a 1 DCMR 8 5 12.4) psohi'bit mdfyinS monetary sanctions it the fines 
are within legal limitations. Appellant did not meet that butdtn of proof. 

I THEREFORE, this 3 4  of Apil2002, we APFIRM fudge Simon's decision of liability is 
all respccts and DENY the appcal. 
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DECISION AND ORDER 

Appellant Waste Management of Maryland, Inc. ("Waste Management") 
challenges three decisions by the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs 
("DCFU") Office of Adjudication ("OAD"), upholding notices of infraction ~NOIs") 
issued to Waste Management. The NOIs charged Waste Management with violations of 
the air pollution control regulations found at 20 DCMR 5 5 lO7.l,202.2(b), and 903.1. 

BAR Docket No. 99-5374 is an appeal from an OAD decision by Administrative 
Law Judge ("ALJ") Rohulamin Quander dated January 21,1999, upholding NOIs 
029538,029539 and 029541. BAR Docket No. 99-541 6 is an appeal from an OAD 
decision by ALJ Quander dated June 14,1999, upholding NOIs 036853,036854 and 
036855. BAR Docket No. 00-5576 is an appeal from an OAD Decision by ALJ Lmnox 
Simon dated May 3 1,2000, upholding NO1 045646. By order dated May 14,200 1, 
Board Chairman David H. Marlin ordered consolidation of the three appeals, which raise 
several common issues. 
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Board member Antoinette Barksdale, who is no longer with the Board, chaired a 
Board panel that heard oral argument in Docket Nos. 99-5374 and 99-5416 on July 20, 
2000. Board members Gary L. Ivens, Brian K. Flowers, and Phyllis D. Thompson ("the 
January 15,2002 Board panel") heard oral argument in Docket No. 00-5576 on January 
15,2002. At both arguments, Mary Carolyn Brown, Esq., argued the case for appellant 
and Arthur Parker, Esq., of the Office of Corporation Counsel, argued the case for 
appellee. 

The Board initially issued a Proposed Decision and Order and afforded the parties 
an opportunity to note exceptions. Waste Management submitted its "Exceptions to 
Proposed Decision and Order" on May 17,2002. 

Having read the briefs and reviewed the records in each of the three appeals, 
reviewed the transcript of oral argument in Docket Nos. 99-5374 and 99-5416, 
considered the oral argument in'Docket No. 00-5576, and considered Waste 
Management's exceptions to the Proposed Decision and Order, the Board now issues its 
decision in all three appeals, as follows. 

Factual and Regulatory Background 

The record discloses the following facts. Waste Management operates a solid 
waste transfer station at 21 60 Queens Chapel Road, N.E. The transfer station is a'facility 
where short-haul garbage trucks bring commercial non-hazardous waste to be transferred 
to larger tractor-trailers for fmal disposition outside the District. 

The Waste Management transfer station is located in a heavy commercial/light 
industrial district zoned "C-M." The zone boundary line nearest to the Waste 
Management transfer station is the boundary of a residential district that is approximately 
300 feet away. 

During the time periods covered, by these appeals, the Waste Management transfm 
station had three odor abatement machines, each of which utilizes carbon filters and pre- 
filters to filter out odor. The equipment must be turned off to change the filters. A 
"Magnehelic .gaugeM indicates when the filters should be changed. 

During March,l 998, the District of Columbia Department of Health Air Quality 
Office of Compliance ("DOH) issued a permit to Waste Management for operation of its 
odor abatement equipment. The permit, which DOH issued pursuant to 20 DCMR 200, 
contains several stated conditions, including a general requirement that the transfer 
station be operated in compliance with the applicable air pollution control requirements 
of 20 DCMR. 

20 DCMR Part 200 contains the District's air pollution control regulations. 20 
DCMR § 903.1 provides as follows: 



MAY 2 1 2004 

An emission into the atmosphere of odorous or other air 
pollutants from any source in any quantity and of any 
characteristic, and duration which is, or is likely to be 
injurious to the public health or welfare, or which interferes 
with the reasonable enjoyment of life and property is 
prohibited. 

20 DCMR 5 107.1 provides that 

The devices or practices provided for the control of air 
pollutants discharged from stationary sources, or otherwise 
complying with the law, shall remain operative or effective, 
and shall not be removed. 

Docket No. 99-5374: On May 19, June 2 and July 9,1998, DOH Air Quality 
Inspector Babatunde Adebona conducted inspections at the Waste Marygement transfer 
station. Inspector Adebona conducted his May 19 inspection after DOH received a 
complaint about odors horn a commercial ofice in the vicinity of the transfer station. At 
the site, Inspector-Adebona smelled an unpleasant odor of rotting garbage in the air and 
determined that the source of the odor was .the transfer station. Inside the transfer station, 
he observed that unit #3 of the odor abatement equipment had a gauge reading of over 3.0 
inches of water pressure. The permit issued to Waste Management for operation of its 
odor abatement equipment states, as condition 5, that the equipment "must be properly 
maintained and operated in accordance with the recommendations of the xnanufacturer. 
Proper operation is demonstrated when the Magnehelic gauge on the filter panel displays 
a static pressure of no greater than 2-75" [inches] water gauge. " On the basis of his 
observation of the gauge reading in excess of 3 inches of pressure and his observation 
that the unit #3 filters were blocked with dirt and debris, Inspector Adebona issued NO1 
029538. The NO1 charged Waste Management with emitting odorous air pollutants in 
violation of section 20 DCMR 5 903.1, and with failing to comply with (unspecified) 
permit conditions, which the NO1 stated was a violation of 20 DCMR $ 202.2(b).' 

On June 2, upon conducting what he described as a "multimedia" inspection, 
Inspector Adebona smelled an unpleasant odor of rotting garbage in the air near the 
transfer station and observed that the transfer station's odor abatement equipment unit #2 
had a reading of zero even though it was turned on. The inspector concluded that the 
equipment was not operating properly. He also learned that the facility's air deodorizer 
was broken, On the basis of his inspection, Inspector Adebona issued NO1 29539, 
charging Waste Management with emitting odorous air pollutants in violation of section 
20 DCMR 3 903.1, and with failing to comply with (unspecified) permit conditions, in 
violation of 20 DCMR 5 202.2(b). 

I ' By its terms, 20 DCMR 202.2(b) permits DOH to revoke or suspend a permit for 
failure to comply with permit conditions. However, 16 DCMR Ij 3224.3 cites section 
202.2(b) as the regulatory basis for fines for failing to observe permit ternis, a Class 2 
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On July 9, during a routine inspection at the transfer station, Inspector Adebona 
detected an unpleasant odor of rotting garbage in the air and entered the facility to 
inspect. He observed that the filters on the odor abatement equipment were being 
replaced, Upon their replacement, he observed gauge readings of 0.3", 0.3" and 1.0" on 
the units. He believed that h e  1.0" reading in conjunction with newly replaced filters 
indicated an equipment malfunction. At Inspector Adebona7s request, a service 
representative technician turned off the odor abatement equipment and checked the gauge 
that was reading 1.0". He appeared to try to recalibrate the gauge with a screwdriver, 
which Inspector Adebona advised him was improper. On the basis of his inspection, 
Inspector Adebona issued NO1 29541, charging Waste Management with emitting 
odorous air pollutants in violation of 20 DCMR 5 903.1, and with thee  counts of failing 
to comply with permit conditions 3,5,  and 7, in violation of 20 DCMR 5 202.2(b). In 
language substantially similar to that of 20 DCMR 5 903.1, permit condition 3 states that 
"The emissions into the atmosphere of any objectionable odor from the facility in any 
quantity and of any characteristic, and for any duration which interferes with the 
reasonable enjoyment of life and property is prohibited." As noted above, permit 
condition 5 requires that the equipment be maintained and operated in accordance with 
the recommendations of the manufacturer. Permit condition 7 requires immediate 
telephone notification to DOH of violations of permit conditions or of 20 DCMR, 
followed by a written report describhg the violation and planned remedial action. 

The OAD held a hearing on NOIs 29538,29539 and 29541 on September 29, 
1999. In a detailed decision dated January 2 1, 1999, ALJ Quander found Waste 
Management liable for all of the charged infractions, but halved the fines on the basis of 
Waste ~ k a ~ e r n e n t ' s  significant capital outlays and other efforts to abate odor emissions. 
ALJ Quander found that the transfer station's odor abatement equipment regularly 
malfunctioned, resulting in ongoing violations of section 903.1 and of permit conditions. 

Docket No. 99-5416: Inspector Adebona conducted further inspections of the 
Waste Management transfer station on October 8, October 27, and November 6, 1998. 
On each occasion, he smelled an unpleasant odor of rotting trash that made it unpleasant 
to walk, work or eat in the area. He observed that some of the odor abatement equipment 
was shutdown (unit # 1 was offline on October 8 and unit # 2 was offline October 27) 
and that Magnehelic gauge readings on some of the units (unit # 3 on October 8 and units 
1 and 3 on November 6) exceeded the maximum acceptable 2.75 inches. Inspector 
Adebona issued NOIs 36853,36854 and 36855, each citing Waste Management for 
emitting odorous pollutants in violation of 20 DCMR 5 903.1; failure to have an effective 
pollution control device in violation of 20 DCMR 5 107.1; and failure to observe permit 
conditions in violation of 20 DCMR 9 202.2(b), on the basis of failing immediately to 
report the violations. An OAD hearing on the NOIs was held on May 12, 1999. On June 
14, 1999, ALJ Quander issued a detailed decision finding Waste Management liable. He 
again reduced the fines, by half, because of what he found were Waste Management's 
substantial efforts at mitigation. 

Docket No. 00-5576: On August 17, 1999, DOH Inspector Neil Williams 
inspected the Waste Management transfer station in response to complaints. Inspector 
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Williams testified that he detected an odor from the Waste Management facility and 
across the street fiom the front of the facility and smelled strong odors of rotten food, 
meat, chicken and eggs. He found that the transfer station's deodorizing system was not 
working and that odor emanating from the transfer station was interfering with 
community residents' enjoyment of their properties. He issued NO1 045646, citing 
Waste Management for emitting odorous pollutants from its trash transfer facility in 
violation of 20 DCMR $ 903.1. Waste Management appealed the infraction notice to the 
OAD and a hearing took place on March 15,2000. On May 3 1,200 1, ALJ Simon issued 
a decision upholding the NO1 and the assessed fine. 

Issues an Appeal, Analysis, and Conclusions of Law 

Appellant raises similar challenges to each of the three OAD decisions. The 
issues appellant raises, and the Board's fmdings as to each issue are discussed below. 
The Board's analysis recognizes that we may reverse an order of the OAD order only if it 
is arbitrary or capricious, unsupported by substantial evidence in the record, or not in 
accordance with law. See 1. DCMR $ 5 10.14. 

1. In each appeal, appellant argues that the finding that it emitted odors in 
violation of section 903.1 was not based on substantial evidence because the DOH 
Inspector was untrained in scientific methods of odor measurement and failed to use 
scientific methods for odor source-detection. Appellant argues that Inspector Adebona 
had no formal training in measuring the intensity of odors and took no readings of wind 
speed and direction. Likewise, appellant argues, Inspector Williams was untrained in 
methods of odor detection, unfamiliar with scientific literature on odor abatement, and 
unaware of the standards for measuring and discerning odors, and did not use reliable or 
scientific methods to determine whether an infraction occurred. In particular, appellant 
complains that Inspector Willianls took no wind velocity measurements and did not 
perform proper triangulation to allow a precise calculation of the odor's origin. 

As the Board has previously observed, the District's air pollution regulations do 
not require the use of scientific methods of odor detection. See The New Partnershiy IT 
Department of Consumer and Regulatory Agairs, BAR No. 98-5307-CI. An inspector's 
use of his nose and sense of smell can be a sufficient basis for determining the source of 
an odor. In each OAD decision, the ALJ credited the testimony of the DOH Inspector 
that the source of the odor was the Waste Management transfer station. We must accept 
the ALJs7 findings because, on the record, they are not clearly erroneous. See In re 
J.D.W, 711 A.2d 826, 830 (D.C. 1998). 

It appears from the parties' briefs and the comments of counsel at oral argument that 
tape recordings of the hearing in Docket No. 00-5576-CI have been misplaced. As a 
result, no transcripts of those tapes are available and the Board has been unable to review 
the hearing record. Although Waste Management suggested in its brief that the 
unavailability of the transcripts was prejudicial to its ability to argue the appeal (in 
particular, its contention that DCRA failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the alleged infraction occurred), counsel for Waste Management stated at 
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2. Waste Management also argues in each appeal that DOH did not prove by a 
preponderance of the evidence each of the elements necessary to establish a violation of 
20 DCMR 5 903.1. Specifically, Waste Management argues that because of the lack of 
evidence of any citizen coinplaint as to some of the counts and the limited testimony by 
the inspectors about the citizen complaints that led to other counts, DOH did not meet its 
burden of establishing that any odor emanating from the transfer station interfered with 
reasonable enjoyment of life or property in the vicinity, or was likely to be injurious to 
the public health or welfare, as required to establish a violation of section 903.1. In 
Docket No. 99-5374, for example, Waste Management argues that although Inspector 
Adebona testified that his inspection on May 19, 1998 and subsequent issuance of NO1 
29538 were prompted by a complaint received by DOH, no evidence was presented as to 
when and where an offensive odor was detected, or as to whether the complainant lived 
or worked in the area. Appellant relies on the OAD ruling in DCRA v. L. G. Industries, 
98-OAD-1942H and 98-OAD-19431-1, in which OAD Chief ALJ E. Savannah Little ruled 
that the in absence of such testimony, DOH failed to meet its burden of proof to establish 
a violation of section 903.1. 

The Board finds that there was substantial evidence in the record in each of the 
OAD proceedings to support the OAD findings that appellant violated section 903.1 on 
all of the occasions cited. In Docket No. 99-5416, Inspector Adebona- testified that the 
odor of rotting trash that he smelled near the transfer station site made it unpleasant to 
-walk, work or eat in the area. In Docket No. 00-5576, ALJ Simon found "very credible" 
Inspector Williams' testimony that the odors of rotten food, meat, chicken, eggs and d i c r  
commercial trash he smelled coming from appellant's place of business were "unpleasant 
and unbearable." We think such testimony by the inspectors was a sufficient basis for 
finding that the odors were likely to be injurious to the public welfare and interfered with 
the enjoyment of life and property in the affected area. Accordingly, we affirm the OAD 
findings that DOH established violations of section 903.1 by a preponderance of the 
evidence. See KOI-ISystems v. District of Columbia Department of Employment 
Services, 683 A.2d 446 (D.C. 1996); KaIorama Heights Lfd. Partnership v. D. C. 
Department of Consumer and Regularoly Affairs, 655 A.2d 865 (D.C. 1995). 

3. Appellant next argues that even if the evidence otherwise was sufficient to 
sustain a finding of a violation of section 903.1, as a matter of law Waste Management 
cannot be held liable for a violation of section 903.1 on the basis of odors detected at its 
transfer station located in the C-M District. Businesses in the C-M district, appellant 
asserts, are presumed to emit odors; under the District's zoning laws and regulations, 
appellant argues, such businesses' industrial uses are "already segregated from residential 
areas so that any particular adverse effects they may generate are localized within the 
industrial areas." Appellant notes that its transfer station is surrounded by a cement plant, 
an auto paint shop, a machine repair shop and a taxicab garage, uses that it argues "can 
tolerate the more intensive uses of property." 

oral argument that appellant does not challenge ALJ Simon's findings summarizing the 
testimony of Inspector ~ i l l i ams .  



Appellant argues that the District's zoning regulations, specifically 11 DCMR 5 
804.9(d), "allow[] odorous gases or other odorous matter to be emitted within the C-M 
District," and restrict such emissions only along the borders of the C-M District. 11 
DCMR 804.9(d) provides that: 

The emission of any odorous gases or other odorous matter 
or steam in such quantities to,be offensive or noisome at 
any point along the boundaries of the district in which the 
use is located shall be prohibited. 

Appellant urges the Board to rule that an alleged infraction of 20 DCMR 8 903.1 
"must be evaluated in light of and reconciled with [this] apparently conflicting zoning 
regulation." It argues that "if the general provisions of section 903.1 are given greater 
weight than the odor restrictions for C-M zones, the zoning restrictions are rendered 
meaningless," because the "recognition in the zoning regulations that offensive odors 
might be emitted in manufacturing districts no longer serves any purposes." Appellant 
urges the Board to find that "odors that may be offensive are explicitly permitted in the 
C-M district as long as they are not detected along the zone boundary line." It argues that 
this construction of the law harmonizes sections 903.1 and 804.9 and "provides a more 
rational and objective basis for determining whether an odor is injurious to the public 
health or interferes with the reasonable enjoyment of life or property." It urges that the 
"concept of offensive odors crossing the boundary of the zone district gives regulated 
business a more predictable standard by which lo monitor its operations." Fihally, it 
contends that since no evidence was presented that any odor was detected at the boundary 
line zone closest to the transfer station (the boundary of the residential district that is 
approximately 300 feet away), the Board should find that there was insufficient evidence 
to sustain the OAD's findings that appellant was liable for an emissions ~iola t ion.~ 

Appellee counters that any apparent conflict between sections 903.1 and 804.9(d) 
should be resolved by reference to 1 1 DCMR 5 10 1.4, which states: 

The provisions of any statute or other municipal. regulations 
shall govern whenever the provisions of that statute or of 
the other municipal regulations do the following: 

(d) Impose higher standards than are required by 
this title. 

In its brief in Docket No.00-5576, appellant notes that ALJ Simon's decision of May 3 1, 
2000 did not address these arguments and for that reason must be found to be arbitrary 
and capricious. The Board agrees that the OAD hearing officer should have made 
findings on this and all material, contested issues. See D.C. Code Ann. 5 1- l5O9(e); 
Speval v. D. C. ABC Board, 407 A.2d 549 (DC 1979). In light of our reasoning below, 
however, we find that this omission was harmless error, See 1 DCMR 6 5 1 1.1. 
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Appellee argues that because section 903.1 imposes "higher, or more restrictive odor 
emission standards" than section 804.9(d), DOH'S enforcement of this higher standard 
was expressly permitted by the zoning regulations, and the OAD's findings that appellant 
violated section 903.1 should stand. 

The Board finds that there is no conflict between sections 903.1 and 804.9(d), and 
we therefore see no need to fashion a harmonious middle ground or to resort to the 
conflict-resolution rule contained in 1 1 DCMR 5 101.4. We also think it is section 
804.9(d) that imposes the higher standard. 

Section 804.9(d) appears to impose something akin to strict liability for emission 
of odorous gases along a boundary zone. That is, if an odor is emitted such that it is , 

detected along the boundary line, and if it is offensive, its emission is a violation of 
section 804.9(d) regardless of the duration of the emission and whether the emission 
interfered with any activity or was injurious. By contrast; section 903.1 prohibits only 
those emissions that are of a duration that makes them likely to be injurious to the public 
health or welfare or that causes them to interfere with reasonable enjoyment of life or 
property. The quantum of proof necessary to establish a violation of section 903-1 is 
greater, and therefore section 903.1 is a less severe standard than section 804.9. An 
odorous emission of very short duration that is offensive but not unbearable presumably 
would violate section 804.9(d) if it is detectable at the boundary line, but may well not 
constitute a violation of section 903.1, since (and here we agree with appellant) it 
probably is not reasonable to insist or to expect that businesses in the C-M District should 
never emit an offensive odor detectable for even a very brief period in close proximity to 
their premises. 

We think the OAD's rulings are consistent with application of the standard 
estalkshed by section 903.1. In each case, the OAD heard testimony that the odor 
detected in the immediate vicinity of the transfer station was unbearable, not merely 
offensive, and interfered with ordinary human activity. As discussed above, we find that 
by this evidence, DOH satisfied its burden of proof with respect to the charged violations 
of section 903.1. We therefore affirm the OAD rulings insofar as they upheld the 
charged violations of section 903.1. 

4. In Dockets 99-5374 and 99-5416, Waste Management argues that it was 
contrary to law for the OAD to uphold the NOIs pertaining to violations of 20 DCMR 
202.2(b) (failure to observe permit conditions). The,gist of appellant's argument is that 
DOH exceeded its authority in requiring Waste Management to obtain a permit for odor 

Waste Management also argued in its briefs that 20 DCMR 5 903.1 is unenforceable 
because it is unconstitutionally vague. The Board rejected a similar argument in The New 
Partnership v. Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, BAR No. 98-5307-CI 
and, for the reasons cited in that decision, also rejects Waste Management's argument on 
this point. 
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abatement equipment and in imposing permit conditions. Citing 20 DCMR 5200.1, 
appellant. contends that District air pollution control regulations in effect during 1998 
allowed DOH to require a permit for the installation of an air pollution control device 
only in a "stationary source," defined in the 1998 version of 20 DCMR 5 199 to mean a 
facility subject to regulation under the federal Clean Air Act (L'cAA").~ Since, appellant 
argues, the CAA has never regulated the emission of odorous gases, DOH has no 
authority under District air pollution control regulations to impose permit requirements 
relating to equipment to control the emission of odorous material. Appellant argues that 
DOH may not "bootstrap itself into an area in which it has no jurisdiction7' by improperly 
requiring a permit and then holding Waste Management liable for permit violations. 

Appellee's response is that Waste Management is foreclosed from raising this 
ai-gument before the Board since it failed to present this argument to the OAD. We agree 
with appellee. As a general rule, matters not properly presented to a trial court will not 
be resolved on appeal. See Rab v. Safeco Ins. Co., 556 A.2d 1072, 1076 (1989); Williams 
v. Gerstenfeld, 514 A.2d 1172 (1986); Chase v. Gilbert, 499 A.2d 1203, 1209 (D.C. 
1985). Courts deviate from this principle "only in exceptional situations and when 
necessary to prevent a clear miscarriage of justice apparent from the record." Williams, 
514 A.2d at 1177. We find no such exceptional circumstances here.7 

20 DCMR 200.1 provides that "A permit from the Mayor shall be obtained before any 
person shall cause, suffer, or allow the construction of a new stationary source, or the 
modification of an existing stationary source, or the installation or modification of any air 
pollution control device on a stationary source." 

We note that 20 DCMR 5 199 was amended in 2000 to provide that a "stationary 
source" is one that emits or may emit pollutants -subject to regulation under either the 
CAA "or this Title." See 47 D.C. Reg. 9686 (December 8,2000). 

We also note that while appellant's argument may have some merit, the issue of whether 
the permit regulations could be applied to an odor-emitting facility is not without doubt. 
It appears that the CAA as implemented in the District of Columbia during the period in 
dispute did not regulate odor emissions. See 60 FR 4443 1 (1995) (noting that EPA would 
not review provisions of 20 DCMR pertaining to testing for odors since they governed 
provisions not included inthe District of Columbia State Implementation Plan). 
However, in at least one other jurisdiction, odors have been subject to regulation under 
the CAA. See Concerned Citizens of Bridesburg v. Philadelphia Water Dep't, 843 F.2d 
679 (3rd Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 853 (1 988). Thus, at least arguably, the 
reference in 20 DCMR § 199 to a stationary source as a facility "subject to regulation 
under the federal Clean Au Act" refers to facilities that might be regulated under the 
CAA, whether or not they are subject to CAA regulation in the District. 

The Board notes in addition that although the 1988 version of 20 DCMR 5 199.1 
contained a limiting definition of "stationary source," the opening sentence of section 
199.1 may have created latitude for DOH to construe the term "stationary source" more 
broadly. That sentence states that "When used in Chapters 1 through 9 of this title, and in 
forms prescribed under those chapters, where not otherwise distinctly expressed or 
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Appellant contends that its argument is not untimely, citing the principle that 
jurisdictional challenges may be raised at any time. See, e.g., Weaver v. GraJio, 595 A.2d 
983,986 (D.C. 1991). In its exceptions to the Board's Proposed Decision and Order, 
appellant cites F. W Woolworth Co. v. District of Columbia Board ofAppeals and 
Review, 597 A.2d 713 (D.C. 1990)) for the proposition that this principle applies so as to 
permit a party to raise on appeal, for the first time, an argument that an administrative 
agency (here, DOH) exceeded its jurisdiction in taking a disputed action (here, requiring 
a permit for odor abatement equipment and issuing NOIs for violation of permit 
conditions). 

The Board is not persuaded that Woolworth stands for the principle for which 
Waste Management cites it. Woolworth argued before the D.C. Court of Appeals, for 
the first time, that neither a Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs ALJ nor the 
Board had had authority to rely on a regulation in issue to impose a civil sanction. The 
court reasoned that "[blecause this is a jurisdictional argument, Woolworth cannot be 
deemed to have waived it by failing to raise it before the ALS and the Board." 
Woolworth, 579 A.2d at 716-17. The court's statement is consistent with the view, 
which the Board expressed in its Proposed Decision and Order, that the rule permitting 
jurisdictional challenges to be raised at any time pertains to challenges to the jurisdiction 
of a court or other adjudicative body, such as the Board or an ALJ, rather than to 
challenges to the authority of an administrative agency to take the action in dispuk8 

Nonetheless, as Waste Management's argument suggests, courts have -reached 
differing conclusions about whether a reviewing court may consider a challenge to an 
agency's jurisdiction even when the challenge was not raised before the agency. See 
gene'rally K. DAVIS, ADMINISTRATIVE LAW TREATISE, 5 20.06 (1972) (also noting that it 
is not always obvious which questions are jurisdictional for purposes of avoiding waiver 
at the administrative level). The Board concludes that it should be guided by the policy 
rationale for the waiver rule, which is that appellate review is hindered by the failure of 
the litigant to allow the agency to apply its expertise. See McKurt v. United States, 395 
U.S. 185, 194 (1969), cited in Railroad Yardmasfers ofAmerica v. Harris, 721 F.2d 
1332,1338 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The Board also believes that a sound approach is the rule 

manifestly incompatible with the intent of this subtitle, the following terms shall have the 
meaning ascribed." 

This interpretation of the rule is supported by courts' frequent articulation of the rule as 
the principle that "[plarties cannot waive subject matter jurisdiction by their conduct or 
confer it on the court by consent, and the absence of such jurisdiction can be raised at any 
time." Laffey v. Northwest Airlines, Inc., 567 F.2d 429,474 (D.C. Cir. 1976), quoted in 
Customers Parking, Inc. v. District qf Columbia, 562 A.2d 651,  654 (D.C. 1989); see also 
Paton v. District of Columbia, 180 A.2d 844, 845 (D.C. 1962)("Although the 

jurisdictional issue was not questioned by either appellant or appellee, it is well settled 
that jurisdiction of the subject matter of a case may neither be assumed by a court nor 
conferred upon it by consent or silence of the parties"). 
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that party who failed to raise an issue of jurisdiction before an agency in the first instance 
may not challenge the agency's jurisdiction on appeal unless the agency "patently 
traveled outside the orbit of its authority." K. DAVIS, supra, 5 20.06, quoting Cotherman 
v. FTC, 417 F.2d 587,594 (5th Cir. 1969). 

Using these decision-making guides, the Board concludes that Waste 
Management must be deemed to have waived its argument that DOH had no authority 
under District air pollution control regulations to impose permit requirements relating to 
equipment to control the emission of odorous mdterial. This is a case in which the Board 
would have benefited from testimony by DOH as to whether it construed the regulatory 
term "stationa~y source" broadly to include odor-emitting facilities subject in some 
jurisdictions to regulation under the CAA (see footnote 7 supra), testimony that might 
have been available had Waste Management raised this issue below. We think that the 
possibility that DOH did broadly construe the term "stationary source" to include a 
facility such as the Waste Management transfer facility means that DOH did not patently 
travel "outside the orbit of its authority" in requiring Waste Management to obtain and to 
abide by the terms of the odor abatement equipment permit in issue. 

5.  In Docket Nos. 99-5416 and 99-5374, Waste Management argues that even if 
the permit and other regulations that it contends were relevant only lo stationary sources 
applied to its operalion of the transfer station, DOH failed to establish by a 
preponderance of the evidence that its transfer station violated the regulations cited on the 
NOls. The failure of proof as to the charged violations of 20 DCMR 3 107.1 (air 
pollution control devices "shall remain operative and effective") and 20 DCMR 9 
202.2(b) (failure to comply with permit conditions), appellant argues, relates to what 
appellant alleges was Inspector Adebona's lack of familiarity with the mechanics and 
operation of the odor abatement equipment at the transfer  tati ion.^ 

Appellant argues that Inspector Adebona could not distinguish between an 
inoperative gauge (which appellant apparently contends does not constitute a violation) 
and a malfunctioning machine, and was not familiar with the manufacturer's 
specifications for calibrating gauges on the equipment. Appellant cites in particular 
Inspector Adebona's conclusion that one of the odor abatement units was not working 
because of its zero gauge reading (the basis for the section 202.2(b) violation charged on 
NO1 029539)' a conclusion that appellant argues improperly ignored the facts that the 
unit's filters had just been changed and that it takes up to ten minutes for filtering to 
register after a filter change. (Tr. 44.) There was no evidence, appellant argues, that 
Inspector Adebona waited for the equipment to become fully operational to obtain a 
reliable reading, and therefore his testimony that the equipment was malfunctioning 
should not have been credited. Similarly, appellant argues, Inspector Adebona's 
testimony in Docket No. 99-54 16 about an equipment malfunction, relating to his 
sbservation about a technician's use of a screwdriver on one of the odor abatement units, 

Appellant presented testimony that it is the only transfer station in the District that uses 
this expensive and sophisticated type of odor abatement equipment. (Tr. 160) 

11 
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should not have been credited since the inspector admitted during his testimony that he 
did not actually know what the technician had been doing. (Tr. 115). 

Although appellant may be correct that not every observation as to which 
Inspector Adebona testified indicated an equipmefit malfunction or other permit 
violation, the Board finds that on the record as a whole there was substantial evidence to 
support the charged violations of 20 DCMR 5 107.1 (equipment shall remain operative . 
and effective) and 20 DCMR 5 202(b) (failure to observe permit condition 5) (equipment 
must be properly operated and maintained, with no gauge reading over 2.75 inches). 
Inspector Adebona appeared to be quite familiar with the manufacturer's instructions 
relating to the odor abatement equipment, with the expected range of gauge readings, and 
with readings that are consistent with recent filter replacement. His reliance on a zero 
gauge reading as an indicator of an equipment malfunction, in conjunction with his 
detection of unpleasant trash odors, was a sufficient basis for the OAD to uphold the 
charged violation of section 202.2@) on NO1 029539. Likewise, Inspector Adebona's 
observation of gauge readings in excess of 2.75 inches, his observation of a gauge 
reading higher than expected.for a unit with newly-replaced filters, and his observation of 
offline equipment not undergoing maintenance were all sufficient bases for the OAD to 
uphold the cited violations of section 107.1 (equipment shall remain operative and 
effective) and section 202.2(b) (with respect to permit condition 5, requiring that the 
equipment be maintained and operated in accordance with the recommendations of the 
rnanufa~turer).'~ 

Rulings as to NOIs 

Docket 99-5374. Although NOIs 029538 and 029539 do not list permit conditi.on 
5 as the specific basis for the charged violation of section 202.2(b), it appears to the 
Board that the discussions during the inspection about the malfunctioning gauge and 
inoperative equipment put appellant on notice of the charged violations. Therefore, for 
the reasons discuss&d in the paragraph above, and having already upheld all of the 
charged violations of 20 DCMR 3 903.1, we upholdNOIs 029538 and 029538 in hll. 

We also uphold the charged violations section 903.1 and 202.2(b) (permit 
condition 5 )  in NO1 029541. However, we find that the section 202.2@) (permit 

'O We do not understand any of the NO1 citations to constitute DOH'S having charged 
appellant with violating the air pollution control regulations by taking its odor abatement 
equipment offline to perform maintenance. We therefore do not reach appellant's 
argument that it was arbitrary and unreasonable for DOI-1 to consider maintenance during 
business hours to be a violation and to trigger reporting requirements. We do not need to 
decide whether the Waste Management permit condition (and requirement of section 
107.1) specifying that the odor abatement equipment must "remain operative" means 
that, during the transfer station's regular operating hours, appellant may not perform any 
maintenance tasks that require a shutdown of equipment. 
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condition 3) citation is duplicative of the section 903.1 citation." We also find that 
Inspector Adebona's testimony about the permit condition 3 citation, which suggested 
that it related to a technician's improper effort to recalibrate the Magnehelic gauge (Tr. 
51), did not provide a reasonable basis for the citation. We find in addition that the 
evidence presented did not provide a substantial basis for upholding the cited violation of 
section 202.2(b)(permit condition 7), the failure to make a report to DOH. Inspector 
Adebona did not explain what should have been reported and did not testify to facts 
permitting the ALJ to conclude that matters that were required to be reported were in fact 
not reported. (Tr. 52). We therefore find that the fines that the OAD upheld for these 
charged violations, amounting to $500, should be reversed. 

Docket 99-5416. For the reasons discussed above, we uphold the charged 
violations of sections 903.1 and 107.1 in NOIs 036853,036854 and 036855. We also 
uphold the citations in all of these NOIs to unspecified violations of section 202.2(b). 
Like appellant, we question Inspector Adebona's testimony that appellant was required to 
make telephone reports of violations identified by the DOH inspector, and we would not 
uphold the cited section 202.2(b) violations if the violations chargeable under this 
regulation were such alleged reporting violations only. We uphold the section 202.2(b) 
permit condition violation cited on NOIs 036853 and 036855 because, on each of the 
relevant dates (October 8 and November 6, 1998), Inspector Adebona observed two 
offline or malfunctioning units, one of which supported the charged section 107.1 
violation (equipment shall remain operative and effective), and the other of which 
supports the charged section 202.2@) permit violation (failure to observe permit 
condition 5, that equipment "must be properly operated and maintained"). We uphold +he 
unspecified section 202.2(b) permit condition violation cited on NO1 036854 because the 
record contains evidence that odor abatement unit #2 that Inspector Adebona found 
offline on October 27, 1998 had been offline several days earlier as well, without any 
report to DOH. 

Docket 00-5576. A violation of section 903.1 was the only violation charged on 
NO1 045646 (Docket 00-5576). For the reasons discussed above, we affirm the OAD 
ruling upholding NO1 045646. 

" As noted, permit condition 3 states that "The emissions into the atmosphere of any 
objectionable odor from the facility in any quantity and of any characteristic, and for any 
duration which interferes with the reasonable enjoyment of life and property is 
prohibited." Section 903.1 states that an "emission into the atmosphere of odorous or 
other air pollutants from any source in any quantity and of any characteristic, and 
duration which is, or is likely to be injurious to the public health or welfare, or which 
interferes with the reasonable enjoyment of life and property is prohibited." 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

IN THE MATTER OF: ) BAR Docket No: 99-5407-LC 
) 

The Fund for Public Interest Research, Inc. ) Litter Control Violation Nos. 
) 207423-3 and 207426-1 

OPINION AND ORDER 

This case came before the Board of Appeals and Review (Board) on March 16, 2000 
from an appeal filed with the Board on June 2, 1999 by The Fund for Public Interest 
~ e s h r c h  (The Fund). Board legal member David H. Marlin and Board public member 
Eduardo Balarezo comprised the hearing panel. 

The Fund was represented by Emily Greenfield, its citizen outreach director. The 
District was represented by Assistant Corporation Counsel Janice Skipper. 

On June 22, 1998, Litter Control Violation Nos. 207423-3, 207426-1, 207424-4, 
207425-0 and 207427-2, were issued to The Fund by the Solid Waste Management 
Administration, Department of Public Works (DPW), all charging a violation of 24 
DCMR 108.1, illegally affixing signs on public lampposts. The latter three citations 
were dismissed and are not the subject of this appeal. 

Violation No. 207423-3 cited The Fund for posting a sign reading "Summer Jobs for 
the Environment," which included the telephone number of the Fund, on District of 
Columbia property at 1520-1 7th Street, N.W., ordered the sign removed and imposed 
a fine of $35. Violation No. 207426-1, issued one-half hour earlier, referred to an 
identical sign that had been posted at 6 Dupont Circle, N.W., and contained an 
identical order of removal and an identical fine. On August 25, 1998, DPW notified 
The Fund that it was in default of the penalties assessed and the fines were doubled to 
$70 each. On September 10, 1998, The Fund requested a hearing before the DPW 
Office of Public Space Adjudication. 

DPW held a contested hearing before its Bureau of Adjudication on April 26, 1999. 
The fact of affixing the posters on lampposts was not in dispute and one of the signs 
posted by The Fund was in evidence. The Fund contented that 24 DCMR 108.4, which 
authorizes posting of signs which do not relate to the sale of goods and services, 
provides an exception to the prohibition contained in Sec. 108.1. DPW rejected The 
Fund's argument that its signs fall into an "excepted category," and imposed the fines. 
The Fund appealed to this bard.  



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA RE- MY 2 1 2004 

The Fund filed a pre-hearing appeal brief with the Board in which it explained that it 
was a non-profit corporation established for charitable and educational purposes, that 
it normally engages in the recruitment of persons who may wish to participate in its 
citizen outreach efforts and that the recruitment consists, in part, of posting signs in 
public areas to attract workers. The Fund argued that its non-commercial sign falls 
squarely within the exception of Sec. 1 08.4. 

At our appellate hearing on March 16, Ms. Greenfield reiterated The Fund's position 
that the recruitment posters fell into the exception of Sec. 108.4. Ms. Skipper argued 
that Sections 108.7 and 108.1 1 also had to be satisfied because 108.4 contains the 
clause" ... subject to the restrictions set forth in this section," which means, she argued, 
that these other requirements are incorporated into Sec.108.4. She stated that the 
burden of satisfying all relevant requirements rests 'on the person posting the sign to 
have a properly prepared sign. Failure to do so would not enable the government to 
ascertain whether you are, in fact, in compliance" (Tr. p.13). 

Ms. Skipper, referring to the sign that had been introduced into evidence at the DPW 
hearing, demonstrated that it did not contain the date when it was affixed, as required 
by 108.7, and argued that The Fund did not file a copy of the sign with an agent of the 
Mayor, as required by 108.1 1. Ms. Greenfield conceded those issues. 

District of Columbia Muncipal Regulation 24 DCMR 108.1 provides: 

No person shall affix a sign, advertisement, or poster to any public 
lamppost.. ., except as provided in accordance with this section. 

24 DCMR 108.4 states: 

Any sign, advertisement or poster that does not relate to the sale of 
goods or services may be affixd on public lampposts ... subject to 
the restrictions set forth in this sectiin.. 

24 DCMR 108.7 states: - 

Each sign. advertisement or poster shall contain the date updn 
which it was initially affixed to a lamppost. 

~ 24 DCMR 108.1 1 states: 

Within twenty-four (24) hours of posting each sign, advertisement, 
or poster, two (2) copies of the material shall be filed with an agent 
of the District of Columbia so designated by the Mayor. The filing 
shall include the name,- address. and telephone number of the 
originator of the sign, advertisement, or poster. 
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On June 27, 1997, final regulations governing .the Board's appellate proceedings were 
published in the D.C. Register (See 44 D.C. Register 2934-29561. Section 51 0 of the 
regulations govern hearings by the Board that are conducted on the record, i.e., where 
there has been an evidentiary hearing in a contested case at the first stage of the 
proceeding, as here. 

When conducting a review on the basis of the record developed before the Director of 
DPW, the Board may affirm, revers6 or modify the order of the Director, or may vacate 
the order and remand the case for further proceedings. 

Reversal of the Director's decision is limited to instances when the Board concludes 
that the decision is, inter alia, arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion or otherwise 
not in accordance with the law; or is not supported by substantial evidence in the 
record. 

It is clear that The Fund did not satisfy all the obligations imposed by 24 DCMR 108.1, 
specifically, the requirements of 108.7 and 108.1 1. The Fund also had argued that 
since DPW dismissed three of the citations, the law is being enforced unevenly and 
the remaining two citations should be dismissed. We find no merit in The Fund's 
positions and the fines'imposed for the two violations cited must be upheld. 

THEREFORE, it is ORDERED this / f l a y  of May, 2000 that the decision of DPW 
assessing penaties for Violations Nos. 207423-3 and 207426-1 is AFFIRMED. 

Legal Member 

P lic ember w 
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GOVERNMENT OF TElE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

Dorothy Barksdale 1 BAR Docket No: 99-5390-LC 
Appellant 1 

1 Litter Control Violation No. 
v. 1 2-05101-1 

1 
Department- of Public Works 

Appellee 

OPINION AND 0IU)ER 

This case came before the Board at a duly scheduled hearing on March 1,200 1 before a panel of 
David H. Marlin and Marcia G. Jones, legal members, and Maureen A. Young, public member, 
The Appellant Dorothy Barksdale appearedpro se. Patricia N. Young, Assistant Corporation 
Counsel, represented the Department of Public Works (DPW), Appellee, 

Appellant was cited with Notice of Violation 2-05 101- 1 on April 23, 1998 which alleged a 
violation of 24 DCMR 100 1.1, prohibiting inter alia, throwing, depositing or leaving, or causing 
to be thrown, deposited ox left, any garbage or trash in or upon any public space in the District, 
commonly referred to as illegal dumping. The charge resulted from an inspection by DPW 
Inspector Lawrence A. Dance at 13 15 Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E., where he found 30 bags of 
trash and garbage on vacant private property abutting public space. A NationsBank envelope 
addressed to Appellant was found in a bag. The envelope and a picture of the accumulated trash 
and garbage were introduced into evidence at the contested hewing held on March 25, 1999. 
Appellant had been fined $1,000, later reduced to $200 by the DPW hearing examiner who 
found her liable. 

The issue for the Board is whether there is substantial evidence in the record to support the 
conclusion of liability. Appellant admits that she placed her trash behind her house without 
placing the trash in a secure container (an act that might have resulted in a violation of 21 DCMR 
700.3 if that section had been cited). Appellant, however, denies she bears any responsibility for 
the trash found by DPW. We believe that the District's leap from discovering just one 
identifiable piece of paper in a pile of trash and garbage to the conclusion that Appellant is the 
person legally responsible for the pile's location, fails the substantial evidence test enunciated by 
the Board in Clyde T. & Wilma Coble v. DPW, BdAppRev (99-5378-LC), January 25,2001 and 
Ronald Edwards v. DPW, BdAppRev (00-5457-LC), February 13,2001. 

The Board recognizes that dumping and littering is not uncommon in the District and that DPW 
faces a formidable challenge is keeping the city clean and discouraging littering. The City 
Council has enacted stringent laws to prevent littering and to penalize violators. DPW is 
carrying out those legislative proscriptions. Nevertheless, we believe that the evidence offered in 
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this case does not meet the test of substantial evidence. 

Appellant deposited with DPW a $30.00 transcript fee but did not order a transcript. The 
transcript fe must be refunded. 

THEREFORE, it is ORDERED this r" day of March 200 1 that the appeal is GRAN'IED, the 
DPW decision is REVERSED and the case is REMANDED for action consistent with this 
Order. 

@& /J* uk 
David H. Marlin, Legal Member 
Marcia G. Jones, Legal Member 
Maureen A. Young, Public Member 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DIISTIUCT OF COLUMBIA 

1 BAR Dockd No: 00-5459-LC 

Deprtmex1.t of Public Works 
Appellee 

1 
1 Violation No, 2014911-1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

FtNAL OPlNfON AND ORDER 

On September 6,2001, a Board panel of administrative judges, as amsthtd below, issped a 
Xlropbsed decision and order for this ase, The parties were dkctcd to provide any exceptions 
within 20 days with 15 additional days for a response. AppeLlrurt's comments, fled on 
September 25, expressed disagreement with the proposed &ion a d  sought dismissal of lhe 
charges; appcUals response to qpllantk comments, filed on October 5, agreed with the Board's 
decision and sought rejection of appellant's arguments. W e  tb Board's decision and 
replicate it below but will respond to a ~ ~ s  ncm-reptivt material arguments mt almdy 
addressed, dl of which are rejaw as follows: 

1. Appellant's argument that the Board did not consider his 1- dated April I 1,2001 in 
preparing our decision is immmte although the letter could havc been d i m g d d  becawc it 
was fled without the B d l s  consent after the om1 argument the p r e d i q  day. The letter 
presented a a n  the argument that a property ormer is not responsible for maintaining the 
clanhms of aa alley, which is irrelevant. Appellant was cited only for violating 21 DCMR 
7O8,I 1. 

2. Appellant m y  caught the typographical mor in the Board's proposed decision that 
identified the regulation governing an appelhts burden of proof before the B o d  following a 
contested hearing. So did appellee in its rapme. The con-& para%rapb is 1 DCMR 5 510.14, 
not 8 510.4. The e m ,  of c o w ,  pvidcs no relief to apgcllant. 

3. Appdlant cantinuuusly assem dut the Board conducted an cvidentiary hearing in spite ofthe 
f& that the B o d  conducted a review of a contested case on the basis of the r d  &g 1 
DCMR 8 5 10 er seq. Tbis codusion characterizes appllmt's approa~h to many asp& of  his 
appeal. 

4. Appellant requests r e d  of David H. Marlin, the panel's presiding manber and chair of! the 
Board, on the pounds of prejudice, evidenced by a March 2,2001 telephone conferrmcc call 
conducted by Chairman Marlin, in which he negatively regarded q q d e t a t ' s  requcst for a .  



opporhmity to personally q p a r  to argue his a@ orally. The motion is denied First, the 
telephonic reaction was r e v a d  the same day h a writtm order, Secondly, appellant did in fact 
appr for oral argument on Apnl10,200 1. Most signifcantly, appI1rrat's contetliion falls far 
blow asserting staadards of impartiality which would require disqualification by the Code of 
Judicial Conduct applicable for quasi-judicial officers. Marrisotl v. Dl;stnCt 

. . of C o ~ i a  Board 
of Zoninn A d i w c d ,  422 A. 2d 347,348 (D.C. 1980). Finally, this asc has been decided 
unanimously by a -1 of three judge. 

A p l W  was cited on October 8,1999 by the Dqm.rtment of Public Works (DPW) for violation 
of 21 J X M R  708.1 1, a provision that prcscni in detail the size, wei& composition, stmgth 
and acceptable method of securing the rccqtacles used by D i M  resi- for amtahbg trash 
prior to c o l l d o a  

The notice informed appellant h t  h r e  wert: two "bust& white phtic tmh l h m  in a public 
alley tothe left o f h i s h o u s e l d a t  3710ManorPlacc,N.W. nexttotrash containers used by 
the occupants of that house 7'be notice stukd that the trash liners had not been properly tied, 
mulling ia litter at a public space. A photograph of the scene was provided by DPW hpector 
Ray 9 

Appellant wmte to DPWs djudicatim office on November 16,1999 to deny that the tmh bags 
had been placed the= by bis tcnants. He stated tJmt the trash liners must have belonged to 
midents of nearby row buses on 37th Street, N.W. who also placed their ~h in the alley for 
colldon. 

On December 12,1999, n DPW hcating examher issued a decision basEd on thc hfraction 
notice, the photograph and qqae1lanf s written denid Ajqdlant had not requested an ddmtiary 
hearing to contest the charge, relying on his letter as his defense. Tbe examiner found that the 
premises in question bad white plastic trash bags in the rear tbat were broken o p  with the 
cotlteats on the ground and that the trash had not been deposited in a proper con*. The 
examiner concluded the photographic evidence linked the trash to wllant and found a g p e h t  
liable. Appellant was fmed $35.00. 

Mr. Orate's appeal to this Board, filed Febnurcy 8,2000, and his oral argument before tbe 
on April 10,2001, att#ngt ta establish facts that would exoncratt him or his tenants as being 
responsible for the impmpr bash containers, and the littering that wcmed as a ~ m e q y m x  
Notably, he argued at the Board April hearing that bc determid that the &ash in question 
wnhhd home renovdoa r n a k d s .  Hc asserts thaE no rtmvatiom had been underway in his 
house but had taken place in the house of a neighbor. 

The issue in this appeal is whether appellant has met his burden of proof as raquirod by k d  
regulations (See 1 DCMR 8 510.14) to demonstrate that the DPW decision is arbitrary, not in 
accord with the law or not suprted by substantial evidence. We rule he he3 not and deny the 
appeal. 
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The Board i s  not the hdcr of facts. The opportunity to amtest the dlegatioos in the violation 
notice was availdle to app~4lant in a fact4trding hearing. Appellant could have a p p d  at rr 
DPW hearing, tcstificd himself, produced witncssts, submitted exhibits a d  r e q u d  tbe 
ljlspcctor's presence for cross-cxambtion. Appellant, inst&, waived that o v t y  and 
relied on his letter which did not by itself overcome the pqmnderclnce of evidtme offered by 
DPW. 

The Board has often stated that there is a presumption that a hearing e x a m i d s  hision is 
ontided b g m  weight, Finn v. DePartfklcnt of E ~ D ~ O ~ C L L ~  Services. 560 A 2d 1067,1072 
(D.C. 1982). The presumption can be rebutkd if the decision i s  based on "no more than a 
scintilla of evidtnc-e, too insubstantial to support the charge," $ -v.t of 
E m  Stmi= 536 A 2d 1085,1089 (D.C. 1988) Thc racord in this case contains 
substantial e v i h  to support the decisioa 

Gary L. Ivens, Legal Mcmber 
Phyllisl D. Thompson, Legal M e m h  
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVlEW 

919 E Street Associates 
Appellant 

VS. 

Department of Public Works 
Appellee 

BAR Docket No: 03-5941-LC 
) 
1 Notice of Infraction No. 2-1 74694 
) 

1 

DECISION AND ORDER 

A telephone. coderence call was held for this appeal on October 27,2003 conducted by David H. 
Marlin, chair of the Board of Appeals and Review. Michelle Kohler, Senior Vice President, 
appeared on behalf of appellant 9 19 E Street Associates (9 19 E Street). Assistant Corporation 
Counsel Lori Monroe represented the Department of Public Works (DPW), appellee. 

Appellant was cited on March 3,2000 by DPW Inspector Tom Day for a violation of 24 DCMR 
$700.3 which requires all solid waste to be stored and containerized for collection in a manner 
that prevents food, harborage or breeding places for insects or rodents. The violation notice, 
which, according to the record, was served by certified mail, states that Inspector Day observed 
in the rear of 919 E Street, N.W. a "large accumulation of black bags of food waste, liquor 
bottles, cans, paper, club info and other debris uncontained dumped on public space around 
dumpster - ID found." Inspector Day attached two photographs to the citation which document 
the littering violation. The fine for the violation was listed as $75.00. 

Appellant responded on March 4,2002 to this violation and three others (2 163 194,2 163200 and 
21 74522) that it no longer owns the commercial property at that location and the current owner 
should be contacted. A mail adjudication was conducted and on September 27,2002, Hearing 
Examiner Pamela B. Washington fined appellant $75.00 for Notice of Infraction No. 2-17469. 
Fines were also assessed for the other violations, all of which DPW stipulates will now be 
dismissed because official documents are missing. Examiner Washington considered the defense 
offered by appellant and rejected it, noting that the official records of the Office of the Chief 
Financial Officer prove that the property was still owned by 919 E Street at the time of the 
violation. She stated that the oflicial records show the property was not sold until February 
2001. 

The Notice of Appeal, filed November 22,2002, restates appellant's contention that it did not 
own the property in March 2000 and, fiutherrnore, that the property was leased at that time to the 
Rtz NightclubIThe Spot nightclub. The lease, appellant argues, placed the sole responsibility for 
maintenance on the tenant so that a claim of violation of littering regulations should be served on 
the tenant. During the telephone call, appellant also argued it did not receive notice of the 
violation until after the property was sold and therefore did not receive the notice required by 
law. 
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The Board's standard for review of a case based on the record is whether the decision is arbitrary, 
not in accord with the law or not supported by substantial evidence. Appellant fails its burden of 
proof. 

Appellant did not offer any documentation to challenge that it was the owner of record at the 
time the violation occurred. The finding of fact from District records that appellant was the 
owner in March 2000 has not been rebutted. The claim that an owner of leased property is 
absolved of responsibility for law violations perhaps committed by a lessee is unsupported by 
authority and is contrary to many decisions of this Board. Appellee cited 24 DCMR 5 1305 as 
authority for holding the owner liable. 

Finally, we have consistently held that more than a claim of non-receipt must be offered to 
disprove proper service when the record discloses that service was made by certified mail. Such 
service is authorized by 24 DCMR 5 1306. Furthermore, the District has a policy of strict 
liability for littering violations. In Bruno v. District of Columbia Board ofAppeals and Review, 
665 A.2d 202, 204 (D.C. 19951, the court held that a person cited for a littering violation need 
not be provided a prior warning and opportunity to abate the nuisance before imposition of a 
fine. 

THEREFORE, this p d a y  of October 2003, the appeal is DENIED and the decision 
AFFIRMED. Notices of Violation Nos. 2163194,2163200 and 2174522 are DISMISSED. 

h 

LbW~dQl~ 8 b & ,  
David H. Marlin, Board Chair 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

Roger Gerstenfeld 
Appellant 

v. 

Department of Public Works 

Appellee 

1 BAR Docket No: 03-5924-LC 
1 
1 Litter Control Violation Nos, 
1 58996-1,59843-3,62379-4, 
1 64012-2, 68534-4,69249-4, 
1 69838-3,71133-3,72202-2 
1 and 96145-0 
1 

DECISION AND ORDER 

A telephone conference call was held for this appeal on April 25,2003. David H. Marlin, a legal 
member of the Board of Appeals and Review, conducted the conference call. Roger Gerstenfeld 
appeared pro se and Assistant Corporation Counsel Corey Buffo represented the Department of 
Public Works (DPW), appellee. 

On May 16,2002, appellant filed a motion to vacate the 10 default judgments that were entered 
by DPW for each of the 10 littering citations, issued from October 10, 199 1 through October 23, 
1996, referenced above. Each citation was for a violation of 21 DCMR 5 700.3, which states: 

All solid wastes shall be stored and containerized for collection in a manner 
that will not provide food, harborage, or breeding places for insects or rodents, 
or create a nuisance or fire hazard. 

Each violation notice listed conditions at Lot 40, 1844 Independence Avenue, S .E. that allegedly 
did not comply with the requirements of 8 700.3, e.g., the presence of trash, bottles, cans, food 
containers, scattered papers, garbage, busted plastic bags and broken glass. Photographs of the 
trash were taken as evidence of the scene. Lot 40 is owned by Gorg von Mecklenburg, 
appellant's father-in-law. 

Appellant's motion to vacate the default judgments was denied by Hearing Examiner Paul W. 
Wallig on September 26,2002. He rejected appellant's argument that the citations were not 
properly served. This was the principal basis advanced by Mr. Gerstenfeld for the failure to 
contest the violations which resulted in default judgments, i.e. that the notices were sent to an 
incorrect address. Examiner Wallig found that the violations were sent by certified mail "to the 
name and mailing address on the tax rolls of the District" as required by D.C. Code 5 8-803 and 
24 DCMR 1305. Specifically, Examiner Wallig found that the first three violation notices - 
58996-1, 59843-3 and 62379-4 - were mailed to 6009 N Street, N. W. and the remaining notices 
were mailed to 1620 I Street, N.W., Suite 1000. Both addresses were those of the owner's 
attorney, Glenn R. Bonard, who was listed as the recipient of mail intended for Omnia Properties 
of DC. 
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Appellant had contended that the trash referred to in the violation notices was on an adjoining 
lot, Lot 38, and that he was listed on the property tax role as the recipient for mailings for Lot 38. 
Therefore, he argued, the notices should have been sent to him and the failure to mail the notices 
to him amounts to reversible error. 

If this argument had been made contemporaneously through a motion for reconsideration, an 
evidentiary hearing could have been scheduled to determine the validity of appellant's claim that 
the wrong lot was cited or even that the facts alleged in the citations lacked evidentiary value. 
But these violation notices were issued in 199 1, 1992 (five notices), 1993 (three notices) and 
1996. 

Appellant has renewed the argument of improper service in this appeal filed with the Board on 
October 1 1, 2002. In addition, Mr. Gerstenfeld argues that actual notice was required by District 
law; that it was the District's custom and practice not to cite senior citizens (Mr. Mecklenburg) 
who did not intend to violate the law; and that the payment of property taxes by a property 
owner, and receipt by the District, signifies there are no outstanding law violations. No case 
citations or documentation was offered by appellant in support of these contentions. Nor could 
there be. They are without merit. Appellant declined to provide the Board a brief to substantiate 
these arguments. 

We find no basis to overturn Examiner Wallig's decision, which is based on researching District 
tax records and which is entitled to deference. There is a presumption of correctness of an 
agency's decision, and the burden of demonstrating error is upon the party appealing thercfiorn 
Cooper v. Department of Employment Services, 588 A. 2d 1172, 1174 (D.C. 1991). The Boxcl's 
task is limited to determining whether the findings and conclusions in Hearing Examiner 
Wallig's decision are supported by substantial evidence and are in accordance with the law. 
King v. Department of Employlnent Services, supra, 560 A. 2d 1067 (D.C. 1989). 

THEREFORE, this day of June 2003, the appeal is DENIED. 

David H. Marlin, Board Chair 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

Farokh Puladian 
Appellant 

Department of Public Works 

Appellee 

1 BAR Docket No: 03-5976-LC 
1 
1 Litter Contr~l  Violation No. 
1 3 303 62-2 
1 
1 
1 
1 

DECISION AND ORDER 

A telephone conference call was held for this appeal on April 28,2003. David H. Marlin, chair 
of the Board of Appeals and Review, conducted the conference call. Farokh Puladian appeared 
pro se and Assistant Corporation Counsel Janice Skipper represented the Department of Public 
Works (DPW), appellee. Mr. Puladian operates a grocery store at 13 18-14th Street, N.W. 

On June 12, 2002 at 1: 15 p.m., appellant was cited for "improper storage" by a DPW inspector 
for a violation of 21 DCMR 700.3, which requires that solid wastes be stored in containers for 
collection in a manner "that will not provide food, harborage, or breeding places for insects or 
rodents, or create a nuisance or fire hazard." The inspection revealed "trash overflowing" in the 
rear of the store. A picture, which was taken for introduction as evidence, showed numerous 
plastic bags piled up in a dumpster so high that the dumpster could not be closed. Adjoining the 
dumpster were several boxes that also were not enclosed in a container. A fine of $75 was listed. 

Appellant elected to admit the infraction with an explanation and to proceed by mail 
adjudication. His written explanation stated that BFI, his trash collector, was unable to conduct 
the scheduled pick up at 8:30 a.m. on June 12 because there was an illegally parked car blocking 
access to the dumpster. In order to corroborate this defense, appellant submitted a service notice 
from BFI dated June 12, which listed the license number of a Honda Accord that frustrated the 
BFI pickup. 

Hearing Examiner Pamela B. Washington issued a decision in this case on February 8,2003. 
She treated Mr. Puladian's plea as a denial. She concluded that the amount of trash depicted at 
the rear of the property, about five hours after the time of collection, was "not consistent" with 
appellant's explanation. "There is just too much trash." In his appeal filed with the Board on 
February 19,2003, Mr. Puladian contends that Examiner Washington's decision is" arbitrary". 
He argues that "the very reason that there was a lot of trash is just because the trash could not be 
picked up [by BFI]." 

Appellant's logic may be more understandable than that advanced in the decision. Nevertheless, 
the decision must be sustained based upon the substantial evidence in the record. D.C. littering 
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law has been enacted to promote public health. Compliance is required at all times of the day, 
irrespective of whether trash pickups are scheduled or whether a pickup is delayed or is aborted. 
The picture of the rear of the store conclusively demonstrates non-compliance. Furthermore, 
appellant is legally responsible for coping with unexpected problems, such as a blocked 
driveway. Perhaps the car could have been pushed or towed away; additional containers could 
have been available. 

The District has a policy of strict liability for trash collections. In Bruno v. District. of Columbia 
Board ofAppeals and Review, 665 A.2d 202,204 (D.C. 1995), the court held that a person cited 
for a littering violation need not be provided a prior warning and opportunity to abate the 
nuisance before imposition of a fine. 

We find no basis to overturn Examiner Washington's decision. There is a presumption of 
correctness of an agency's decision, and the burden of demonstrating error is upon the party 
appealing therefrom. Cooper v. Department of Ernplovment Services, 588 A. 2d 1172, 1174 
(D.C. 1991). The Board's task is limited to determining whether the findings and conclusions in 
the decision are supported by substantial evidence and are in accordance with the law. King v. 
Department of Employment Services, supra, 560 A. 2d 1067 (D.C. 1989). 

Therefore, this =9!. day of May 2003, the appeal is DENIED. 

&Ad W" N h r k  /&J 
David H. Marlin, Board Chair ' 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

DAVID ALTERMAN, 

Appellant, 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS, 

Appellee. 

1 
1 
1 
1 
) Docket No. 03-6030-LC 
) 
1 
1 

ORDER 

By its Motion for Recon.sideration, served November 24,2003, Appellee questions the 
validity of the Pre-Hearing Order, dated November 7,2003. Appellant replied by his Opposition, 
served December 1,2003. 

The assailed Pre-Hearing Order vacated the Decision on Motion to Vacate Default 
Judgment of Supervisory Hearing Examiner Paul W. Wallig, dated February 10,2003, holding 
Appellant liable for the amount of the fines levied pursuant to Notices of Violation No. 205759- 
4, dated May 19, 1998, No. 79922-2, dated April 4, 1994, No. 21500 1-1, dated August 30, 1999, 
and thirteen other tickets issued to the then owner of the property at 3538 13~'' Street, NW, Mr. 
Charles Hood, and remanded the matter to the Appellee with instructions to refund the amounts 
paid by Appellant under protest. Appellant is a manager of the limited liability company which 
acquired the property at 3538 13 '~ Street, NW, pursuant to a tax sale approved by the Superior 
Court on or about May 12,2002. 

The Pre-Hearing Order noted that Appellee can attach a lien against a property for unpaid 
fines, but, pursuant to DC Code $8-807(f)(l)(C), the lien shall be valid against a bona fide 
purchaser only if the lien is filed with the Recorder of Deeds. Neither Examiner Wallig's 
Decision nor anything else of record indicated that this was done. 

In its Motion for Reconsideration, Appellee does not challenge the grounds upon which 
the Pre-Hearing Order was entered. It does not dispute that, pursuant to DC Code 58- 
907(f)(l)(C), a lien shall be valid against a bond fide purchaser only if the lien is filed with the 
Recorder of Deeds; nor does Appellee maintain that Examiner Wallig's Decision or anything else 
of record indicate that this was done. 

Rather, Appellee alleges that Appellant's appeal was untimely and, hence, must be 

-1- 



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA R E G ~ S ~ ~ R '  MAY 2 1 2004 

dismissed. Appellee contends that Examiner Wallig's Decision was issued February 10, 2003, 
and that, pursuant to DC Code $8-809, Appellant's appeal needed to be filed within 15 days, that 
is, on or before February 25,2003. Appellant's appeal, however, was dated May 5,2003, and 
received by the Board on May 13,2003, and, since, according to Appellee, the date for filing of 
an appeal is jurisdictional, the Board does not have authority to .hear an appeal that is not filed 
timely. 

Disregarding that Appellee is slightly late in raising the matter of Appellant's alleged 
untimely filing of his appeal, six months having elapsed from the date when he filed his appeal, 
Appellee's argument is flawed on three grounds. First, Examiner Wallig's Decision was dated 
February 10,2003. Appellee seems to equate the dating of a hearing examiner's decision with its 
issuance, within the meaning of DC Code $8-809. A more reasonable reading of the statute, 
however, would have the term issuance of the decision to mean the service of the decision. A 
party does not know whether he or she has been aggrieved by a hearing examiner's decision and 
is unable to decide whether to appeal to the Board until he or she has seen the decision, and he or 
she cannot have seen the decision until after it has been served. Second, Appellant in his appeal 
asserted that he did not receive a copy of Examiner Wallig's Decision until April 29,2003. There 
is nothing of record to contradict his assertion, and Appellee does not do so. Allowing three days 
for the transmittal by mail, one reasonably can assume that Examiner Wallig's Decision was 
served on or about April 26,2003, and, if that were the case, Appellant's appeal of May 5,2003, 
would be well within the fifteen day appeal period contemplated by DC Code 58-809. Finally, 
Appellee maintains that the fifteen day appeal period of DC Code 58-809 is jurisdictional. 
Appellee, however, cites to no agency or court decision in support of its contention. As the 
appeal process is designed administratively to remedy wrongful actions taken by designated 
department of the District of Columbia Government, Appellee being one of them, it is 
appropriate that the statute be given a liberal reading. Therefore, it appears that the Board has the 
authority to entertain the instant appeal. 

Appellee correctly notes that the appeal involves only Examiner Wallig's Decision, which 
cites to Notices of Violation No. 205759-4, dated May 19, 1998, No. 79922-2, dated April 4, 
1994, and No. 215001-1, dated August 30, 1999. The appeal is not from the Decision on Motion 
to Vacate Default Judgment of Hearing Examiner Pamela B. Washington, dated October 23, 
2002, which cited to the thirteen other Notices of Violation for regulatory infiactions by Mr. 
Hood. By its Motion for Reconsideration, Appellee asks that "the Board amend its [Pre-Hearing 
Order] to relate to tickets 205759-4,79922-2 and 215001-1 and delete the references to the 
thirteen other tickets that were outside of the jurisdiction of the Board." Appellee, however, 
misreads the Pre-Hearing Order. The reference to the thirteen other tickets was not the Board's; 
it was Examiner Wallig's. Examiner Wallig in his Decision recited: 

These three tickets [205759-4, 79922-2 & 2 15001 -11, and 13 others, were issued 
to Charles Hood, the recorded owner of the property, prior to 05-17-03. These 
tickets date back to 1990. 
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It was Examiner Wallig who brought up the thirteen other Notices of Violation, which, 
incidentally, included the ones which dated back to 1990. The Pre-Hearing Order did n.o more 
than paraphrase the factual findings in Examiner Wallig's Decision. If Appellant deems the 
reference to the thirteen other Notices of Violation to be offensive, it should take the matter up 
with Examiner Wallig. It certainly is not up to the Board incorrectly to summarize the factual 
findings as set out in Examiner Wallig's Decision. Wherefore, 

IT IS ORDERED, that Appellee's Motion for Reconsideration be, and it is hereby, 
denied. 

Dated: December 3,2003 
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GOVERNmNT OF TJJE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

1 
PAUL STRAUSS, 1 

Appellant, 1 
1 
1 
1 BAR Docket No. 03-5975-LC 
1 

v. 1 Litter Control Violation Nos: 
1 332606-1,332604-4,332431-1, 
1 331738-3,332434-4,332433-1, 
) 332539-4,332713-3, and 332316-1 
) 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 1 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS,' ) 

Appellee. 1 

DECISION OF THE BOARD 

Introduction 

This case is one of first impression in the District of Columbia and addresses the 

liability of a candidate for public office when the candidate's campaign committee 

commits a violation of one of the laws governing the use of public space during an 

election campaign. The task of the District of Columbia Board of Appeals and Review 

(the "Board") in this case is to decide whether the improper actions of a campaign 

committee may be imputed to the candidate the cormnittee was created to support, and 

then to apply that ruling to the District's enforcement of its littering laws. 

I. Factual and Procedural Background 

This matter comes before the Board following a decision of the Department of 

Motor Vehicles ("DMV"), Adjudication Services, to enter a judgment against Appellant 
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Paul Strauss upholding nine citations issued to Appellant by the Department of Public 

Works ("DPW"). The citations were issued for Appellant's violations of D.C. Mun. 

Regs, ("District of Colvmbia Municipal Regulations") tit. 24, @ 108.1 and 108.10 

(1 996), which prohibit, respectively, affixing signs to a public lamppost except in 

accordance with Section 108 and the posting of more than three versions of a sign on one 

city block. Violations of these regulations are administered through the Litter Control 

Administration Act (D.C. Code Ann. 58-801 (2003) et seq.). 

Mr. Strauss is the District of Columbia's elected "shadow" United States Senator. 

He sought re-election to that position during the 2002 general elections. The campaign 

committee formed for his re-election efforts, The Committee to Re-Elect U.S. Senator 

Paul Strauss, placed political campaign signs promoting his candidacy throughout the 

District. As required by law, each sign contained the caption "lplaid for by the 

Coinmittee to Re-Elect U.S. Senator Paul Strauss, Richard J. Bianco, Treasurer." 

On August 21 and 22,2002, DPW inspectors observed several campaign signs for 

Appellant that were placed in violation of D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 24, 93 108.1 and 108.10 

(1996). The inspectors issued 17 citations for the observed violations and each citation 

named "Paul Strauss" as the offender. Neither Appellant's campaign committee nor the 

treasurer of that cormnittee was named on any of the citations. 

At a hearing held on January 30,2003 to address Appellant's challenges to the 

issuance of the citations, the Hearing Examiner for DMV, Pamela B. Washington, found 

Appellant (who was the Respondent in those proceedings) personally liable for 9 of the 

cited violations and fined him $35 for each infraction. On February 14,2003, Appellant 

filed a Notice of Appeal with the Board. The stated basis for the appeal was that the 
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'"correct party was not ticketed" by DPW because the campaign signs in question were 

not posted by Appellant but by workers for his re-election campaign. For this reason, 

Appellant concluded, it is the "campaign [committee] and not the individual [candidate] 

that possesses . . . responsibility for any alleged infractions." 

On February 28,2003, a telephone conference call between the parties - 

Appellant and Corporation Counsel for the District of Columbia - was conducted. by 

David Marlin, the Chair of the Board. On April 30,2003, the Board ordered briefs from 

the parties in which they were to present case law fiom the District of Columbia and 

other jurisdictions in support of their positions. The parties' briefs were filed in May and 

June 2003, and a three-member panel of the Board heard oral argument fiom the parties 

on September 10,2003. 

11. Standard of Review 

The applicable standard of review for any decision by a Hearing Examiner is set 

forth in Title 1, Section 510 of the D.C. Mun. Regs., which provides that the Board may 

reverse a Hearing Examiner's decision when the decision is "[w]ithout observance of 

procedure required by law; or . . . [ulnsupported by substantial evidence in the record . . . " 

D.C. Mun. Regs. tit 1, tj 510.14 (2003). The review shall be "on the basis of the record 

established before the [agency]." D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 24, $ 510.1 (1996). 

-. 

111. Discussion 

Appellant raises two arguments in support of his position that he should not be 

held personally liable for the actions of his campaign committee that led to the issuance 

of the DPW citations. Appellant's first argument is that a campaign committee is a 
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separate legal entity from the candidate it supports and that DMV did not have discretion 

to make any other determination. As support for this argument, Appellant cites the 

definitions of "candidate" and "political committee" in D.C. Code Ann. § 1 - 1 10 1.0 1 

(2003).' Appellant also draws an analogy between campaign committees and business 

corporations, asserting that the principles governing individual liability of corporate 

officers for the actions of a corporation are applicable to the determination of whether a 

political candidate can be held personally liable for the actions of his or her campaign 

committee. Specifically, Appellant asserts that in order for hm to be held liable for the 

actions of his campaign committee DPW must prove that he had "apparent authority" 

over the committee's actions. Under general principles of agency law applicable to 

business corporations, apparent authority arises when a principal places an agent in a 

position which causes a third person to reasonably believe the principal has consented to 

the exercise of authority the agent purports to hold. Feltman v. Sarbov, 366 A.2d 137, 

139 (D.C. 1976) (quoting Drazin v. Jack Prv. Inc., 154 A.2d 553,554 (D.C. 1959)). 

Appellant is correct that principles of agency law determine whether he can be 

held personally liable for the actions of his campaign committee. However, the Board 

agrees with Corporation Counsel that it is the implied authority of Appellant's campaign 

committee not its apparent authority that establishes Appellant's personal liability in this 

case. "Implied authority is actual authority inferred from the circumstances, such as the 

relationship between the parties and conduct of the principal toward the agent 

"Candidate" is defioed as "an individual who seeks nomination for election, or election, 
to office." "Political committee" is defined as "any proposer, individual, committee 
(including a principal campaign committee"), club, association, organization, or other 
group of individuals organized for the purpose of; or engaged in . . . promoting or 
opposing the nomination or election of an individual to office." D.C. Code Ann. 5 1- 
1101.01 (2003). 
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manifesting the principal's consent to have the agent act For him." Lewis v. Washington 

Metropolitan Transit Authority, 463 A.2d 666,669 @.C. 1983) (citing W. SEAVEY, 

AGENCY 5 8, at 11-13 (1964)). "Authority to do an act can be created by written or 

spoken words or other conduct of the principal which, reasonable interpreted, causes the 

agent to believe that the principal desires him so to act on the principal's account." Id. 

(quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY 9 26 (1 95 8)). 

In this case, the record before the DMV Hearing Examiner was sufficient to 

establish that Appellant either actively or passively authorized the actions taken by his 

campaign committee that led to the issuance of the citations. Appellant at the very least 

consented to the placement of the campaign posters - the act that led to the liability. The 

posters bore his name and/or likeness and were a regular and anticipated part of any 

political campaign. The action of placing the posters was clearly conspicuous and 

visible, and as such would have been objected to by Appellant if he did not consent. 

Moreover, it cannot be asserted that the committee would not have heeded Appellant's 

instructions to cease placing campaign posters or remove posters already placed that 

advocated Appellant's re-election since, as Appellant concedes, the campaign committee 

was created for the sole purpose of assisting in Appellant's reelection. For these reasons, 

it is the Board's determination that Appellant's campaign committee was acting with 

implied authority from Appellant when it placed the campaign posters in violation of 

D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 24, $9  108.1 and 108.10 (1996). Thus, the Hearing Examiner's 

determination that DPW correctly cited Appellant as the party responsible for the 
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violations is entitled to deference and Appellant was properly held personally liable far 

the citatiom2 

The Board's determination that Appellant can be held liable for the actions of his 

campaign committee is in accord with prior decisions of the Superior Court of the District 

of Columbia, See Media Placement Consultants, Inc. v. Turner, et al., 120 Daily Wash. L. 

Rep. 685 (D.C. Super. Ct. 1992) (candidate found liable for debts incurred by campaign 

committee where candidate appointed director of committee and director had right to 

incur debt has part of his duties), and decisions fiom numerous other jurisdictions, See 

Karl Rove & Co., Inc. v. Thornburgh, 824 F. Supp. 662 (W.D. Tex. 1993) (fmding 

candidate liable for campaign committee's debt where candidate andlor candidate's agent 

assented to the contract under which debt was incurred); Guv Hunt v. Oscar Davis, 3 87 

So.2d 209 (Ala. Civ. App. 1980) (finding candidate liable for unpaid printing costs 

incurred by campaign where material carried candidate's name, candidate knew of 

printing, and passively permitted costs to be incurred); Perrv v. Meredith, 381 So.2d 649 

(Ala. Civ. App. 1980) (finding campaign committee had authority to place printing order 

and therefore bound candidate to pay for materials ordered). 

Appellant's second argument against his personal liability for the DPW citations 

issued to him is based upon public policy considerations. Appellant argues that holding 

Appellant's argument that D.C. Code Ann. § 1 - 1 102.1 1 supports the claim that he is 
legally independent from his campaign committee also fails. Although Subsection 1- 
1 102.1 1 provides that nothing in Title 1, Chapters 10 or 11 of the D.C. Code "shall be 
construed as creating liability on the part of any candidate for any financial obligation 
incurred by a political committee," that subsection merely establishes that Appellant's 
candidacy alone cannot create personal liability. Media Placement Consultants, 120 
Wash. L. Rep. 685,688 (D.C. Super. Ct. 19%). The subsection does not trump 
applicable principles of agency law. To the contrary, the subsection goes on to state that 
"the actions of an agent acting for a candidate shall be imputed to the candidate." D.C. 
Code Ann. 5 1 - 1 102.1 1 (2003). 
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him or any candidate personally liable for the actions of the candidate's campaign 

committee will not serve as a deterrent against future wrongs by the committee. 

Appellant posits that if the committee is not forced to answer for its wrongful actions, 

there will be no incentive for the committee to avoid committing those actions again in 

the future. We do not find this argument to bepersuasive. For all practical intents and 

purposes, political candidates exercise a high degree of direction and control over the 

actions of their 'campaign committees. It is not unreasonable to expect that the specter of 

personal responsibility for any improper actions will cause candidates to take steps to 

ensure that such actions either do not occur in the first place or do not reoccur. 

As an additional public policy consideration, Appellant cites the potential for 

extreme financial hardship if he is held liable for the actions of his campaign committee. 

Multiplying the number of campaign posters hung city-wide by his campaign c o q i t t e e  

("some 25,000") by the $35 per violation fine assessed by DMV, Appellant envisions a 

situation where he could be subjected to a fine of over $200,000. Appellant, citing D.C. 

Mun. Regs. tit. 3, 5 3005.5 (2003), asserts that his campaign committee would be barred 

from raising funds to pay the debt or to pay the debt itself. As a result, Appellant and his 

family could have liens placed on their home and perhaps even lose their home in order 

to satisfy a debt that resulted from actions taken by Appellant's campaign committee. 

While it is true that there may be same financial hardship imposed upon a 

candidate if he or she is held personally liable for improper actions taken by his or her 

campaign committee, the Board does not find this public policy consideration to be 

persuasive here. First, Section 3005.5 is irrelevant to this matter because it merely 

prohibits the commingling of campaign contributions with the candidate's personal 
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funds. It does not address the use to which campaign funds may or may not be put. In 

fact, there is no legal prohibition against Appellant's campaign committee using its 

campaign funds to pay for debts Appellant incurred as a result of actions taken by the 

committee on his behalf. In March 2002, D.C. Mun. Regs. tit. 3, 5 30 13, which 

proscribes limitations on the use of campaign funds, was amended to allow the use of 

campaign funds to pay fines or penalties resulting from litigation that "arises directly out 

of a candidate's or principal campaign committee's campaign activities." Id. 5 30 l3.2(d) 

(2003). The fines levied against Appellant by DMV in this case would clearly be 

considered to have arisen directly out of the campaign activities of Appellant's campaign 

committee. 

Second, the government also faces potential financial hardship if a campaign 

committee alone is held responsible for violations of DPW regulations. As the 

Corporation Counsel notes in its brief, "[clampaign committees are routinely created and 

disbanded as quickly as the fierce D.C. political wind changes direction." Even if a 

committee is still in existence at the time a citation is issued by DPW or adjudicated 

before a DMV Hearing Officer, there is often little the government can do to enforce any 

ensuing fmes. Although the Litter Control Adminisiration Act provides for unpaid fines 

to be enforced through a lien upon any property owned by the person cited, see D.C. 

Code Ann. 9 1-1 102.04 (2003), it is unlikely that the candidate's campaign committee 

will have any property to which a lien would attach. In addition, such a committee 

cannot be sued unless it is incorporated, see Karl Rove, 824 F. Supp. at 1282, which 

campaign committees are not required to be. There is clearly a risk that a candidate's 

campaign committee will not be legally or financially able to pay for debts resulting from 
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improper actions taken on behalf of the candidate. However, public policy considerations 

dictate that this risk should be borne by the candidate who as benefited from, and for all 

practical purposes directed and controlled, the actions of the campaign committee; it 

should not be borne by the general public, who would ultimately have to pay the fines 

and penalties left in the wake of the candidate's campaign activities if the candidate 

cannot be held liable and the campaign committee is unwilling or unable to accept 

responsibility. 
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Conclusion 

For the reasons stated above, the Board concludes that the DMV Hearing Officer 

correctly determined that DPW was not in error when it issued citations to Appellant Paul 
1 

Strauss for violations of D.C. Mun. Regs. tit 24, $ 8  108.1 and 108.10 (1996) where those 

citations were based upon actions taken by Appellant's campaign committee. 

We note with regret that if DPW properly had cited both Senator Strauss and his 

campaign committee for campaign activities that violated the District's littering laws, this 

appeal may have been unnecessary. Nevertheless, this case does present a controversy 

requiring resolution and has provided the Board with an opportunity to discuss matters 

that may recur. 

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED THIS DAY OF 2003 

BY: .. 

-Glenn S. Greene Legal ~ e m % e r  
David H. Marlin, Legal Member 
Mike Meier, Legal Member 
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1 GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

International A.N.S. W.E.R. 
Appellant 

VS. 

D. C. Department of Public Works 
Appellee 

1 BAR Docket No: 02-5859-LC 
1 
1 Notice of Infraction Nos. 328965-0, 
1 328966-1 and 328967-2 

1 
) 

I DECISION AND ORDER 

This appeal challenges the constitutionality of District of Columbia regulation 24 DCMR 3 108.1 
et seq., a regulation promulgated to implement the District's littering laws by preventing the 
indiscriminate posting of signs and posters on public property. Appellant International ' 
A.N,S.W.E.R. (IA) also alleges the decision of the D. C. Department of Public Works (DPW) 
dated June 10,2002, holding it liable for a violation of this regulation, is unsupported by 
substantial evidence and is contrary to law. 

Some facts are undisputed. On March 18,2002, between 11 a.m. and 12 noon, DPW Inspector 
Barry Carey, Sanitation Enforcement Branch, visited two locations where three signs had been 
posted on lampposts. Each sign advertised an 11 a.m. rally on April 20 at the White House and 
identified a web site and phone number (the former was www.InternationalAnswer.org; the 
latter was 202-543-2777). Each sign indicated the rally was for the purpose of gaining support 

.. for certain political objectives, namely, "US. out of Afghanistan," "No to racial and religious 
profiling," and "Money for Education NOT War." The signs, which are in evidence, did not 
indicate the date they were affixed. 

Inspector Carey had been directed to these locations - 2423 Minnesota Avenue, S.E. and 2341 
Pennsylvania Avenue, S.E. - by the Clean City Coordinator and ANC representative for this 
Southeast area. He took photographs of the signs and then returned to his office to research how 
to contact "International Answer" and to determine whether the signs had been posted illegally, 
i.e., not in compliance with 24 DCMR 5 108.1 et seq. After, concluding his research, Inspector 
Carey issued the three infractions referenced above. Inspector Carey ordered the signs removed 
within 72 hours. A fine of $35.00 was listed for each offense. The infraction notices were served 
by certified mail. 

I The regulatory provisions pertinent to this appeal are: 

24 DCMR § 108.1. No person shall affix a sign, advertisement, or poster to any 
public lamppost or appurtenances of a lamppost, except as provided in accordance 
with this section. 

24 DCMR 5 108.4. ~n~ sign, advertisement, or poster that does not relate to the 
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sale of goods or services may be affixed on public lampposts or appurtenances of a 
lamppost, subject to the restrictions set forth in this section. 

24 DCMR 5 108.5, A sign, advertisement, or poster shall not be affixed for more 
than sixty (60) days.. . . 

24 DCMR § 108.7. Each sign, advertisement, or poster shall contain the date upon 
which it was initially affixed to a lamppost. 

24 DCMR 5 108.1 1. Within twenty -four (24) hours of posting each sign, advertisement, 
or poster, two (2) copies of the material shall be filed with an agent of the District 
of Columbia so designated by the Mayor.. . 

On June 10, 2002, Hearing Examiner Pamela B. Washington conducted a contested hearing in 
: this case for DPW, appellee, under the auspices of the Department of Motor Vehicles 

Adjudication Services. Sarah Sloane, a volunteer, appeared on behalf of appellant. Sarah Sloane 
and IA were each represented by legal counsel Mara Verheyden Hilliard. and Carl Messineo. 
Inspector Carey appeared as a witness for DPW. DPW was not represented by counsel. IA 
denied it had violated the law. 

According to the transcript of the hearing obtained by IA and submitted by DPW, Inspector 
Carey testified to the facts outlined above and stated fwther in questioning by Hearing Examiner 
Washington that his investigation led him to a telephone call with Ms. Sloane (p.8). At that 
point, Hearing Examiner Washington permitted cross-examination of Inspector Carey by 
attorney Hilliard. Inspector Carey testified he did not see anyone place the signs on the 
lampposts and did not know who was responsible for those acts (p. 10). 

Examiner Washington then permitted attorney Hilliard to ask questions of Ms. Sloane. Ms. 
Sloane testified that IA does produce signs which it provides to volunteers to distribute for 
display "at universities and cafes, bookstores, on the street (p.l3)." Ms. Sloane testified she did 
not know who posted the three signs that Inspector Carey cited Cp. 13); that IA intended that their 
signs be displayed indefinitely because the political message remains relevant @. 14); and 
explained that A.N.S.W.E.R. is an acronym for Act Now to Stop War and End Racism (p. 15). 
Ms. Sloane was not subjected to cross-examination. Attorney Hilliard then summed up IA's 
defense by stating there was no proof that IA "directed or put up these signs themselves (p. 16)." 
She argued further that the regulation is unconstitutional because it violates the First and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. She argued that the regulation suppresses 
political dissent, favors some political speech over others, i.e., political campaign signs are 
permitted but signs containing political speech unrelated to campaigns are not perrnined, and 
deprives appellant of due process of law. 

I 

Examiner Washington then asked Ms. Hilliard when the signs were posted (in order to determine 
whether the 60-day time limit in 24 DCMR 5 108.5 was complied with); and whether IA had 
submitted two copies of the signs to the public space permit office (as required by 24 DCMR 5 
108.1 1). Mr. Messineo responded that IA did not admit it posted the signs cited and therefore 
had no responsibility to submit the signs for review (p.22-23). IA's counsel also argued that the 
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Notices of Infraction were invalid because they only cited 24 DCMR 5 108.1 and did not refer to 
any sub-sections, such as 4, 5 ,7  and 11, as rules that had to be followed (p.26). 

That same day, June 10,2002, Examiner Washington issued a written decision holding IA liable 
for the three infractions and assessed a $35.00 fine for each. Hearing Examiner Washington 
reviewed the record and concluded: "Respondent had reasonable knowledge that some of the 
volunteers would post the signs in the public space and should have taken the necessary steps to 
ensure that copies of the signs were filed with the appropriate office." She determined the 
penalties should be assessed at $35.00 per violation. An appeal was filed on June 25,2002, 

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE 

Appellant was found liable for violating 24 DCMR 5 108.1. It is clear from the facts in the 
record that appellant violated 24 DCMR 5 108.1,4,7 and 1 1. There was no evidence to support 
a violation of 24 DCMR 5 108.5, i.e., that the signs in evidence were in place longer than sixty 
(60) days. To sustain these findings, there must be evidence in the record that 1A was 
responsible for producing and distributing the signs, that the signs did not c0ntai.n the date they 
were affixed and that IA had a legal obligation to comply with subparagraph 11. We find there 
is substantial evidence in the record as required by 1 DCMR 5 5 10.14 (e) of our regulations and 
affirm the decision. 

It is obvious from the testimony of Ms. Sloane, the statements of counsel and the record as a 
whole, that the signs in evidence were produced by IA, were provided to unidentified persons 
and were intended for public display. IA cannot escape responsibility for the illegal posting of 
signs by stating they were placed by unidentified persons when it admits those persons received 
the signs from IA for that purpose. Whether the signs in evidence were posted by IA staff or by 
volunteers, those who placed the signs did so with the implied authority of IA. "Implied 
authority is actual authority inferred from the circumstances, such as the relationship between the 
parties and conduct of the principal toward the agent manifesting the principal's consent to have 
the agent act for hm." Lewis v. Washington Metropolitan Transit Authority, 463 A.2d 666,669 
(D.C. 1983). The record is sufficient to hold IA responsible for exhibiting the signs in violation 
of 24 DCMR 5 108.1 et seq. LA'S denial of responsibility to file copies of the signs with the 
Mayor's agent based on its not knowing who posted the signs is disingenuous. 

We turn next to LA'S claim that the infraction notices were defective because the respondent was 
insufficiently informed of the content of the regulation. It is the responsibility of a recipient of a 
violation notice to make reasonable inquiries of the substance of the legal obligation entailed. A 
violation notice is sufficient if it provides reasonable notice of the scope of the offense. Russell 
v. District of Columbia Board of Zoning Adiustment, App D.C., 402 A.2d 123 1 (1979); Revithes 
v. District of Columbia Rental Housing Commission, App. D.C., 536 A.2d 1007 (1987). We 
believe the language of 24 DCMR 3 108.1 - "except as provided in accordance with this section" 
- provides reasonable notice that the remaining portions of the regulation must be examined. 
Appellant, represented by counsel, knew or should have known of its obligations to satisfy the 
law's requirements. 

The facts are sufficikntly detailed so that the basic underlying reasons for the conclusions may be 
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inferred. Daro Realty, Inc. v. District of Columbia Zoning Commission, 581 A.2d 295 (1990). 
,There is a presumption of correctness of an agency's decision, and the burden of demonstrating 
error is upon the party appealing therefrom. Cooper v. Department of Employment Services, 
588 A. 2d 1172, 1174 (D.C. 1991). The Board's task is limited to determining whether the 
findings and conclusions in Hearing Examiner Washington's decision are supported by 
substantial evidence and are in accordance with the law. King v. Department of Employment 
Services, 560 A. 2d 1067 (D.C. ,1989). We find that IA has not met its burden of proof. 

CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE 

The Board of Appeals and Review is authorized to consider issues of constitutionality by 1 
DCMR 5 5 10.14 (b). We may not, however, refuse to enforce any statute, rule or regulation of 
the United States or of the District of Columbia on the ground that it is repugnant to the 
Constitution of the United States, 1 DCMR 5 512.9, Archer v. District of Columbia Department 
of Human Resources, 375 A.2d 523 (1977). 

On August 14,2003, DPW filed a Motion to Dismiss the portion of the appeal containing the 
constitutional challenge. Appellant filed a lengthy opposition. We conclude this issue in the 
case should be left for consideration by the District of Columbia Court of Appeals if appellant so 
choose to file an appeal there. The record in this case to date is insufficient for the Board to 
undertake a constitutional review. 

THEREFORE, this day of March 2004, the appeal is DENIED. 

&,A~W - 
David H. Marlin, Board chair 
Mike Meier, Legal Member 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
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JAMES BUBAR 
Appellants 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
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) 

1 
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) Docket No. 02-5892-LC 
1 
) 
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DECISION AND ORDER 

This matter is an appeal from an order of the 

Department of Motor Vehicles Adjudication Services on 

behalf of the Department of Public Works ("DPW"), upholding 

a ~otice of Violation and fine issued to appellant. The 

Notice of Violation ("NOV"), No. 210656-1, which was based 

on an April 30, 2002 observation by DPW Inspector Matthew 

Ketcha Gana, charged appellant with "improper site 

protection." The NOV cited 24 DCMR 5 3403.5 and "Red Book 

107.07, page 1 1 8 . "  

The "ticket writer's notes" signed by Inspector Gana 

explain that the Inspector observed in front of 3206 

Tennyson Street, N.W. a sidewalk area that had been 

excavated and left open. The notes state that the 

"Location was improperly protected whereby" it was "unsafe 

to the residents." A photograph attached to the ticket 

DC: 1256427-1 
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writer's notes shows an excavated driveway, including an 

excava ted  sidewalk area; and two cones, one of which is on 

the excavated sidewalk area and the other of which is on an 

adjacent, non-public-space portion of the excavated 

driveway. 

DMVAS Hearing Examiner Pamela Washington conducted a 

hearing on July 31, 2002. The Hearing Record states that 

Inspector Gana inspected the area in question in response 

to a complaint and found that "someone walking in the area 

could trip" and that "the area should have been covered so 

that people would have been able to cross without having to 

go into the roadway." Inspector Gana testified that 

appellant could have protected the area "by putting a 

yellow tape, or putting at least four cones; closed it; 

make sure that at least somebody should  see that this area 

you can't go through, Or you could have put the plywood, 

so that people can walk through." Hearing Transcript at 

29-30. As stated in the Hearing Record, appellant 

testified that the work was completed without injuries and 

that this was a "first offense" not preceded by any 

warning. 

Hearing Examiner Washington noted in her decision t h a t  

24 DCMR 5 3403 .5  requires all work in the public space to 

be "performed in accordance with t h e  District of Columbia  



Department of Public Works Standard Specifications for 

Highways and Structures." These Standard Specifications 

are referred to as the "Red Book." Hearing Transcript at 

6. The Hearing Examiner found that appellant failed to 

comply with the law, reasoning that, "The two cones were 

places [sic] in the center of the driveway and not in such 

a manner as to provide notice and safety to the public. 

The placement of the cones is more to prohibit one from 

using the driveway and not to give notice of the excavation 

in the sidewalk area." The Hearing Examiner found 

appellant liable for the assessed fine of $500. 

Appellant submitted his opening brief to the Board 

with his Notice of Appeal and submitted an additional brief 

after having had an opportunity to review the transcript of 

the hearing and a copy of the photograph that accompanied 

the ticket writer's notes. Despite the Board's order of 

February 11, 2004 requiring both parties to submit any 

further briefs by February 27, 2004, DPW did not submit a 

brief. 

The Board may reverse the Hearing Examiner's decision 

only if it is arbitrary or capricious, contrary to law, or 

"unsupported by substantial evidence in the record." 1 

DCMR § 510.14. The issue presented in this appeal is 

whether the Hearing Examiner's finding that the cones 
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provided insufficient notice and protection to the public 

is supported by substantial evidence in the record. 

Substantial evidence "means more than a mere scintilla and 

such that reasonable minds might accept it as adequate to 

support a conclusion" Office of the People's Counsel  v. 

Public Service Commission, 797 A. 2d 719, 725-26 (D.C. 

2002). The substantial evidence test is satisfied so long 

as the decision-maker "fully and clearly explains its- 

decision and demonstrates 'a rational connection between 

facts found and the choice made.'" Id. at 726. A 

decision-maker's rationale is entitled to special respect 

where the subject matter is complex and esoteric. Id. 

Having reviewed the photographic evidence, the 

Standard Specifications for Highways and Structures, and 

the arguments presented in appellant's brief, the Board 

finds as follows. 

As noted, 24 DCMR § 3403.5 requires all work in the 

public space to be "performed in accordance with the 

District of Columbia Department of Public Works Standard 

Specifications for Highways and Structures. As quoted in 

the Hearing Transcript (p. 28-29), section 107.07 of the 

"Red Book" Standard Specifications states that 
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The contractor shall provide, erect, 
maintain all necessary barricades, 
suitable and sufficient lights, danger 
signals, signs and other traffic 
control devices, and take all necessary 
precautions for the protection of the 
work and the safety of the public. 

The-Hearing Examiner reasoned that the cones that had been 

placed in the excavated area were to prevent use of the 

driveway and were not sufficient "to give notice of the 

excavation in the sidewalk area." She also found that the 

cones were placed "in the center of the driveway and not in 

such a manner as to provide notice and safety to the 

public. " 

The Board finds that the Hearing Examiner's decision 

is not supported by substantial evidence in the record and 

1 must be reversed. It appears that, as a matter of law, 

traffic cones are one means of signaling the existence of 

an excavated area and potentially hazardous condition. See 

Bostic, 748 A. 2d at 426 (referring to the "absence of 

safety cones and signs or other warnings of a hazardous 

condition" on a pedestrian walkway). Moreover, as 

appellant's brief notes, the Manual on Uniform Traffic 

'we find that, because the facts of this case pertain to 
matters "within the realm of common knowledge and everyday 
experience," see Bostic v. Henkels and McCoy, Inc., 748 A. 
2d 421, 425 (D.C. 2000), the Hearing Examiner's findings 
are not entitled to heightened respect. 
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Control Devices for Streets and Highways cited in the Red 

Book appears to recognize traffic cones as devices that can 

be used to signal "pavement drop offs." Furthermore, no 

evidence was presented about (and the Hearing Examiner gave 

no consideration to) factors such as the depth of the 

excavation, the weather conditions, or the degree of danger 

inherent in pedestrians walking through the excavated area 

rather than being diverted to the street or being required 

to walk on plywood (alternatives that the DPW inspector 

suggested but that present their own hazards, see Bostic, 

748 A. 2d 421 (involving a claim for injury caused when 

plaintiff walked over plywood boards covering trench 

excavations in a sidewalk area)). 

In addition, the photographic evidence shows that one 

traffic cone was actually in the sidewalk area, not merely 

in the center of the driveway, as the Hearing Examiner 

found. From the photograph, it appears to the Board that 

the excavation was not deep; that walking through the 

excavated area would not pose any obvious hazard to a 

pedestrian who was on notice of the excavation; and that 

the placement of the cone in the sidewalk area would have 

been sufficient to provide notice of a special condition 

warranting caution. DPW provided no explanation as to why, 

in an area of the size depicted, it was necessary to have 
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four cones rather than one f o r  the safety of the public. 

At the very least, the Board finds, the Hearing Examiner 

was not presented with evidence that was sufficient for her 

choose Inspector Ganars explanation over appellant's. The 

substantial evidence test is not met where, as here, the 

evidence did not afford the hearing examiner a reasonable 

basis for choosing among competing explanations. See C l a r k  

v. D . C .  Dep't of Employment Services, 743 A. 2d 722, 730 

(D.C. 2000). 

WHEREFORE it is ORDERED this 10th day of March,, 2004, 

tha,t the DMVAS decision is REVERSED. 

Phyllis D. Thompson, Legal Member 
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GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
BOARD OF APPEALS AND REVIEW 

In the Matter of 
J.C. & Associates 

1 
) 
) BAR Docket No: 98-5356-BP 
1 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

On September 10, 1998, the Building, and Land Regulation Administration (hereinafter 
"BLRA") of the Department of Consumer and Regulatory A£Fairs (hereinafter "DCRA") notified, 
appellant, J.C. & Associates that their application for a partial raze of a building at 1429 Rhode 
Island Avenue, N.W. (hereinafter "1429") had been denied Title 12 District of Columbia 
~unicipal Regulation (hereinafter "DCMR"), Section 112.1. The Land Regulation Administration 
concluded that the application failed to demonstrate the existence of an "imminently dangerous" 
emergency structu~al conditions present on site which could justtfy waiving compliance with 
Section 5.1004 (Historic Landmark and Historic District Protection Act) since the site was 
designated a historical structure undei said Act. 

A hearing on the matter began January 10, 1999 and at the request of Assistant 
Corporation Counsel and with concurrence of Appellant's Counsel, the hearing was continued 
until January 15, 1999. The Hearing Committee of the Board of Appeals and Review (hereinatier 
"BAR") consisted of Patricia Randolph Williams, Legal Member, Curtis A. Boykin, Public 
Member and Angel Luis Irene, District Member. Philip M Musolino, Esquire represented 
Appellant; Attorney Mema Gowda, Assistant Corporation Counsel represented the Government. 
Presenting testimony were George Milne, Chespapeake Design, and agent for J.C. & Associates; 
Ronald Steele, Steele Foundations, Inc.; Mr. Armando M. Lourenco, Administrator, DCRA 
Building and Land Regulation Adminsitration and Ahmet Ozusta, Chief Structural Engineer, 
DCRA Building and Land Regulation Administration. 

I FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. On May 1 1, 1998, a Construction Inspection Violation Notice was issued for 1427 and 
1429 Rhode Island Ave. NW. The BLRA inspector, Stanley Waite, found that the structures were 
" in imminent danger of falling . . . [and a] permit to raze the building [must be obtained]". 
(PlaintiffExhibit (PI. Ex. 3). 

2. The 1429 property had been damaged by fire in 1997. (Tr. p. 65; PI. Ex. 6; Def. Ex. 3). 
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3. Appellant J.C. & Associates through agent George Milne, filed an application for a 
construction permit to partially raze 1429 Rhode Island, Ave. NW on July 24, 1998. (PI. Ex. 6). 

4. On September 10, 1998, Armando M. Lourenco, Administrator, DCRA Building and 
Land Regulation Adminsitration, denied the July 24th application citing that the application failed 
"to demonstrate the existence of an "imminently dangerous" emergency structural conditions 
present on site which would just* waiving compliance with Section 5.1004 (Historic Landmark 
and Historic District Protection Act)". (PI. Ex. 10). 

5 .  Mr. Lucerne's denial of appellant's application was based on his own personal inspection 
of the property, the recommendations of his Chief Structural Engineer, Ahrnet Ozusta and a letter 
fkom Jefiey Overmiller (Tr. pp. 203-207). 

6.  In an August 3, 1998 memorandum from Ahrnet Ozusta, Chief Structural Engineer, 
BLRA, to Mr. Lourenco, Mr. Ozusta provided his recommendations and findings on 1429 after a 
field visit conducted July 24, 1998. Mr. Ozusta's memorandum concluded that " in spite of all 
damaging factors listed . . . the building could be saved provided the following repairs and 
structural reinforcements are done ...." @ef. Ex. 3). 

7. Upon inspection of 1429, Mr. Ozusta found that the structure was not "imminently 
dangerous" and could be preserved with proper repair which might entailing shoring. (Tr. Pp+ 
128-132, 142). 

8. Mr. Ozusta found no si@cant deterioration of 1429 from his visit in July 1998 until a 
subsequent visit in October 1998. (Tr. pp. 132-136). 

9. Mr. Ozusta testified that in preparing his recommendations for the proper repair of 1429, 
he considered that repairs should be done in timely manner to ward against the structure's further 
deterioration due to pending inclement weather. (Tr. pp. 142- 143, 19 1 - 196). 

10. Jeftjrey Overmiller, Structural Design Group, Limited, sent a letter to George Milne and 
provided a copy of the letter to BLRA which stated that since the structure (1429) was historic it 
could not be razed completely. He writes "the front portion of the structure may be stable", . . . 
''the fiont portion of the building could be s t a b i i d  safely from the exterior", . . . "the rear wall . . . 
likely could also be safely shored". (Pl. Ex. 7; Tr. p. 206). 

11. There was discussion whether Chief of Buildings, Vincent Ford (Stanley Waite's 
supervisor), had inspected 1429, concurred with Inspector Stanley Waite's assessment that the 
structure was in imminent danger of falling down and advised Mr. Lourenco of these findiigs. (Pl. 
Ex. 3). Mr. Milne testSed that he had spoken with Mr. Ford and Mr. Ford had advised him that 
he (Mr. Ford) would sign-off on the permit to take 1429 down to a safe level. (Tr. p. 72). 
However, Mr. Milne could not vet-@ whether Mr. Ford signed-off on such a permit or advised 
BLRA that 1429 should be partially razed. (Tr. pp. 73-75). In further discussion on this issue, Mr. 
Lourenco testified that Vincent Ford, did not agree with Inspector Waite's characterization of 
1429 as being an imminent danger. (Tr. pp. 239-240). 



12. Mr. Lourenco testified that he had visited 1429 as late as January 12, 1999, took pictures 
of the structure and would still find that the structure did not pose an imminent danger of falling. 
(Tr. pp. 209-21 1). 

13. During the time period in which Mr, Lourenco issued the September 10th denial letter, a 
September 23, 1998 public hearing was pending before the Mayor's Agent to hear testimony 
concerning an application for the full raze of the 1429 premises, filed with an application to raze 
an abutting structure at 1427 Rhode Islhd Ave., NW. (PI. Ex. 10). The Historic Landmark and 
Historic District Preservation Act of 1978, D.C. Law 2-144, codified at D.C. Code sections 
5-1001 et seq., prohibits the demolition of historically designated property without the approval 
of the Mayor's Agent. 

14. By letter dated September 18, 1998, counsel for J.C. & Associates notified the Historic 
Preservation Board that they would withdraw their application for review by the Mayor's Agent 
and had proceeded to pursue other available remedies under D.C. Code 5-60 1. (Def Ex 3; PI. 
Ex. 13 a, Civil Action No. 98-7796, Calendar #7, Judge Hedge). 

15. The case was then moved to Superior Court for hdings on the appropriate administrative 
and injunctive relief available to plaints. The District of Columbia conceded that the Government 
would not object to the jurisdiction of the BAR to review l i i ted  and narrow issues in this case. 
(Tr. p. 23; PI. Ex, J. 

1. The BAR'S jurisdiction is limited to assessing whether the Government's determination 
was either arbitrary or capricious or clearly erroneous based on the facts. 

2. It is within the authority of BLRA to waive compliance with the Historic Preservation Act 
and condenm a historic building if under exigent circumstances that building is imminently 
dangerous as codified under D.C. Code 5-601. 

3. It is also within the authority of BLRA to properly determine what structural conditions 
meet the requisite requirements of an "imminently dangerous" emergency structural conditions 
present which would justify waiving compliance with Section 5.1004 (Historic Landmark and 
Historic District Protection Act). 

4. BLRA, through independent review and consideration by the Administrator, and upon 
reliance on the recommendation and conclusion of staff and outside sources made an objective 
determination that an imminent danger did and does not exist at 1429 Rhode Island Ave., NW. 
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5. Upon consideration of the evidence, the BAR concludes that BLRA did not act arbitrarily 
or capriciously nor did they render an erroneous decision. BLRA's decision was made based upon 
the hcts as deemed appropriate, reasonable and reliable by the Agency. BLRA met its burden in 
rendering its denial of a permit to partially raze 1429 Rhode ~slanci Ave. N.W. under D.C. Code 
5-60 1.  

ORDER 

THEREFORE, it is ORDERED, this thirtieth day of January, 1999, that the decision of 
the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs Building Land Regulation Administration be 
and is hereby upheld. 

Patricia Randolph Williqns , Esquire 
Hearing Cotrimittee Chairperson 

January 30, 1999 
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